
 

 

15 November 2018 

At 6.00 pm 

 

Central Sydney Planning Committee 
 



 

 

 
 



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 

  

Agenda 
  

 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   Confirmation of Minutes 

3.   Matters Arising from the Minutes 

4.   Development Application: 378-394 George Street, Sydney 

5.   Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney - Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment 
and Planning Agreement 

 



 

 



 

 

 

Guidelines for Speakers 
at the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee 

 

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to 
speak directly to Members of the Central Sydney Planning Committee (the CSPC) 
about items on a meeting agenda. 

To enable the CSPC to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited 
time available, we encourage people interested in speaking at meetings to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Council’s Secretariat on 9265 9190 before 12.00 
noon on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the agenda report before speaking, as it may 
address your concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the 
recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker and prepare your 
presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and 
information that the CSPC may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to 
nominate three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how 
many people they are representing. 

6. Before speaking, turn on the microphone by pressing the button next to it and 
speak clearly so that everyone in the Council Chamber can hear. 

7. Be prepared to quickly return to the microphone and respond briefly to any 
questions from CSPC members, after all speakers on an item have made their 
presentations. 

At the start of each CSPC meeting, the Chair may re-order agenda items so that 
those items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

CSPC reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au, with printed copies 
available at Sydney Town Hall immediately prior to the meeting. Council staff are 
also available prior to the meeting to assist. 

January 2011 



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Disclosures of Interest 

(a) Section 451 of the Local Government Act 1993 

Pursuant to the provisions of section 451 of the Local Government Act 1993, Members of the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee are required to disclose pecuniary interests in any 
matter on the agenda for this meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee. 

Members are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee in accordance with the 
relevant clauses of the Code of Conduct – February 2016. 

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

(b) Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political 
Donations) Act 2008 

The Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008 
(“the Act”) requires the disclosure of relevant political donations or gifts when planning or 
development applications are made to minimise any perception of undue influence. The 
amendments to the Act require disclosure to the Electoral Funding Authority of: 

 a reportable political donation as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures 
Act 1981 (a donation of $1000 or more made to or for the benefit of the party, elected 
member, group or candidate or made by a major political donor to or for the benefit of 
a party, elected member, group or candidate, or made to the major political donor), or  

 a gift (as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures Act 1981) to any local 
councillor or council employee (and includes a disposition of property or a gift of 
money or the provision of other valuable or service for no consideration or for 
inadequate consideration) when a relevant planning application is made to a council.  

A donation of less than $1000 can be a reportable political donation if the aggregated total of 
such donations was made by an entity or person to the same party, elected member, group 
or candidate or person. 

1

Item 1.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

Confirmation of Minutes 

Minutes of the following meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee are submitted 
for confirmation: 

Meeting of 18 October 2018 

1

Item 2.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

Matters arising from the Minutes 

Matters arising from the minutes of the Central Sydney Planning Committee of 18 October 
2018. 

1

Item 3.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Development Application: 378-394 George Street, Sydney 

File No.: D/2018/405 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 20 April 2018, amended plans submitted 23 August 2018, 
26 September 2018 and 8 October 2018 

Applicant: IOF Custodian Pty Ltd and Brookfield 388 Landowner Pty 
Ltd 

Architect: FJMT 

Developer: IOF Custodian Pty Ltd and Brookfield 388 Landowner Pty 
Ltd 

Owner: IOF Custodian Pty Ltd and Brookfield 388 Landowner Pty 
Ltd 

Cost of Works: $53,923,846 

Zoning: B8 Metropolitan Centre Zone, proposal is permissible with 
consent 

Proposal Summary: The application proposes partial demolition, alterations and 
additions to an existing retail/commercial podium and lower 
levels of the tower, and construction of a new 5 storey 
podium building comprising retail and commercial 
tenancies, a rooftop terrace and lift access to the 
basement. The proposal also includes a new covered 
through site link between George Street and King Street. 

The proposal provides additional bicycle parking storage 
for 258 bicycles in the Basement 1, Ground Floor and 
Level 1. End of journey facilities with an area of 419sqm 
are provided on Level 1.  

  

1

Item 4.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Proposal Summary: 

(continued) 

A total of 5 car parking spaces will be removed from 
Basement Level 1 and 2 to accommodate a new lift core 
and services for the new podium building.  The proposal 
will provide a total of 75 car parking spaces which exceeds 
the maximum car parking rate of 57 car spaces under Part 
7 of SLEP 2012. In this instance, the proposed car parking 
is considered acceptable as the net number of car parking 
spaces is reduced and alternative transport options are 
provided. 

 The site has a maximum building height control of 130m. 
The existing tower has a building height of 118m which will 
be maintained. 

 The new 5 storey podium building is consistent with the 
maximum building height control. However, to improve the 
relationship of the podium with the existing tower and 
street wall heights of surrounding developments, the 
proposal was amended to reduce the height of the podium 
from RL 44.574 to RL 44.090. 

A request has been submitted pursuant to Clause 4.6 of 
SLEP 2012 to vary the floor space ratio (FSR) 
development standard. The maximum permitted FSR, 
inclusive of applicable additional floor space, is 12.65:1. 
The site is also subject to  a maximum FSR of 13.4:1 
under a Restrictive Covenant on Title approved under 
Development Consent Z96/00139.  

 The existing tower has a FSR of 12.7:1 and exceeds the 
FSR development standard. The proposed FSR of 13.2:1 
results in a further breach of the FSR control under SLEP 
2012. The additional FSR sought is predominantly 
contained within the new 5 storey podium building which is 
aligned to the street, will contribute to the supply of high 
quality retail and commercial spaces in Central Sydney, 
and improves street activation and pedestrian amenity.  
The request to vary the FSR development standard under 
clause 4.6 is supported in this case.  

 The applicant has requested that the consent authority find 
that the requirement for a site specific Development 
Control Plan (DCP) under Clause 7.20 of SLEP is 
unreasonable or unnecessary in this instance. The 
applicant submits that the preparation of a site specific 
DCP is unreasonable and unnecessary given the scope of 
the proposal being limited to alterations to the lower levels 
of the existing tower and a new 5 storey podium building 
that responds to the original design objective for 
commercial tower to provide street activation and 
pedestrian amenity. 

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Proposal Summary: 

(continued) 

An informal design options process was voluntarily 
undertaken by the applicant to identify site constraints and 
resolve design issues prior to the lodgement of the 
development application. The proposal (as amended) 
exhibits design excellence as it will have a positive 
contribution to the public domain, will not have any 
adverse environmental impacts and will not adversely 
affect the significance of adjacent heritage items.  

 In these circumstances, the requirements for a site specific 
DCP and competitive design process are considered 
unreasonable and unnecessary. The two requests for 
waivers sought by the applicant are recommended to be 
supported by the consent authority.   

The application was advertised and notified for a period of 
28 days (2 May 2018 to 31 May 2018) with 9 submissions 
received from surrounding property owners. The amended 
plans were not required to be notified as no additional 
environmental impacts resulted from the amendments. 

 Six submissions are pro-forma submissions and 3 are 
unique submissions. Issues raised include excessive floor 
space ratio, bulk and scale of the new podium building, 
impact on heritage items and the streetscape, impacts on 
public domain and pedestrian traffic, failure to demonstrate 
design excellence, construction impacts on adjoining 
occupants. The issues raised have been considered in the 
assessment of the application and where appropriate 
conditions seek to address the issues. 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls:  Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney 
Harbour Catchment) 2005 

 Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012  

 Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

Attachments: 

 

A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B1. Selected Drawings 

B2. Selected Drawings 

C. Clause 4.6 Variation 

  

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the requirement of Section 51N of the City of Sydney Act 1988 to consult with the 
Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee not apply in this instance as the 
proposal does not require, or that might reasonably be expected to require, the 
carrying out of road works or traffic control works that are likely to have a significant 
impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney CBD;  

(B) the written request to vary the floor space ratio requirements under cl 4.4 of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 in accordance with Clause 4.6 'Exceptions to 
development standards' of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 be upheld; 

(C) the requirement under Clause 6.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
requiring a competitive design process is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 
circumstances;  

(D) the requirement under Clause 7.20 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
requiring the preparation of a development control plan is unreasonable or 
unnecessary in the circumstances; and 

(E) consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/405, subject to the 
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The development is consistent with the objectives and controls for the site under the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for reasons set out within the report. 

(B) The requested variation to the floor space ratio is upheld because the consent 
authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request has adequately addressed the 
matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012 and the proposed development would be in the public interest because it is 
consistent with the objectives of floor space ratio and the B8 Metropolitan Centre zone. 

(C) The proposal, subject to conditions, will not adversely impact upon the amenity of the 
neighbouring properties or the significance of heritage items adjacent to the site. 

(D) The proposal, subject to conditions, will enhance pedestrian amenity and the public 
domain and is in the public interest. 

  

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 30 May and 16 October 2018. 

2. The site is located on the north-eastern corner of the intersection of George Street and 
King Street. The site is irregular, with an area approximately 3,353sqm. It has a 
primary street frontage measuring 65m to George Street and 50m to King Street.  

3. The site currently contains a 30 storey commercial building designed by John Andrews 
and was constructed in 1972. The building comprises a forecourt, podium, lower 
ground level, 2 levels of basement car parking accessed via vehicular ramps on King 
Street and commercial offices in the tower.  

4. Surrounding land uses are predominantly commercial comprising offices and retail, 
including the GPO to the north, 173-179 Pitt Street to the east, 396 George Street and 
Sydney Arcade (400 George Street) to the south. To the west of the site is the Sydney 
Light Rail which is currently under construction and 365 George Street (also known as 
the ES & A Bank Building).  

5. The site is not a heritage item and is not located in a conservation area. The site is not 
located in a special character area but is adjacent to the Martin Place Special 
Character Area to the north, Pitt Street Mall Special Character Area to the east and the 
York Street Special Character Area including Clarence Street and Kent Street to the 
west. 

6. Plans of the proposed development are provided in Attachment B. Selected drawings 
and plans of the development are provided below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

Site 

N 

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 2: View of site looking north on George Street 

 

Figure 3: View of podium and forecourt from George Street (looking south)  

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 4: Forecourt and lobby of existing commercial tower viewed from George Street 

 

Figure 5: Looking east at the intersection of George Street and King Street 

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 6: Existing developments to the west on George Street 

 

Figure 7: Looking west along King Street (view of existing southern elevation of podium) 

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 8: Looking south along George Street 

  

Figure 9: View north along George Street  

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 10:  Existing lobby entrance 

Proposal 

7. The application seeks consent for the partial demolition of the lower levels of the 
existing commercial building for refurbishment of the commercial lobby and retail 
shopfronts along George Street and King Street, and construction of a new 5 storey 
podium building. The proposal also includes alterations to the basement levels 
including removal of 5 car parking spaces, a new lift core, new bicycle storage for 258 
bicycles with end of journey facilities on Level 1 and a covered through site link 
between George Street and King Street.    

8. The works proposed to the existing commercial tower consists of: 

(a) Basement Level 2 

 Removal of 3 car parking spaces for the construction of a new lift core for 
the new podium building. 

(b) Basement Level 1 

 Removal of 2 car parking spaces for the construction of a new lift core for 
the new podium building. 

 Relocate 1 car parking space to accommodate new bike storage area. 

 258 bike spaces provided in new bicycle storage areas.  

 Installation of new cold water pump and value room. 

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(c) Lower Ground 

 Demolish existing escalator and store room to refurbish retail area and 
provide lift access to Level 1. 

 New switch room.  

 New loading dock to the south adjacent to existing vehicular access.  

(d) Ground Floor 

 Refurbish and reconfigure existing retail tenancies fronting George Street 
including lowering floor level to improve pedestrian access. 

 New kitchen exhaust to rear of northern retail tenancy. 

 Refurbish and reconfigure retail tenancy fronting King Street. 

 Realign commercial lobby to George Street.  

 Relocate escalators to lower ground floor to north-east of new podium 
building. 

 New 56sqm retail tenancy fronting through site link. 

 New awning fronting George Street. 

 Provide lift access from Basement 1 to Level 1 end of journey facilities.  

 New services and storage areas. 

9. The proposed works to the new 5 storey podium building consists of: 

(a) Ground floor 

 362sqm retail tenancy. 

 Lobby to podium building fronting through site link. 

 Lift access, fire stairs and services.  

 Through site link with canopy between George Street and King Street. 

 Wrap around awning from George Street to King Street.  

(b) Mezzanine 

 Void to ground floor retail tenancy. 

  

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(c) Level 1 

 364sqm retail tenancy. 

 486sqm commercial tenancy. 

 419sqm end of journey facilities comprising 4 bike storage, 275 lockers, 19 
showers and amenities. 

 lift access, fire stairs and services.  

(d) Levels 2 to 4 

 377sqm commercial tenancy. 

 lift access, fire stairs and services.  

(e) Level 5 

 88sqm retail tenancy. 

 233sqm roof terrace. 

 lift access, fire stairs and services.  

10. The amended proposal simplifies the fenestration of the podium building and replaces 
sandstone louvres with Glassfibre Reinforced Concrete (GRC) facade cladding, GRC 
spandrel and clear low iron glass.  

11. Plans of the proposed development are provided below. 

 

Figure 11:  Photomontage looking at north-east at the intersection of George Street and King Street 

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 12:  Photomontage looking east on George Street 

 

Figure 13:  Photomontage from intersection of George Street and King Street 

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 14: Section of through site link 

 

Figure 15: Lower ground floor plan 

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 16: Ground floor plan (through site link in yellow) 

 

Figure 17: Level 1 floor plan 

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 18: Level 5 floor plan 

 

Figure 19: East-west section 

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 20: East-west section through lower levels of commercial tower 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

12. On 10 May 1971, development consent was granted for the erection of a new 
commercial tower with basement parking. The commercial tower designed by John 
Andrews was constructed and was formerly known as the King George Tower. As part 
of the development consent, additional floor space of 1.66:1 (5,592sqm) was granted 
for the site for the provision of a pedestrian tunnel and pedestrian circulation within the 
basement in association with a planned pedestrian network under King Street. A total 
FSR of 13.6:1 was approved for the site.  

13. On 20 April 1977, development consent (B/1977/219) was granted for alterations to 
the forecourt area of the site.  

14. On 15 October 1996, development consent (Z96/00139) was granted for alterations, 
additions and refurbishment of the commercial tower including additional floor space, 
external alterations to the tower and a paved public forecourt. The FSR of the existing 
building was recalculated at 13.4:1 including the lower ground level retail space. At the 
time of assessment the definition for FSR under the draft LEP 1996 excluded 
basement level retail. As the draft LEP was required to be considered, and the 
proposed was predominantly for refurbishment of the existing commercial tower, a 
condition was imposed to require a Restrictive Covenant on Title relating to a 
maximum FSR of 13.4:1 for the site.  

15. Various development consents have been granted for fit out and use of retail and 
commercial tenancies within the site. The approved retail and commercial uses are 
consistent with the historic use of the site for commercial purposes.  

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

16. Prior to the lodgement of the subject applicant, the co-owners of the site undertook an 
informal design options process for a new podium building at the intersection of 
George Street and King Street. Three designers were engaged to prepare concept 
designs as part of the process. The outcomes of the design options process was 
referred to the City's Design Advisory Panel (DAP) at its meeting on 8 June 2017. The 
panel noted that the podium building at the south-western corner of the site fronting 
the intersection of George Street and King Street could be supported subject to 
detailed design addressing appropriate scale to the tower and context, pedestrian 
congestion, façade treatment to address environmental conditions. 

17. The proposed development has been referred to DAP for comment during the 
development application assessment process. The recommendations given by DAP 
were provided to the applicant who subsequently amended the proposal to address 
design issues relating to architectural language, materiality, pedestrian amenity and 
streetscape impacts. The recommendations provided by DAP are discussed further in 
the report below.  

18. On 29 June 2018, Council officers issued a written request for design amendments to 
the proposal and submission of additional information relating to waste management, 
car and bicycle parking and loading/services. 

City of Sydney Act 1988 

19. Section 51N requires the Central Sydney Planning Committee (the Planning 
Committee) to consult with the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee 
(CSTTC) before it determines a DA that will require, or that might reasonably be 
expected to require, the carrying out of road works or traffic control works likely to have 
a significant impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney CBD. A full extract of this 
Section is provided below. 

"51N Planning proposals having a significant impact on traffic and 
transport in the Sydney CBD 

(a) The Planning Committee must consult the CSTTC before it exercises 
a function under Part 4 that will result in the making of a decision that 
will require, or that might reasonably be expected to require, the 
carrying out of road works or traffic control works that are likely to 
have a significant impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney CBD. 

(b) The Planning Committee must take into consideration any 
representations made by the CSTTC within the period of 21 days (or 
such other period as is agreed to by the CSTTC and the Planning 
Committee in a particular case) after consultation takes place. 

(c) The Planning Committee may delegate to a subcommittee of the 
Planning Committee, or the general manager or another member of 
the staff of the City Council, any of its functions under this section 
other than this power of delegation. A delegation can be given 
subject conditions. A delegation does not (despite section 38) require 
the approval of the Minister administering that section. 

(d) The failure of the Planning Committee to comply with this section 
does not invalidate or otherwise affect any decision made by the 
Planning Committee." 

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

20. Having liaised with the City's Access Unit, in this instance, the proposal is not 
considered to have a significant impact on traffic and transport in the CBD, and 
consultation with the CSTTC is not necessary for the following reasons: 

(a) The proposed development does not change the existing use of the site and 
does not increase car parking spaces for the site. The proposal seeks to reduce 
the number of car parking by 5 spaces to a total of 75 spaces.  

(b) Vehicular access to car parking and loading areas in the basement levels of the 
existing building. 

(c) The proposal was referred to Transport for NSW who raised no objection to the 
development, noting its proximity to the Sydney Light Rail along George Street. 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

21. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP) 

22. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

23. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban 
run-off; and 

(d) protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

24. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the 
deemed SEPP. 

Sydney LEP 2012 

25. The site is located within the B8 Metropolitan Centre zone. The proposed use is 
defined as commercial and is permissible.  

26. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 130m is permitted. 

The existing tower is 30 storeys with a 
height of 118m. 

The podium building proposes a height 
of 27.24m.  

No change is proposed to the height of 
the existing tower.  

4.4 Floor Space Ratio No A maximum base FSR of 8:1 is 
permitted. 

Additional floor space is permissible 
under Clauses 6.4, 6.5 and 6.6 of the 
LEP with a maximum total FSR of 
12.65:1.  

The existing building has an FSR of 
12.7:1. 

A FSR of 13.2:1 (additional gross floor 
area of 1,674m²) is proposed.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

4.6 Exceptions to development 
standards 

Yes The proposal seeks to vary the 
development standard for FSR 
prescribed under Clause 4.4 with a 
maximum FSR of 12.65:1.  

The applicant has submitted a written 
justification seeking exception to the 
FSR development standard. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

  

20



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Additional floor 
space in Central Sydney 

Yes See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

Division 4 Design excellence Yes The proposed development (as 
amended) satisfies the requirements of 
this provision and exhibits design 
excellence.  

The applicant has requested the consent 
authority find that the requirement for a 
competitive design process 
unreasonable or unnecessary as the 
scale of the proposal (as amended) is 
not significant in the context of the 
existing commercial tower and will not 
have any adverse impacts on adjoining 
properties or the public domain. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Car parking ancillary 
to other development 

Yes A maximum of 57 car parking spaces 
(52 commercial and 5 retail spaces) are 
permitted. 

The basement levels currently 
accommodate 80 car parking spaces. 

A total of 75 car parking spaces are 
proposed, resulting from the removal of 
5 car parking spaces in Basement 1 and 
2.  

The existing building contains more car 
parking spaces than the maximum car 
parking rate for the development under 
SLEP. However, SLEP does not require 
a reduction in the number of car parking 
spaces in an existing building. The 
proposed number of car parking spaces 
is supported.  

21



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

7.15 Flood planning Partial 
compliance 

The site is identified by Council as being 
flood prone.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

7.20 Development requiring 
preparation of a development 
control plan 

Yes A site in Central Sydney with an area 
greater than 1,500m² or results in a 
building greater than 55m in height 
requires the preparation of a 
development control plan.  

The subject site has an area of 3,353m². 
The existing tower is 30 storeys and 
greater than 55m. The proposal does 
not seek to increase the height of the 
existing tower. The new podium building 
has a height of 27.24m (RL 44.090) and 
occupies an area of approximately 
451.5m² within the subject site. 

The applicant has requested that the 
consent authority find that the 
requirement for the preparation of the 
development control plan for the site is 
unreasonable and unnecessary in the 
circumstances.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Sydney DCP 2012 

27. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

  

22



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1 Public Domain Elements Yes The site is identified as an appropriate 
location for a through site link.  

The proposal provides a through site link 
with a canopy cover between George 
Street and King Street. Whilst the 
orientation of the proposed through site 
link varies from the SDCP, the provision 
of a through site link across the subject 
site will make a positive contribution to 
the public domain and pedestrian 
amenity.  

An easement will be created to ensure 
public access to the through site link is 
maintained.  

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The podium building results in some 
minor overshadowing of the George 
Street and King Street footpath adjacent 
to the site.  

The proposal will not result in any 
additional overshadowing of public open 
spaces. 

The proposal will not adversely impact 
on views to any public spaces in the 
vicinity of the site.  

The site is adjacent to heritage items 
located to the north, west and south of 
the site. The proposed podium building 
will not detrimentally affect significant 
views to surrounding heritage items.  

Views looking north along George Street 
towards the GPO will not be obscured 
by the proposal.  

Existing views looking south along 
George Street towards 396 George 
Street will not be substantially altered as 
the current podium structures partially 
obscures views of the heritage building.  

23



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

  Sightlines to 365 George Street (also 
known as the Former ES & A Bank) from 
King Street will remain for pedestrians 
travelling west as the podium building is 
wholly contained with the subject site 
and does not extend to the southern 
alignment of 365 George Street. 

3.3 Design Excellence and 
Competitive Design Processes 

Yes The applicant has requested that the 
consent authority find that the 
requirement for a design competition for 
the proposal is unreasonable or 
unnecessary in the circumstances.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development does not 
involve the removal of any trees and will 
not adversely impact on the local urban 
ecology. 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal is capable of complying 
with the provisions of Section J of the 
BCA 

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Partial 
compliance 

The site is identified as being flood 
affected. Given the existing finished floor 
levels of the ground floor of the tower 
and the scope of proposed works, the 
proposed flood mitigation measures to 
minimise flood impacts are considered 
acceptable in this instance, subject to 
conditions included in the 
recommendation.  

See discussion under the 'Flooding' 
heading in Issues. 

24



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.11 Transport and Parking Yes Bicycle parking rate of 371 spaces for 
employees and visitors is required for 
the commercial/retail development.  

The site currently contains 33 bicycle 
parking spaces in Basement 1. 

The proposal provides a total of 266 
bicycle parking spaces consisting of 258 
bicycle parking spaces in Basement 1, 4 
bicycle parking spaces and new end of 
journey facilities comprising 17 showers 
and 252 lockers on Level 1 of the tower, 
and 4 visitor bicycle parking spaces at 
ground level. Whilst the proposal does 
not achieve the bicycle parking rate of 
371 spaces under SDCP, the site will 
significantly increase bicycle parking and 
end of journey facilities for future 
occupants and visitors within the 
constraints of the existing tower.  

A minimum of 2 car sharing spaces are 
required to be provided under SDCP. 
The proposal has not specified car 
sharing facilities however the basement 
facilities are able to comply with the 
provisions of SDCP for car sharing. 

The proposal satisfactorily addresses 
transport and parking demands within 
the development and is acceptable, 
subject to conditions included in the 
recommendation. 

3.12 Accessible Design Yes A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to provide 
appropriate access and facilities for 
persons with disabilities in accordance 
with the DCP and the BCA.  

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Yes The proposed development provides 
adequate passive surveillance and is 
generally designed in accordance with 
the CPTED principles. 

25



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.14 Waste Yes A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the City of 
Sydney Code for Waste Minimisation in 
New Developments 2005. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.6 Waste minimisation Yes A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the City of 
Sydney Code for Waste Minimisation in 
New Developments 2005. 

 

5. Specific Areas 

5.1 Central Sydney 

Compliance Comment 

5.1.1 Building height Yes The proposed podium building is 5 
storeys in height. The height responds 
appropriately to the street wall height of 
the adjoining GPO to the north, does not 
exceed the height of the heritage item 
immediately to the west and responds to 
the two storey podium height of 179 Pitt 
Street to the east.  

The street wall height of buildings to the 
south of the site fronting King Street are 
predominantly 3 storey with the 
exception of the heritage item at 396 
George Street.  

26



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

5. Specific Areas 

5.1 Central Sydney 

Compliance Comment 

  The floor to floor heights of the new 
podium building (Ground Floor to Level 
4) achieves the minimum requirement 
under the DCP, being 4.5m at ground 
floor and 3.6m at first floor and above. In 
particular, the ground floor retail tenancy 
is double height (10.95m floor to floor) 
and contains a mezzanine. 

  The floor to floor height of the retail 
tenancy on Level 5 measures 3.04m and 
does not comply with the minimum floor 
to floor height of 3.6m. The retail space 
measures approximately 88m² and will 
primarily service the use of the roof 
terrace. Floor to floor heights provide 
flexibility of uses and amenity to 
occupants. Given the limited area of the 
tenancy and its location adjacent to the 
roof terrace, the floor to floor height will 
be able to accommodate small scale 
retail use. 

Issues 

Floor Space Ratio 

28. The site is permitted a base FSR of 8:1 and additional accommodation FSR of 4.5:1 
under Clause 6.4 of SLEP.   

29. In addition the proposed development also seeks to include end of journey facilities 
(419m²) and car parking reduction floor space (85m²) to the maximum FSR of 12.65:1 
as permitted under Clauses 6.5 and 6.6 of SLEP. 

30. Having regard to the additional floor space permitted for the site, a maximum FSR of 
12.65:1 is applicable with a maximum gross floor area of 42,416.5m². 

31. The existing tower has a gross floor area (GFA) of 42,596m² and a FSR of 12.7:1 
(calculated under the current controls) which exceeds the maximum permitted FSR 
under SLEP. The existing building exceeds the maximum FSR control by 179.5m² or 
0.42%.  

  

27



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

32. The proposed development seeks to increase the GFA for the site by 1,674m² (giving 
a total GFA of 44,270m²) with a FSR of 13.2:1. This  exceeds the permissible FSR 
control by 0.55:1 (4.3%). The non-compliance with FSR comprises of 85m² car parking 
reduction floor space and 419m² end of journey floor space permitted in Clause 6.5 
and 6.6 of SLEP. The applicant submits that the variation to the FSR development 
standard is 1,170m², having regard to the additional floor space of 504m². 

33. As a condition of development consent for Z96/00139, a Restrictive Covenant on Title  
restricts the maximum floor space on site to  13.4:1.  

34. Clause 6.21 of SLEP permits the consent authority to grant an additional 10% FSR for 
a building that demonstrates design excellence. In this regard, the maximum FSR 
available for the site would be 13.75:1, subject to undertaking a competitive design 
process in accordance with the requirements of SLEP. The applicant has not 
undertaken a competitive design process in accordance with the City's Competitive 
Design Policy and has requested the consent authority find that such a process is 
unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances. The applicant's request is 
discussed in the report below.  

35. In accordance with Clause 4.6 of SLEP, the applicant has submitted a written 
justification seeking exception to the FSR development standard.  

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard 

36. The site is subject to a maximum FSR of 12.65:1. The proposed development has a 
FSR of 13.2:1.   

37. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

38. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment D. 

Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

39. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the FSR development standard on 
the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

 The objectives of the development standard are achieved notwithstanding 
the non-compliance. The proposed building upgrade works and new 
podium provides high quality retail and commercial spaces to attract and 
accommodate long term commercial tenants and additional workers in 
Central Sydney. 

  

28



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 The existing building exceeds the maximum FSR and any addition to 
upgrade the building would be in breach of the FSR development standard. 
Providing additional commercial floor space will contribute to the required 
supply to maintain the competitiveness of Sydney as a commercial and 
innovative city. 

 A maximum FSR of 13.75:1 may be permissible for the site and 
surrounding properties, subject to demonstration of design excellence. The 
maximum FSR control, with provisions for additional floor space (including 
design excellence bonuses), envisages greater density than the site 
specific FSR of 13.4:1 under the Restrictive Covenant. The proposed 
development has a FSR less than the maximum FSR under SLEP and 
responds to the urban context comprising of retail podiums built to the 
boundary with commercial tower above.  

 The proposed podium building is consistent with the objectives for built 
form in Section 5.1.1 of SDCP as it will physically define the public domain, 
responds appropriately to the built form of heritage items and will reinforce 
the streetscape character within Central Sydney. Having regard to the 
siting and form of the existing tower, additional floor space to provide a 
building at the intersection of George Street and King Street is required to 
achieve the objectives for street activation and amenity within the public 
domain.  

 No new building works is proposed above Level 5 of the existing 30 storey 
tower. The additional floor space is not significant in the context of the 
entire building and is compatible with the intensity of the development 
surrounding the site.  

 The site will benefit from its proximity to the Light Rail and the Martin Place 
Metro Station. The proposed development will benefit from the new 
infrastructure. 

 The use of the site for commercial activity does not change. The podium 
building achieves greater compliance with relevant built form controls 
under the SLEP and SDCP than the existing podium structure.  

 The proposed development will not have any adverse environmental 
impacts on surrounding properties or the public domain in regard to 
overshadowing, wind, reflectivity, traffic, noise, flooding or stormwater.  

 Compliance with the development standard would defeat the objectives for 
floor space to accommodate future commercial needs and is 
unreasonable.  

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

 The original design of the existing tower included a podium and forecourt 
that defines the street edge with a through site link between George Street 
and King Street. The proposed development restores the original intent of 
a podium and through site link to improve pedestrian amenity. 

29



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 The bulk and scale of the new podium building responds to the 
surrounding urban context by completing a street corner with retail at the 
lower levels and commercial uses above.  

 The new podium building contributes to the desired future character of the 
locality in comparison to retaining the existing forecourt and additional floor 
space to the site.  

 The site is immediately adjacent to the Sydney Light Rail and 
approximately 250m from the future Martin Place Metro Station.  

 The proposed development encourages sustainable modes of transport by 
reducing car parking spaces and increasing bicycle parking and end of 
journey facilities for occupants.  

 The new through site link enhances amenity for pedestrians with a safe 
and activated pathway between George Street and King Street.  

Consideration of Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

40. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) The applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required 
to be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) The proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? 

41. The applicant's written request has adequately demonstrated that compliance with the 
development standard for FSR is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances 
of this case as the proposed development satisfies the objectives for FSR, 
notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard. . The new podium building is 
consistent with the objectives and provisions for developments in Central Sydney as it 
defines the street and is contextually appropriate in bulk and scale to surrounding 
developments comprising retail podiums with tower forms above.  

42. The proposed development is consistent with the objectives for the B8 Metropolitan 
Centre Zone and FSR under SLEP and is in the public interest as the new podium 
building at the corner of George Street and King Street provides opportunities for 
street activation and enhanced pedestrian connectivity and amenity. The additional 
floor space does not result in any adverse environmental impacts to surrounding 
properties and as such, compliance with the development standard which would not 
facilitate a podium building at the street alignment is considered unreasonable and 
unnecessary. 

  

30



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? 

43. The applicant's written request has adequately addressed that there are sufficient 
environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the FSR standard as the 
proposed development responds appropriately to the bulk and scale of the existing 
tower and surrounding developments, particularly at the street wall height. 

44. Given the existing commercial tower exceeds the maximum permitted FSR under 
SLEP, compliance with the development standard will not facilitate a podium building, 
street activation or weather protection for pedestrians that results in a better urban 
outcome.  

45. The alignment of the podium building to George Street and King Street contributes to 
street activation and the retail character of the area. The podium building also provides 
the opportunity to enhance pedestrian amenity with the erection of continuous awnings 
along the intersection of George Street and King Street.  

46. The proposed development provides a through site link between George Street and 
King Street which will enhance connectivity and amenity for pedestrians in the 
commercial and retail precinct.   

Is the development in the public interest? 

47. The proposed development will be in the public interest as it is consistent with 
objectives of the floor space ratio development standard and the B8 Metropolitan 
Centre zone. The proposed development achieves a density that does not result in any 
adverse amenity impacts on surrounding properties or the streetscape, and will 
contribute to the supply and quality of commercial spaces in Central Sydney. 

48. The proposed development seeks to reduce the total number of car parking spaces 
and increases bicycle parking and end of journey facilities.  

49. The proposed development achieves the objectives for the B8 Metropolitan Centre 
zone by contributing to the availability of retail and commercial uses in Central Sydney. 
In particular, the proposal is consistent with the objectives of the zone as follows: 

 "To recognise and provide for the pre-eminent role of business, office, retail, 
entertainment and tourist premises in Australia’s participation in the global 
economy" 

 To provide opportunities for an intensity of land uses commensurate with 
Sydney’s global status 

 To permit a diversity of compatible land uses characteristic of Sydney’s global 
status and that serve the workforce, visitors and wider community." 

50. The proposed development provides additional retail tenancies addressing George 
Street and King Street and will contribute to the activation of the public domain. In this 
regard, the proposed development is consistent with the objective "to promote uses 
with active street frontages on main streets and on streets in which buildings are used 
primarily (at street level) for the purposes of retail premises". 

  

31



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

51. The proposal is in the public interest as the new podium building and alterations and 
additions to the lower levels of the existing tower will contribute to the supply of retail 
and commercial floor space with a building that enhances the public domain. 
Notwithstanding non-compliance with the base FSR (including relevant additional FSR 
bonuses), the proposed development does not exceed the maximum FSR that could 
be considered for the site, subject to the completion of a competitive design process in 
accordance with SLEP. Although the proponent has not completed a competition in 
compliance with that policy, a competitive design process was undertaken and it is 
considered that the outcome achieved is in accordance with the aims of cl 6.21 of 
SLEP. In the context of the existing tower and surrounding developments comprising 
retail podiums and commercial towers, the site is capable of accommodating the new 
podium building and additional floor space without detracting from the character of the 
locality.  

Conclusion 

52. For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the FSR is supported as the 
applicant's written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be 
addressed by Clause 4.6 of SLEP and the proposed development would be in the 
public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of floor space ratio and the 
B8 Metropolitan Centre zone. 

Height, Scale and Bulk 

53. The site has a maximum permitted height of the 130m under Clause 4.3 of SLEP 
2012. 

54. The existing tower has a height of 118m and comprises 30 storeys of commercial 
uses.  

55. The proposed new podium building is 27.24m and contains 5 storeys. The proposed 
development does not seek to alter the height of the tower and is consistent with the 
maximum building height for the site.  

56. The proposed podium building is built to the George Street and King Street alignment 
and has a height of RL 44.090. The height of the podium was reduced by 1m following 
design recommendations provided by the Design Advisory Panel. The proposed 
development is consistent with the objectives for building height under SLEP and 
SDCP as the podium building responds to the context of the site and surrounding 
properties. In particular, the podium building is generally consistent with the scale of 
adjacent heritage items to the north, south and west and will not have any adverse 
impact on significant views in Central Sydney. 

Waiver for Competitive Design Process and Preparation of a DCP  

57. In accordance with Clause 6.21 of the SLEP 2012, a competitive design process is 
required to be undertaken in Central Sydney for a building over 55m and/or with a site 
area greater than 1,500m². 

58. Under Clauses 6.21(6) and 7.20(3), a competitive process and development control 
plan are, respectively, not required if the consent authority is satisfied that such a 
process would be unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances or that the 
development: 

  

32



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(a)  involves only alterations or additions to an existing building, and 

(b)  does not significantly increase the height or gross floor area of the building, and 

(c)  does not have significant adverse impacts on adjoining buildings and the public 
domain, and 

(d)  does not significantly alter any aspect of the building when viewed from public 
places. 

59. The applicant has requested that  the requirement to undertake a competitive design 
process and preparation of a DCP for the proposed development be waived under 
Clauses 6.21(6) and 7.20(3) on the basis that such a process is unreasonable and 
unnecessary in this circumstance for the following reasons: 

(a) The proposed alterations to the basement, lower ground, ground and first floors 
of the podium of the existing building is consistent with the Clause 6.21(6)(a) of 
the SLEP. The proposed alterations to the existing podium does not substantially 
alter the bulk and scale of the existing tower. 

(b) The proposed development does not alter the height of the existing tower. The 
alterations to the existing podium and construction of the new podium building 
will result in an additional 1,674m². The additional floor space improves the 
relationship between existing retail tenancies and the tower lobby to the public 
domain and enhances the built form, street activation and pedestrian amenity 
along George Street and King Street. The podium building is appropriate within 
the urban context and the additional floor space will not have any significant 
adverse impacts on surrounding properties or the public domain.   

(c) The proposed development will improve the appearance of the existing building 
when viewed from the public domain and adjoining buildings. In particular, the 
new podium building will define the street edge at the intersection of George 
Street and King Street and is proportionate to the massing and alignment of 
surrounding buildings.  

(d) The visual prominence of the existing tower when viewed from surrounding 
properties or the public domain will not be adversely affected by the podium 
building.  

(e) Existing retail and commercial uses will be retained. 

(f) The proposed through site link will contribute to the public domain. 

(g) The new podium building will increase building mass at the base of the 30 storey 
commercial tower. In the context of the existing tower, the proposed works up to 
Level 5 will not have any significant impacts on building.  

60. The co-owners of the site have voluntarily engaged in an informal design option 
processes to explore design options to satisfy considerations of design excellence 
under Clause 6.21(4) of the SLEP. In particular, three architects were engaged by the 
applicant to prepare design options for the development. These three design options 
were presented to the City's Design Advisory Panel (DAP) on 8 June 2017. The issues 
raised by DAP were incorporated into further design development by the applicant 
prior to the lodgement of the development application.   

33



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

61. On 11 October 2017, a further Pre-DA lodgement meeting was held between the 
applicant and Council officers to further develop the proposal in regard to bulk and 
scale, materiality and the public domain.  

62. The amended proposal was presented to DAP for comment on 7 June and 6 
September 2018. At its meeting on 6 September 2018, DAP noted that the amended 
proposal responded to the design issues previously raised and a corner building was a 
positive contribution to the Central Sydney streetscape. Recommendations relating to 
the architectural expression of the new podium building were provided and have been 
incorporated into the amended drawings to provide a more simply building form and 
colour scheme that relates to the existing tower.  

63. The proposed development has satisfactorily addressed considerations for design 
excellence under Clause 6.21(4) of SLEP as the site will maintain commercial and 
retail uses, does not have any adverse impacts on surrounding heritage items, does 
not detract from the streetscape and is consistent with the objectives and provisions 
for retail podiums in Central Sydney. In particular, the new podium building will be built 
to the street alignment with a height of 27m and is consistent with the SDCP controls 
for street frontage heights ranging from 20m to 45m in Central Sydney. The proposed 
form and scale is contextually appropriate with surrounding developments containing 
retail podiums and tower forms above.  

64. The proposed development will not have adverse environmental impacts on 
surrounding properties as the new building works will not result in any additional 
overshadowing. The proposal will not have any adverse acoustic or visual privacy, 
wind or reflectivity impacts on surrounding properties, subject to appropriate conditions 
being imposed.  

65. The proposal is consistent with provisions for enhancing the public domain, pedestrian 
amenity with the provision of a through site link, continuous awning along the George 
Street to King Street frontage and street activation. 

66. The new podium building occupies an area of approximately 377m² within the subject 
site area of 3,353m². In this circumstance, the requirement to prepare a site specific 
DCP and undertaking a competitive design process is considered unreasonable and 
unnecessary given the new podium building and additional floor space is contained 
predominantly to the south-western corner of the site, does not exceed the 55m height 
control for new buildings and exhibits design excellence as discussed above. 

67. Having regard to the scope of the proposed development, the overall massing of the 
new building works and the processes the applicant has engaged in to address design 
excellence requirements under Clauses 6.21 and 7.20, the request seeking a waiver 
for the requirement to prepare a site specific DCP and undertake a competitive design 
process is acceptable in this circumstance. 

Through Site Link 

68. The proposed through site link is located at ground level between George Street and 
King Street between the south-western elevation of the existing tower and the new 
podium building. The through site link will be covered with a metal and glass canopy at 
a height of 11.33m at George Street and 7.4m at King Street.  

  

34



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

69. Opportunities for a through site link between George Street and Pitt Street is identified 
under SDCP 2012 as shown in Figure 21 below. The proposed through site link from 
George Street to King Street differs in orientation from the potential link shown in the 
SDCP however, it is noted that compliance with the SDCP would require coordination 
and substantial redesign of buildings on the subject site and No. 173-179 Pitt Street 
located immediately to the east of the site.  

70. On 20 June 2017, development consent D/2017/115 was approved for the partial 
demolition and alterations to the podium of the building at 173-179 Pitt Street, 
immediately to the east of the site. The proposal included new retail shopfronts and 
building entrances. The approved development does not provide a pedestrian through 
site link as shown in SDCP.  

71. The proposed development seeks to retain the ground level retail tenancies and lift 
lobby of the existing tower which are located in the area required for a through site link 
in accordance with SDCP. In this instance, the scope of the proposed development 
and surrounding properties does not enable the provision of a through site link in 
accordance with the provisions under SDCP. 

72. The proposed through site link is generally consistent with the requirements under 
SDCP as it provides a pathway that is clearly visible from the public domain. The 
through site link is immediately adjacent to the entrance to the ground level of the 
tower and has pedestrian clearance widths between 23.3m fronting George Street, 
14.4m fronting King Street and approximately 5.7m through the centre. The splayed 
design of the through site link and partially glazed canopy maximises views to the sky 
between the existing tower and the new podium building, and will remain publicly 
accessible subject to an easement on title.  

73. In addition to the proposed new awnings along George Street and King Street, the 
through site link will also provide additional weather protection for pedestrians. 

 

Figure 21: Through site link map under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

35



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 22: Proposed access points at ground floor level  

Pedestrian Amenity 

74. George Street and King Street are identified as active street frontages in the  SDCP. 
The proposal is generally consistent with the objectives and provisions for 
development along active frontages as the retail tenancies directly address the street. 
Furthermore, the proposed alterations to retail tenancies fronting George Street will 
improve pedestrian access and sightlines to and from the public domain.  

75. The proposed realignment of the existing lobby to the tower to directly address George 
Street will also contribute to street activation.  

76. The new building has a continuous awning from George Street to King Street which 
will enhance weather protection and pedestrian amenity at the intersection. The 
proposed awning has a width of 2.5m on George Street, 3.3m at the intersection of 
George Street and King Street and along King Street towards the eastern boundary of 
the site. The proposed awning is consistent with the objective for footpath awnings 
under SDCP as the awning will provide additional weather protection for pedestrians 
and enhance the amenity of the public domain. 

77. The proposed awning is continuous along the frontage of the site except the 
separation between the northern retail tenancies on George Street and the foyer entry 
to the tower. The break in the awning in this location is considered acceptable given 
the curved facade of the existing fire stairs to the tower and no active use at that point 
of the facade.  

  

36



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

78. The height of the canopy over the commercial lobby and through site link ranges 
between 10.4m and 9.8m across the width of through site link with a fall towards the 
south to 5m. Although the height of the canopy exceeds the height for awnings under 
SDCP, the scale of the canopy responds appropriately to the existing architectural 
character of the building as the height matches the soffit of the lobby and contributes 
to the presentation of the building at pedestrian level. The new canopy extends to the 
George Street alignment and will provide additional weather protection in comparison 
to the existing awning over adjacent to the foyer to the tower.  

79. The proposed awnings to the new podium building along King Street and the retail 
tenancies to the east are approximately 3.3m wide. The width of the awning is 
consistent with the range of acceptable awning widths between 2m and 3.6m under 
SDCP. The width of the awning is consistent with the width of the approved awning at 
173-179 Pitt Street and will contribute to maintaining pedestrian amenity along King 
Street. 

80. The height of the podium building awning is 5m from the footpath and to the retail 
tenancies to the east is 3.6m. The awning to the east is consistent with the height of 
approved awning at 173-179 Pitt Street and provides continuous weather protection for 
pedestrians travelling west along King Street. The podium building awning exceeds the 
height clearance provided under SDCP however, the height responds to the double 
height retail space and the adjacent through site link and canopy. In this instance, the 
awning is considered acceptable as it will provide additional weather protection at the 
intersection for pedestrians and complements the proposed built form.   

Flooding  

81. The site is identified as flood affected under the City's Interim Floodplain Risk 
Management Policy and is affected in 1% AEP and PMF events along George Street 
and King Street. A Flood Assessment Report prepared by Enstruct, dated 12 March 
2018) recommended a finished floor level of the new retail podium to be set above the 
1% AEP level at RL 17.08 AHD. This recommendation has been reviewed by Council's 
Engineer and Public Domain Unit and is considered satisfactory. 

82. The proposal does not seek to increase the finished floor levels of the existing ground 
floor retail tenancies and the lobby entry. The finished floor levels on the ground floor 
areas within the existing tower is approximately 135mm below the required 1% AEP 
level of RL 16.985 AHD.  

83. The applicant submits that the existing floor of the foyer cannot be raised to achieve 
the recommended finished floor level above 1% AEP as the floor is constrained by the 
existing lift and fire stairs within the building, and limitations on any additional structural 
strengthening of the floors. As the foyer will remain flood affected, the applicant seeks 
to mitigate flood risk by removing the existing sag point in the forecourt to fall 
continuously from the foyer entry towards George Street. The proposed method will 
have minimal impact on street activation or accessibility for persons with disabilities 
and is considered acceptable in this circumstance.  

84. The proposed lift access from the foyer to the end of journey facilities on Level 1 will 
incorporate flood mitigation measures preventing the lift car from descending into 
floodwaters including the installation of a pit water sensor, flood operation mode to 
control the lift and installation of a pit pump. Given the constraints of the existing 
ground floor slab, the proposed flood mitigation measures are considered acceptable 
in this circumstance, subject to stormwater and drainage conditions which have been 
included in the recommendation.  

37



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Staging of Construction Works 

85. The proposal seeks consent to stage the construction works as follows: 

(a) Stage 1 - internal building works for lobby of existing tower and end of journey 
facilities 

(b) Stage 2 - refurbishment of existing podium and construction of new podium 
building 

(c) Stage 3 - construction of podium rooftop tenancy 

86. The proposed staging of the construction works and subject staging of relevant 
Construction Certificates is considered acceptable having regard to the scope of works 
to be carried out to the existing tower and the new podium building.  

Heritage Floor Space  

87. The proposed development is subject to the requirement for the purchase of Heritage 
Floor Space (HFS) under Clause 6.11(1)(e) of SLEP as the proposal includes 
additional floor space that contravenes the FSR development standard under Clause 
4.4 of SLEP. The applicant has submitted a written justification seeking exception to 
contravening the FSR development standard under Clause 4.6 of SLEP as discussed 
in the report above. 

88. The proposed development seeks consent for 1,674m² of additional floor space. As 
the existing building has a FSR of 12.7:1 and exceeds the maximum FSR standard of 
12.65:1 (including additional floor space bonuses), the additional floor space of 0.55:1 
is subject to the purchase of HFS.   

89. As the site provides a covered through site link between George Street and King 
Street, Clause 6.11(2)(b) of SLEP allows for a reduction in HFS up to 50% or 250m², 
whichever is the lesser. In accordance with the Clause 6.11(2)(b), a reduction of 
250m² to the HFS amount of 1,674m² may be applied. As such, 1,424m² of HFS is 
required to be purchased by the development.  

90. The applicant has requested that the requirement to acquire the allocated HFS be 
associated with the staging of construction works associated with the new podium 
building as the additional floor space under Clause 6.11 of SLEP is predominantly 
located within the new podium building. The request is also sought on the basis that 
construction works associated with alterations and additions to the existing tower do 
not add any additional floor space to the site and could commence without being 
delayed by the HFS process.  

91. Council officers have reviewed the request to require HFS to be acquired during the 
staged construction of the proposed podium building. In this instance, the staging of 
construction will enable some early works to commence within the existing tower 
without any significant impact on the remainder of the development. In this instance, 
the request is considered reasonable and is supported. A condition has been included 
in the recommendation relating to the allocation of HFS for the site.  

Other Impacts of the Development 

92. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA. It is Class 5, 6 and 
7a. 

38



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

93. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

94. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial surrounding and amongst similar uses to that proposed. 

Internal Referrals 

Design Advisory Panel (DAP) 

95. The scheme prepared by FJMT was selected by the co-owners of the site and referred 
to DAP for comment on 7 June 2018. DAP noted that the proposal had been further 
refined to address comments and recommendations provided during the Pre-DA 
lodgement process. DAP reviewed the submitted design and provided comments as 
follows: 

(a) The orientation and location of the new podium building are supported. 

(b) Changes to finished floor levels of existing retail tenancies improves the 
relationship to George Street and is supported. 

(c) The height of the podium building and alterations to the existing lower levels of 
the tower should be reduced to improve relationship with surrounding buildings 
and views to the tower. 

(d) The use of sandstone, particularly as horizontal louvres is contextually 
inappropriate  

(e) Architectural expression of the new podium building and alterations and 
additions to the lower levels of the tower is to be simplified to respect the 
language of the tower.  

(f) The proposed awning on the podium building should be extended the length of 
George Street and King Street elevations to provide pedestrian amenity.  

96. On 23 August 2018, amended plans and additional information in response to DAP 
and Council officer's request were submitted. The proposal was amended with a 
reduction in the height of the podium building by 1m, removal of extensions to 
commercial floors to the north fronting George Street, simplification of façade with 
reduced horizontal elements to the podium building and use of concrete finish over 
existing substation. The awning was amended to include a continuous awning at 
ground floor level of the podium building from George Street to King Street. The 
canopy over the through site link has been reduced in height to 10.8m fronting George 
Street with increased glazing.  

97. The amended proposal also reconfigures internal areas including removal of a switch 
room at the lower ground level, realignment of lift core to podium building, relocation of 
retail shopfront entries fronting George Street, minor reconfiguration of commercial 
lobby and roof top level of podium to accommodate future food and drink premises.  

  

39



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

98. The amended proposal comprising was referred to DAP on 6 September 2018. DAP 
noted the amendments to the proposal in response to previous DAP recommendations 
and was supportive of the modifications particularly the continuous awning on George 
Street and King Street and the concrete cladding over the substation. In relation to the 
architectural expression of the podium building, DAP recommended a further 
refinement to simplify the façade including the colour palette to respond appropriately 
to the architectural language of the tower. In regard to the awning, DAP recommended 
the height of the awning be lowered at the intersection of George Street and King 
Street to provide greater pedestrian amenity.  

99. On 8 October 2018, a further set of amended drawings were submitted to address the 
comments provided by DAP at its meeting on 6 September 2018. The new awning 
along George Street and King Street has been extended to the north to provide 
additional weather protection from the George Street footpath to the through site link. 
The architectural expression of the podium building has been amended to reduce the 
extent of horizontal louvres and replace sandstone louvres with GRC cladding. 

Heritage and Urban Design 

100. Council's Heritage and Urban Design Unit advised that the location and scale of the 
new podium building was generally supported, subject to design modifications to 
provide a continuous awning along George Street and King Street and simplification of 
the facade to respond appropriately to the architectural character of the existing tower. 
The proposal, as amended, has sufficiently addressed the issues raised in relation to 
architectural character and pedestrian amenity. The amended proposal provides a 
podium that is consistent with surrounding built form and provides a better urban 
design outcome for George Street and King Street. 

101. Council's Heritage Specialist advised that the proposed podium building and 
alterations to the facade of the existing retail tenancies fronting George Street and 
King Street do not have any detrimental impacts on the significance of surrounding 
heritage items. In particular, the site and the new podium building are not immediately 
adjoining heritage items and are separated by the width of George Street to the west 
and King Street to the south. The separation of the podium building to surrounding 
heritage items provides sufficient sightlines to the heritage items from the public 
domain. It is also noted that the existing streetscape comprises a mix of heritage items 
and commercial buildings that are not heritage items. Given the context, new podium 
building is not considered to have any adverse impacts on the significance of 
surrounding heritage items or character of the streetscape.     

Building Services Unit 

102. Building Services Unit advised that the scope of proposed development does not 
require a whole building upgrade under Clause 94 of the Building Code of Australia 
and is supported, subject to conditions included in the recommendation. 

Environmental Health 

103. Council's Environmental Health Unit advised that the proposal does not have any 
significant risk of contamination due to the historic commercial use of the site and no 
significant excavation works. The proposal is supported subject to conditions included 
in the recommendation. 

  

40



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Public Domain 

104. Council's Public Domain Unit reviewed the original proposal and raised concerns 
regarding non-compliance of the commercial lobby with the City's Interim Floodplain 
Risk Management Policy relating to the 1% AEP and PMF events along George Street 
and King Street. Additional information was submitted and the merit based 
assessment sought by the applicant is satisfactory and discussed under the heading 
Issues above.  

105. The Public Domain Unit has advised that the proposal is acceptable, subject to 
conditions relating to alignment levels, stormwater, and public domain works.  

Specialist Surveyor 

106. Council's Specialist Surveyor advises that the proposal development is supported 
subject to conditions, particularly in regard to the creation of an easement for public 
access to maintain unrestricted rights of public pedestrian access.  

Transport and Access 

107. Council's Transport and Access Unit reviewed the originally submitted proposal and 
requested further information to clarify existing and proposed number of car parking 
spaces and bicycle parking spaces for the site. No objection has been raised to the 
amended proposal which reduces the overall number of car parking spaces within 
basement levels of the development. The provision of additional bicycle parking 
spaces and end of journey facilities is supported. 

108. The proposal to provide a through site link contained wholly within the subject site is 
also supported. 

109. The proposal is supported subject to conditions included in the recommendation 
relating to car parking, bicycle parking and end of trip facilities, loading facilities and 
associated traffic works 

Waste Management 

110. The Waste Management Plan is/is not consistent with the City's Waste Minimisation in 
New Developments Policy and the City's Local Approvals Policy for Management 
Waste in Public Places. A condition has been included in the recommendation to 
address waste management.  

External Referrals 

Transport for NSW 

111. The proposed development was referred to Transport for NSW (TfNSW) as the site is 
immediately adjacent to the Sydney Light Rail along George Street and is located 
within the potential light rail impact zone. TfNSW raised no objection to the proposal 
subject to conditions relating to the construction traffic and pedestrians management 
plans which have been included in the recommendation. 

  

41



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (Submission(s) Received) 

112. In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified and advertised. As such the application was notified and 
advertised for a period of 28 days between 2 May 2018 and 31 May 2018. As a result 
of this notification there were 9 submission(s) received, 6 of which are proforma and 3 
unique submissions. 

(a) A 5 storey street wall is inconsistent with predominant street wall heights of 
surrounding properties along George Street and King Street. 

Response - The amended podium building has a reduced height that is 
contextually appropriate to immediately surrounding properties and the 
streetscape. The height of the podium building does not appear excessive when 
viewed in the context of the immediately surrounding buildings along George 
Street and King Street.  

(b) The proposal results in a significant increase in height from a one storey podium 
to a 5 storey podium at the prominent corner.  

Response - The scale of the podium building is considered appropriate within 
the existing streetscape and will improve activation of the George Street and 
King Street intersection. Although there is an increase in height from the existing 
podium structure, the proposed development is not excessive in height in the 
context of the existing tower.  

(c) A diagonal through site link across the site from George Street to King Street will 
redirect pedestrian traffic into the commercial office foyer has potential to impact 
pedestrian flows in the retail precinct. 

Response - The amended proposal provides a continuous awning along George 
Street and King Street to enable pedestrians to travel along existing footpaths. 
The through site link will provide an additional path of travel for pedestrians and 
is unlikely to have detrimental impacts on existing pedestrian traffic flows along 
George Street and King Street.  

(d) The use of the proposed ground floor tenancy in the new podium building by 
Commonwealth Bank does not activate the retail area and does not provide 
design excellence.  

Response - At this stage, a tenant for the ground floor retail space within the 
new podium building as not been confirmed. The proposal provides a double 
height retail frontage that encourages activation of the street. Should any future 
use and fit out be subject to development approval, the applicant will be required 
to demonstrate design excellence in accordance with SLEP.  

  

42



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(e) The height of the new podium building will block views along George Street and 
King Street to heritage buildings such as the GPO, the GPO clock and the ES & 
A Bank Building (365 George Street). 

Response - The podium building will not detrimentally obscure views to the ES 
& A Bank building when viewed from King Street as there is a splay in the street 
alignment resulting in the ES & A Bank building projecting beyond the southern 
boundary of the subject site. Existing view of the GPO façade from the southern 
side of George Street are oblique and as such, the podium building will not have 
any adverse impacts on sightlines to the heritage item. The podium building is 
contained wholly with in the subject site and aligns with the setback of existing 
structures on the site. It is not considered to have any adverse impacts on 
sightlines to the GPO clock. 

(f) The exceedance in floor space ratio is not well founded as approximately half of 
the non-compliant floor space impacts on the scale and height of the 
streetscape. The Clause 4.6 request should not be supported. 

Response - The exceedance in floor space ratio has been addressed under the 
heading Issues above. The submitted Clause 4.6 justification has also been 
reviewed against relevant matters for consideration and is considered to be 
acceptable in this circumstance as the new podium building is contextually 
appropriate within the streetscape, will contribute to the business functions of 
Central Sydney and responds to the architectural character of the existing tower.  

(g) The reliance on the car parking reduction floor space provision to add floor space 
within the development is not available to the site under Clause 6.5 of SLEP 
2012.  

Response - The proposed car parking reduction satisfies the provision under 
Clause 6.5 of SLEP and is permissible as the change of the car parking spaces 
for lift core and services provides access to the new podium building and 
improved access to the existing lower ground level. 

(h) The proposal is not entitled to end of journey bonus floor space as bicycle 
storage and other required facilities are not located in the one area of the 
development.  

Response - The proposed design of the end of journey facilities is consistent 
with the requirements under SLEP and SDCP as bicycle parking, showers, 
change rooms and lockers are provided in one area on Level 1 of the existing 
tower. 

(i) The proposal does not satisfy the SLEP as no Stage 1 or Competitive Design 
Process has been completed to achieve Design Excellence provisions. 

Response - In accordance with Clauses 6.21(6) and 7.20(3) of SLEP, the 
consent authority is able to consider the preparation of a development control 
plan or undertaking a competitive design process unreasonable and 
unnecessary. This has been discussed under the heading Issues above. In the 
circumstances of existing commercial tower and the scope of the new building 
works, the applicant's justification that the requirement for a Stage 1 DA and a 
competitive design process is unreasonable and unnecessary is supported.  

43



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(j) The lack of a Stage 1 DA and the associated community consultation does not 
provide objectors opportunities to contribute to the design process. 

Response - The application was submitted with detailed supporting 
documentation and was notified and advertised in accordance with SLEP. The 
matters raised in submissions as a result of the notification period have been 
considered and addressed as part of the assessment process as detailed in this 
report. In particular, the proposed development has been amended to address 
design issues raised by the Design Advisory Panel, council staff and 
submissions. In accordance with SDCP, the amended proposal was not required 
to be re notified or advertised as the nature of the amendments is not considered 
to result in any additional environmental impacts.  

(k) The site is located adjacent to special character areas and the site is within the 
setting of significant heritage items. The proposal does not achieve the character 
statement and design principles for these special character areas. 

Response - It is noted the site is located at the boundaries of 3 special character 
areas all of which have distinct characteristics. However, the site is not subject to 
specific design principles applicable to properties located within special character 
areas under SDCP. The amended proposal is appropriate in the context of the 
existing streetscape which comprises a mix of heritage listed and non heritage 
listed buildings.    

(l) The proposal will cast substantial shadows to the surrounding public domain and 
buildings.  

Response - The shadow analysis submitted indicates that some additional 
shadows will be cast by the proposal between 12.00 and 1.00pm on 21 June. 
The shadows will fall on the George Street and King Street footpaths and will not 
have any significant impact on the amenity of pedestrians or the adjoining 
buildings. 

(m) The canopy awning is inconsistent with the approved awning immediately to the 
east of the site at 173-179 Pitt Street. 

Response - The amended proposal has addressed this issue with the awning to 
the retail tenancy matching the height and width of the approved awning at the 
173-179 Pitt Street.  

(n) Construction works will have impacts on vehicular access for 173-179 Pitt Street. 

Response - Conditions have been included in the recommendation relating to 
the preparation of construction traffic management plans to identify and address 
any impacts caused by construction vehicles.  

(o) A traffic management strategy should be prepared in consultation with owners of 
173-179 Pitt Street as the construction vehicle traffic will have impacts on 
occupiers the adjoining building, particularly in the basement loading area.  

Response - Conditions have been included in the recommendation requiring the 
preparation of traffic management during construction stages of the 
development.  

44



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(p) Construction noise that does not comply with noise criteria will have adverse 
impacts on adjoining commercial occupants. The acoustic impact assessment 
report does not specify noise control measures or recommendations to mitigate 
noise impacts during construction.  

Response - Conditions relating to noise criteria and mitigation have been 
included in the recommendation. 

(q) Construction impacts such as dust, vibrations, increased traffic and the like, may 
impact on the operations of adjoining properties.  Additional mitigation measures 
should be required to be provided demonstrating compliance with Council 
regulations.  

Response - Conditions relating to mitigation of construction impacts on 
surrounding properties and the environment have been included in the 
recommendation.  

(r) The proximity of the building works to the existing building at 173-179 Pitt Street 
may impact the recently constructed podium.  

Response - A condition requiring the preparation and submission of a 
dilapidation report has been included in the recommendation. 

(s) The proposal includes changes to fire safety infrastructure affecting the shared 
basement areas between the site and 173-179 Pitt Street. The applicant should 
be required to prepare a fire engineering compliance report and provide a copy 
to the adjoining property owner.  

Response - Conditions relating to fire safety measures have been included in 
the recommendation.  

Public Interest 

113. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

S61 Contribution 

114. The cost of the development is in excess of $200,000 and is therefore subject to a 
development levy pursuant to the Central Sydney (Section 61) Contributions Plan 
2003. An appropriate condition has been included in the recommendation of this 
report. 

Relevant Legislation 

115. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

45



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Conclusion 

116. The application for partial demolition of the existing podium and alterations and 
additions to the lower levels of the existing tower to realign the ground floor foyer to 
George Street, new retail shopfronts, new bicycle parking and end of journey facilities, 
and construction of a new 5 storey podium building at the intersection of George Street 
and King Street including a covered through site link has been assessed in 
accordance with relevant planning controls.  

117. The proposed through site link and new awnings fronting George Street and King 
Street will make a positive contribution to the public domain and enhance pedestrian 
amenity.  

118. The applicant's request to vary the FSR development standard pursuant to Clause 4.6 
of SLEP 2012 has been considered and is supported in this instance. Notwithstanding 
the variation to the FSR standard, the proposed development is consistent with the 
objectives for FSR and the B8 Metropolitan Centre Zone.  

119. The applicant's request to waive the requirements to prepare a site specific 
development control plan and undertake a competitive design process has been 
considered and is supported in this instance. The requirement for a site specific 
development control plan and competitive design process is considered unreasonable 
and unnecessary in this instance as the scope of works in context of the existing 
commercial tower is not substantial and the proposed development responds 
appropriately to the original design intent for a podium building addressing the street.  

120. The application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions.  

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Peggy Wong, Specialist Planner 

46



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent

47



CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 
SCHEDULE 1A 
APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 
Note:  Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where 
indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/405 dated 20 April 2018 and the following drawings prepared by 
FJMT: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

AF2100 Demolition/bulk excavation 
basement 2 

22.08.2018 

AF2102 Demolition/bulk excavation 
basement 1 

22.08.2018 

AF2102 Demolition/bulk excavation 
lower ground floor 

22.08.2018 

AF2103 Demolition/bulk excavation 
ground floor plan 

22.08.2018 

AF2104 Demolition/bulk excavation 
mezzanine floor plan 

22.08.2018 

AF2105 Demolition/bulk excavation 
level 1 floor plan 

22.08.2018 

AF2000 Proposed general 
arrangement plans 
basement 2 

22.08.2018 

AF2001 Proposed general 
arrangement plans 
basement 1 

22.08.2018 

AF2002 Proposed general 
arrangement plans lower 
ground floor 

22.08.2018 

AF2003 Proposed general 
arrangement plans ground 
floor plan 

27.09.2018 

AF2004 Proposed general 
arrangement plans 
mezzanine floor plan 

27.09.2018 

48



Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

AF2005 Proposed general 
arrangement plans level 1 
floor plan 

27.09.2018 

AF2006 Proposed general 
arrangement plans level 2 
floor plan 

27.09.2018 

AF2007 Proposed general 
arrangement plans level 3 
floor plan 

27.09.2018 

AF2008 Proposed general 
arrangement plans level 4 
floor plan 

27.09.2018 

AF2009 Proposed general 
arrangement plans level 5 
floor plan 

27.09.2018 

AF2010 Proposed general 
arrangement plans roof plan 

27.09.2018 

SK181024 Easement area 24.10.2018 

AF3000 West & south elevations 27.09.2018 

AF3001 Laneway elevation 27.09.2018 

AF4001 Section A 22.08.2018 

AF4002 Sections B & C 22.08.2018 

 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(2) STAGING OF CONSTRUCTION WORKS 

Approval is granted for the Construction Certificates to be issued in stages as 
follows: 

(a) Stage 1: Internal building works for lobby of existing tower and end of 
journey facilities 

(b) Stage 2: Refurbishment of existing podium and construction of new podium 
building 

(c) Stage 3: Construction of podium rooftop tenancy. 

  

49



The conditions of consent are to be satisfied prior to the issue of the relevant 
construction certificate noted in each condition. Where a stage is not nominated, 
the condition is to be satisfied prior to a construction certificate being issued for 
Stage 1. 

(3) ALLOCATION OF PARKING 

The number of car parking spaces to be provided for the development shall 
comply with the table below. Details confirming the parking numbers shall be 
submitted to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of a 
Construction Certificate. 

Car Parking Type Number 
Office and business parking 68 
Accessible office, business, retail parking 3 
Retail parking 4 
Subtotal  75 
Service vehicle spaces 
(1 SRV and 1 MRV) 

2 

Total 77 
 

(4) PARKING DESIGN 

Subject to the constraints of the existing basement structure, the he design, 
layout, signage, line marking, lighting and physical controls of all new or modified 
off-street parking facilities must comply with the minimum requirements of 
Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 Parking facilities Part 1: Off-street car 
parking, AS/NZS 2890.2 Parking facilities Part 2: Off-commercial vehicle facilities 
and AS/NZS 2890.6 Parking facilities Part 6: Off-street parking for people with 
disabilities. The details must be submitted to and approved by the Principal 
Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for the construction stage 
relevant to the construction of the corner podium addition. 

(5) BICYCLE PARKING AND END OF TRIP FACILITIES 

(a) The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces and end of trip facilities to 
be provided for the development must comply with the table below. 

Bicycle Parking Type Number Requirements 
Commercial/Retail 
Staff/Customer 

262 Class B bicycle parking facility 
in accordance with AS2890.3 

Ground Level Visitor 4 Class C bicycle parking facilities 
in accordance with AS2890.3 

End of Trip Facility 
Type  

Number  

Showers with change 
area 

27  

Personal lockers 266  

 

  

50



Notes: 

(i) If a basement storage area on title that is large enough to store a bike 
and is no smaller than a class 1 bike locker this can be counted as a 
space. 

(ii) 4 visitor bicycle parking spaces will be on the ground floor  

(b) The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with the 
minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS 2890.3 Parking Facilities 
Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities. The details must be submitted to and 
approved by the Principal Certifier confirming prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued for the construction stage relevant to the 
construction of the corner podium addition. 

(6) SMALL CAR PARKING SPACES AND DIMENSIONS 

(a) The design and layout of all off-street small car parking spaces must comply 
with the minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 - 
2004 Parking facilities Part 1: Off-street car parking and Council’s 
Development Control Plan.  The details must be submitted to and approved 
by the Principal Certifying Authority prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued for the construction stage relevant to the construction of the corner 
podium addition. 

(b) All small car spaces must be clearly marked and identifiable as small car 
spaces. The signs or line markings must be in place and approved by the 
Principal Certifying Authority prior to the  Occupation Certificate being 
issued for the relevant stage of the development and must be maintained in 
good order at all times. 

(7) INTERCOM FOR VISITORS 

Where a boom gate or barrier control is in place, the visitor spaces must be 
accessible to visitors by the location of an intercom (or card controller system) at 
the car park entry and at least 4m clear of relevant road frontage , wired to all 
units. The intercom must comply with Australian Standard AS 1428.2-1992: 
Design for access and mobility - Enhance and additional requirements - Building 
and facilities Sections 22 and 23. 

(8) ON SITE LOADING AREAS AND OPERATION 

All loading and unloading operations associated with servicing the site must be 
carried out within the confines of the site, at all times and must not obstruct other 
properties/units or the public way. 

At all times the service vehicle docks, car parking spaces and access driveways 
must be kept clear of goods and must not be used for storage purposes, including 
garbage storage. 

(9) SECURITY GATES 

Where a car park is accessed by a security gate, that gate must be located at 
least 6 metres within the site from the relevant street frontage. 

51



(10) SERVICE VEHICLE SIZE LIMIT 

The size of vehicles servicing the property must be a maximum length of 8.8 
metres. 

(11) TRAFFIC WORKS 

Any proposals for alterations to the public road, involving traffic and parking 
arrangements, must be designed in accordance with RMS Technical Directives 
and must be referred to and agreed to by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee prior to any work commencing on site. 

(12) VEHICLE FOOTWAY CROSSING 

A separate application is to be made to, and approved by, Council for the 
construction of any proposed vehicle footway crossing or for the removal of any 
existing crossing and replacement of the footpath formation where any such 
crossings are no longer required. 

All disused or redundant vehicle crossings and laybacks must be removed and 
footway, kerb, gutter and road restoration reinstated in accordance with Council’s 
standards, to suit the adjacent finished footway and edge treatment materials, 
levels and details, or as otherwise directed by Council officers. All construction 
and replacement works are to be completed in accordance with the approved 
plans prior to the issue of the  Occupation Certificate for the altered basement. 

Note: In all cases the construction materials should reinforce the priority of 
pedestrian movement over that of the crossing vehicle. 

(13) SECTION 61 CONTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE - REGISTERED QUANTITY 
SURVEYOR'S DETAILED COST REPORT - SUBMITTED AND VERIFIED 
PRIOR TO ISSUE OF CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE 

A cash contribution comprising 1% of the total cost of the development is payable 
to the City of Sydney pursuant to section 61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988 and 
the Central Sydney Contribution (Amendment) Plan 2002/ Central Sydney 
Development Contributions Plan 2013 in accordance with the following: 

(a) Prior to any Construction Certificate being issued, evidence must be 
provided of Council’s written verification of the amount of the contribution 
as required in (b) below, and then that the levy has been paid to the Council 
in accordance with this condition.  Payment may be by EFTPOS (debit card 
only), CASH or a BANK CHEQUE made payable to the City of Sydney. 
Direct debit, personal or company cheques will not be accepted. 

(b) The contribution must not be paid to the City of Sydney until it is 
accompanied by separate written verification by the City of Sydney of the 
specific amount payable. In order to obtain such verification, the “City of 
Sydney Registered Quantity Surveyor's Detailed Cost Report” indicating the 
itemised cost of the development must be completed and submitted to 
Council by the Certifying Authority (CA), together with copies of the plans 
the subject of the application for the Construction Certificate.  A copy of the 
required format for the “City of Sydney Registered Quantity Surveyor's 
Detailed Cost Report” may be obtained from the City of Sydney One Stop 

52



Shop, any of the Neighbourhood Service Centres and the City of Sydney’s 
website (www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au). 

(c) The Council will consider the documentation submitted under subclause (b) 
and determine the cost of the proposed development having regard to the 
information submitted and to such other matters as it considers appropriate 
and will notify the CA accordingly. 

(d) The items to be included in the calculation of the cost of development are 
demolition works, site remediation including decontamination, excavation 
and site preparation, construction costs, fit out, professional fees as part of 
the design (including design competitions) documentation and 
implementation process, fixed building machinery, equipment and 
appliances, kitchens and bar areas, car parking, air conditioning plant and 
equipment, services (fire, mechanical ventilation, electrical, hydraulic), 
ceilings, fire protection devices, installation of services (power, water, 
sewer, telephone), lifts and other essential machinery, floor coverings, 
Building Code of Australia compliance works, replacement of existing 
materials, fixtures and fittings, construction related insurance, assessment 
and construction related fees, charges and GST and any other matter not 
expressly excluded in (e) below. 

(e) The items to be excluded in the calculation of the cost of development are 
the cost of land, marketing expenses (excluding display suites etc), finance 
and interest, building insurance after practical completion, drapery, 
commercial stock inventory, loose furniture, loose equipment, loose 
electrical appliances, minor maintenance of existing retained fixtures 
(patching, repainting) and stamp duty.  

Please contact Council’s Planning Administration staff at 
planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au to confirm the amount 
payable, prior to payment. 

(14) RESTRICTION OF CAR PARKING REDUCTION / END OF JOURNEY – 
CENTRAL SYDNEY 

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued for the corner podium addition or 
the use of this section of the building commencing, whichever is earlier, a 
documentary restrictive covenant to the effect that 421sqm of the building has 
been approved as end of journey and 71sqm of the building has been approved 
as car parking reduction is to be registered on the Title of the development site 
pursuant to section 88E of the Conveyancing Act 1919. The covenant is to be 
created appurtenant to Council and at no cost to Council. 

(15) BUILDING HEIGHT OF PODIUM BUILDING 

(a) The height of the building must not exceed RL 44.090 (AHD) to the top of 
the building and RL 40.585 (AHD) to the parapet of the building. 

(b) Prior to the final Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor 
must provide certification that the height of the building accords with (a) 
above, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

53



(16) FLOOR SPACE RATIO - CENTRAL SYDNEY 

The following applies to Floor Space Ratio: 

(a) The Floor Space Ratio of the proposal must not exceed 13.2:1 calculated 
in accordance with the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. For the 
purpose of the calculation of FSR, the Gross Floor Area of the approved 
development is 44,270sqm. 

(b) Prior to the final Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor 
must provide certification of the total and component Gross Floor Areas (by 
use) in the development, utilising the definition under Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 applicable at the time of development consent, to 
the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(c) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate for the corner podium 
addition, Council’s written verification must be obtained, confirming that 
1,424sqm of heritage floor space was allocated (purchased and transferred) 
to the development, being that gross floor area in excess of 12.65:1 as 
specified in the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(17) COMPLIANCE WITH SUBMITTED MATERIALS AND SAMPLES BOARD 

The design details of the proposed building facade including all external finishes, 
colours and glazing must be in accordance with the materials schedule and 
sample board, and specifications prepared by FJMT dated 5 November 2018. 

(18) USE - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED 

A separate development application for the fitout and use of each individual 
tenancy and the use of the roof top area must be submitted to and approved by 
Council prior to that fitout or use commencing. 

(19) REFLECTIVITY 

The Principal Certifier must ensure that the visible light reflectivity from building 
materials used on the facade of the building does not exceed 20% prior to issue 
of the Stage 2 Construction Certificate. 

(20) SIGNS - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED 

A separate development application for any proposed signs additional to those 
approved as part of this consent (other than exempt or complying signs under 
Council’s exempt and complying DCPs or State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 2008) must be submitted to and 
approved by Council prior to the erection or display of any such signs. 

(21) NOISE – COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Noise from commercial plant and industrial development must not exceed 
a project amenity/intrusiveness noise level or maximum noise level in 
accordance with relevant requirements of the NSW EPA Noise Policy for 
Industry 2017 (NPfI) unless agreed to by the City’s Area Planning Manager. 
Further: 

54

https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf


(i) Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance with 
the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfI unless 
otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager. 

(ii) Commercial plant is limited to heating, ventilation, air conditioning, 
refrigeration and energy generation equipment. 

(b) An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not exceed 
the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when assessed 
inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise sensitive 
commercial premises at any time. Further: 

(i) The noise level and the background noise level shall both be 
measured with all external doors and windows of the affected 
residence closed.  

(ii) Background noise measurements must not include noise from the 
development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at the 
affected premise. 

(c) Corrections in Fact Sheet C of the NPfI are applicable to relevant noise from 
the development measured in accordance with this condition, however 
duration corrections are excluded from commercial noise. 

(22) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION 
AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES 

(a) All performance parameters, requirements, engineering assumptions and 
recommendations contained in the acoustic report prepared by Arup, dated 
22 March 2018, ref 246305, titled 388 George Street – New Podium DA 
Acoustic Report, Council Ref 2018/221554 must be implemented as part of 
the detailed design assessment and implemented into the design drawings 
prior to the commencement of the use of the premises in accordance with 
the requirements of (b) and (c) below and to the satisfaction of the Principal 
Certifier. 

(b) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, the construction drawings 
and construction methodology must be assessed and certified by a suitably 
qualified acoustic consultant* (see definition below) to be in accordance 
with the requirements of the DA acoustic report set out below. Specifically, 
the consultant will prepare a written Acoustic Certification Report with 
reference to drawings, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(c) Prior to the issue of any relevant Occupation Certificate, a suitable qualified 
acoustic consultant is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report to the 
satisfaction of the Principal Certifier that the development complies with the 
requirements set out in the Report and in (a) and (b) above. 

Note: Suitably qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member. 

55

https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf


(23) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND VIBRATION 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A site specific noise management plan shall be submitted to the Council for 
comment and approval prior to issue of a Construction Certificate for the 
demolition stage (Stage 1).  

The Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person who possesses the 
qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the Australian Acoustic 
Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the Australian Association of 
Acoustic Consultants.  

The plan must include but not be limited to the following:- 

(a) Identification of noise sensitive receivers near to the site. 

(b) A prediction as to the level of noise impact likely to affect the nearest noise 
sensitive receivers from the use and proposed number of high noise 
intrusive appliances intended to be operated onsite. A statement should 
also be submitted outlining whether or not predicted noise levels will comply 
with the noise criteria stated within the City of Sydney Construction Hours 
/Noise Code of Practice 1992 for the typical construction hours of 07.00am 
to 7.00pm. Where resultant site noise levels are likely to be in exceedance 
of this noise criteria then a suitable proposal must be given as to the 
duration and frequency of respite periods that will be afforded to the 
occupiers of neighbouring property. 

(c) A representative background noise measurement (LA90, 15 minute) should be 
submitted, assessed in the vicinity of any potentially affected receiver 
locations and measured in accordance with AS 1055:1.2.1997. 

(d) Confirmation of the level of community consultation that has/is and will be 
undertaken with Building Managers/ occupiers of the main adjoining noise 
sensitive properties likely to be most affected by site works and the 
operation of plant/machinery particularly during the demolition and 
excavation phases. 

(e) Confirmation of noise monitoring methodology that is to be undertaken 
during the main stages of work at neighbouring noise sensitive properties 
in order to keep complaints to a minimum and to ensure that noise from site 
works complies with the noise criteria contained within City's Construction 
Noise Code. 

(f) What course of action will be undertaken following receipt of a complaint 
concerning offensive noise. 

(g) Details of any noise mitigation measures that have been outlined by an 
acoustic consultant or otherwise that will be deployed on site to reduce 
noise impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive property to 
a minimum. 

(h) What plant and equipment is to be used on site, the level of sound mitigation 
measures to be undertaken in each case and the criteria adopted in their 
selection taking into account the likely noise impacts on the occupiers of 
neighbouring property and other less intrusive technologies available.USE 
OF INTRUSIVE APPLIANCES – NOT APPROVED 

56



This development consent does not extend to the use of appliances which emit 
noise of a highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and hydraulic hammers) 
or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of Sydney 
Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992”. 

A separate Section 4.55 application must be submitted to the Council for the use 
of any equipment of a  highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and hydraulic 
hammers) or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of 
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992. 

 

SCHEDULE 1B 
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH 
AND BUILDING 

(25) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A Construction Traffic Management Plan must be submitted to and approved by 
Council prior to any Construction Certificate being issued. 

(26) CONSTRUCTION PEDESTRIAN AND TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) The applicant shall prepare a Construction Pedestrian and Traffic 
Management Plan (CPTMP), in consultation with the Sydney Coordination 
Office and Sydney Light Trail Team within TfNSW. The applicant shall 
submit a copy of the final plan to the Coordinator General, Transport 
Coordination for endorsement, prior to the commencement of any work on 
site. The CPTMP needs to specify, but not be limited to, the following: 

(i) Location of the proposed work zone 

(ii) Haulage routes 

(iii) Construction vehicle access arrangements 

(iv) Proposed construction hours 

(v) Estimated number of construction vehicle movements 

(vi) Construction program 

(vii) Consultation strategy for liaison with surrounding stakeholders 

(viii) Any potential impacts to general traffic, cyclists, pedestrians and bus 
services within the vicinity of the site from construction vehicles during 
construction of the proposed works 

(ix) Cumulative construction impacts of projects including Sydney light rail 
project and several surrounding private developments. Existing 
CPTMPs for developments within or around the development site 
should be referenced in the CPTMP to ensure that coordination of 
works activities are managed to minimise impacts on the CBD road 
network; and  

57



(x) Should any impacts be identified, the duration of the impacts and 
measures proposed to mitigate any associated general traffic, public 
transport, pedestrian and cyclist impacts should be clearly identified 
and included in the CPTMP. 

(b) The applicant shall provide the builder’s direct contact number to small 
businesses adjoining or impacted by the construction work and the 
Transport Management Centre and Sydney Coordination Office within 
Transport for NSW to resolve issues relating to traffic, freight, servicing and 
pedestrian access during construction in real time. The applicant is 
responsible for ensuring the builder’s direct contact number is current 
during any stage of construction.  

(27) ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY STATEMENT FORM 

An annual Fire Safety Statement must be given to Council and the NSW Fire 
Brigade commencing within 12 months after the date on which the initial 
Interim/Final Fire Safety Certificate is issued or the use commencing, whichever 
is earlier. 

(28) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR DESIGN – BCA (ALL BUILDING 
CLASSES) 

Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, structural details and a Structural 
Certificate for Design by a qualified practising structural engineer and in 
accordance with Clause A2.2(a)(iii) of the Building Code of Australia (applicable 
to Class 2-9 buildings) and Clause 1.2.2(iii) of Volume 2 of the BCA (applicable 
to Class 1 and 10 buildings) must be submitted to the satisfaction of Council 
(where Council is the Principal Certifier). 

(29) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR EXISTING BUILDING – ALTERATIONS 
AND ADDITIONS 

A qualified practising certified structural engineer must provide structural 
certification to Council (where Council is the Principal Certifier) verifying that the 
existing structure can adequately support the proposed new loads and the 
structural design complies with the Structural Provisions of Part B1 (Vol 1) and 
Part 2.1 (Vol 2) of the Building Code of Australia prior to a Construction Certificate 
being issued. The proposed additional loads and/or alterations must not cause a 
decrease in the existing structural performance of the building including its 
performance under earthquake actions (AS1170.4). 

(30) PHYSICAL MODELS 

(a) Prior to a final Occupation Certificate being issued for the new podium 
building, an accurate 1:500 scale model of the development as constructed 
must be submitted to Council for the City Model in Town Hall House. 

  

58



Note: 

(i) The models must be constructed in accordance with the Model 
Specifications available online at 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements Council’s modellers 
must be consulted prior to construction of the model.  

(ii) The models are to comply with all of the conditions of the 
Development Consent. 

(iii) The models must be amended to reflect any further modifications to 
the approval (under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act) that affect the external appearance of the building. 

(31) SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC CAD MODELS PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 
CERTIFICATE 

(a) Prior to a final Occupation Certificate being issued, an accurate 1:1 
electronic CAD model of the completed development must be submitted to 
Council for the electronic Visualisation City Model. 

(b) The data required to be submitted within the surveyed location must include 
and identify: 

(i) building design above and below ground in accordance with the 
development consent; 

(ii) all underground services and utilities, underground structures and 
basements, known archaeological structures and artefacts; 

(iii) a current two points on the site boundary clearly marked to show their 
Northing and Easting MGA (Map Grid of Australia) coordinates, which 
must be based on Established Marks registered in the Department of 
Lands and Property Information’s SCIMS Database with a Horizontal 
Position Equal to or better than Class C. 

The data is to be submitted as a DGN or DWG file on a Compact Disc. All 
modelling is to be referenced to the Map Grid of Australia (MGA) spatially 
located in the Initial Data Extraction file. 

(c) The electronic model must be constructed in accordance with the City’s 3D 
CAD electronic model specification. The specification is available online at 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements Council’s Modelling staff 
should be consulted prior to creation of the model. The data is to comply 
with all of the conditions of the Development Consent. 

(32) DILAPIDATION REPORT – MINOR 

Subject to the receipt of permission of the affected landowner, dilapidation 
report/s of adjoining buildings are to be prepared by an appropriately qualified 
practising structural engineer and submitted for the approval of the Principal 
Certifier: 

  

59

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements


(a) prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation works; and 

(b) on completion of construction demolition/excavation works. 

(33) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - BETWEEN 250 AND 2,500SQM 

Prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation/construction work, an 
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan (ESCP) must be submitted to and be 
approved by the Principal Certifier. The ESCP must: 

(a) Conform to the specifications and standards contained in Managing Urban 
Stormwater: Soils and Construction (Landcom, 2004); the Guidelines for 
Erosion and Sediment Control on Building Sites (City of Sydney, 2004); and 
the NSW Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997. 

(b) Include a drawing(s) that clearly shows: 

(i) location of site boundaries and adjoining roads 

(ii) approximate grades and indications of direction(s) of fall 

(iii) approximate location of trees and other vegetation, showing items for 
removal or retention 

(iv) location of site access, proposed roads and other impervious areas 

(v) existing and proposed drainage patterns with stormwater discharge 
points 

(vi) north point and scale 

(c) Specify how soil conservation measures will be conducted on site including: 

(i) timing of works 

(ii) locations of lands where a protective ground cover will, as far as is 
practicable, be maintained 

(iii) access protection measures 

(iv) nature and extent of earthworks, including the amount of any cut and 
fill 

(v) where applicable, the diversion of runoff from upslope lands around 
the disturbed areas 

(vi) location of all soil and other material stockpiles including topsoil 
storage, protection and reuse methodology 

(vii) procedures by which stormwater is to be collected and treated prior 
to discharge including details of any proposed pollution control 
device(s) 

(viii) frequency and nature of any maintenance program 

(ix) other site-specific soil or water conservation structures. 

60



(34) ROAD OPENING PERMIT 

A separate Road Opening Permit under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must 
be obtained from Council prior to the commencement of any: 

(a) Excavation in or disturbance of a public way, or 

(b) Excavation on land that, if shoring were not provided, may disturb the 
surface of a public road (including footpath). 

(35) EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS 

(a) Prior to the issue of a final Occupation Certificate for the development, a 
documentary Easement for Public Access, limited in stratum if so desired, 
is to be created and registered on the Title of the development site. The 
Easement is to be defined over the curved strip of land, of variable width, 
extending from the eastern alignment of George Street to the northern 
alignment of King Street generally over the paved walkway as shown on 
Drawing No. AF2003 Rev 3 dated 27 September 2018 and prepared by 
FJMT, for the development. The lower limit of the Easement is to nominally 
the upper surface of the paved walkway and the upper limit should be set 
to exclude the roof structure over the walkway. The Easement is to be 
created appurtenant to Council in terms granting unrestricted rights for 
public pedestrian access, without vehicles, exclusive of wheelchairs for the 
disabled, to Council’s satisfaction, 

(b) Prior to the issue of a final Occupation Certificate for the development, a 
documentary Positive Covenant is to be created and registered on the Title 
of the development site, appurtenant to Council. The Positive Covenant is 
to be created in terms indemnifying Council against any claims and 
damages arising from the use of the Right of Public Access, and is to require 
the maintenance of a $20,000,000 public indemnity insurance policy and is 
to require the maintenance, upkeep and repair of the Right of Public Access 
in accordance with Council’s requirements and to the satisfaction of 
Council. 

(36) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Proposed building floor levels and ground levels shown on the approved 
Development Application plans are indicative only and have not been 
approved by this consent. 

(b) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work,  alignment levels for the building 
and site frontages must be submitted to and approved by Council. The 
submission must be prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be in 
accordance with the City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and must be 
submitted with a completed and Levels and Gradients Approval Application 
form (available on the City’s website). 

(c) These alignment levels, as approved by Council, are to be incorporated into 
the plans submitted with the application for a Construction Certificate for 
any civil, drainage and public domain work as applicable under this consent. 
If the proposed detailed design of the public domain requires changes to 
any previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended Alignment 

61



Levels submission must be submitted to and approved by Council to reflect 
these changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public 
domain work. 

(37) PAVING MATERIALS 

The surface of any material used or proposed to be used for the paving of 
colonnades, thoroughfares, plazas, arcades and the like which are used by the 
public must comply with AS/NZS 4586:2004 (including amendments) "Slip 
resistance classification of new pedestrian surface materials". 

(38) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public domain 
site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the direction 
that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the relevant 
street frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must be 
submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project description, 
identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date and authorship 
of the photographic record, the method of documentation and limitations of 
the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant 
and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-
exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, 
including the right to make copies available to third parties as though they 
were Council images. The signatures of both the applicant and the 
photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with the 
City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public 
Domain Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the development, 
whichever is earlier. 

62



(39) PRESERVATION OF SURVEY MARKS 

All works in City streets must ensure the preservation of existing permanent 
survey marks (a brass bolt, or a lead plug holding a brass tack, covered by a cast 
iron box). At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in 
the public way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made 
with the City's Project Manager Survey / Design Services to arrange for the 
recovery of the mark. 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a survey plan, clearly showing the 
location of all permanent survey marks fronting the site and within 5 metres on 
each side of the frontages must be submitted to Council. 

At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the public 
way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with the 
City’s Senior Surveyor to arrange for the recovery of the mark. 

A fee must be paid to the Council for the replacement of any permanent survey 
mark removed or damaged in accordance with the City's Schedule of Fees and 
Charges (Reinstatement of Survey Box). 

(40) PROTECTION OF SURVEY INFRASTRUCTURE 

Prior to the commencement of any work on site, a statement prepared by a 
Surveyor registered under the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002 must 
be submitted to Council verifying that a survey has been carried out in accordance 
with the Surveyor General’s Direction No. 11 – Reservation of Survey 
Infrastructure. Any Permanent Marks proposed to be or have been destroyed 
must be replaced, and a "Plan of Survey Information" must be lodged at the NSW 
Land Registry Services. 

Reason: To ensure that the survey control infrastructure and cadastral framework 
are preserved for the public benefit and in accordance with the Surveying and 
Spatial Information Act 2002. 

(41) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN 

(a) A detailed Public Domain Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified 
architect, urban designer, landscape architect or engineer and must be 
lodged with Council’s Public Domain Section and be approved by Council 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work or 
above ground building work, whichever is later. 

(b) The Public Domain Plan must document all works required to ensure that 
the public domain complies with the City of Sydney’s Public Domain 
Manual, Sydney Streets Code and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, 
including requirements for road pavement, traffic measures, footway 
pavement, kerb and gutter, drainage, vehicle crossovers, pedestrian ramps, 
lighting, street trees and landscaping, signage and other public domain 
elements. If an Alignment Levels condition applies to the development, the 
Public Domain Plan submission must incorporate the approved Alignment 
Levels. If the proposed detailed design of the public domain requires 
changes to any previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended 
Alignment Levels submission must be submitted to and approved by 
Council to reflect these changes prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued for public domain work. 

63



(c) The works to the public domain are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved Public Domain Plan and Alignment Levels plans and the Public 
Domain Manual before any Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of 
the development or before the use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(d) A Public Domain Works Deposit will be required for the public domain 
works, in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted fees and charges 
and the Public Domain Manual. The Public Domain Works Deposit must be 
submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee in favour of Council as 
security for completion of the obligations under this consent. 

(e) Council's Public Domain section must be contacted to determine the 
guarantee amount prior to lodgement of the guarantee. The guarantee must 
be lodged with Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(f) The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until all Public Domain works are 
completed and the required certifications, warranties and works-as-
executed documentation are submitted and approved by Council in writing. 
On satisfying the above requirements, 90% of the total securities will be 
released. The remaining 10% will be retained for the duration of the 
specified Defects Liability Period. 

(42) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS - HOLD POINTS AND HANDOVER 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work, 
including civil, drainage and subsurface works, , a set of hold points for 
approved public domain,  civil and drainage work is to be determined with 
and approved by the City's Public Domain section in accordance with the 
City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification. 

(b) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for public domain works 
and before the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development or 
before the use commences, whichever is earlier, electronic works-as-
executed (as-built) plans and documentation, certified by a suitably 
qualified, independent professional must be submitted to and accepted by 
Council for all public domain works. Completion and handover of the 
constructed public domain works must be undertaken in accordance with 
the City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification, including requirements for as-built documentation, 
certification, warranties and the defects liability period. 

(43) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT 

A Public Domain Damage Deposit calculated on the basis of 132 lineal metres of 
Granite site frontage must be lodged with Council in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges. The Public Domain Damage 
Deposit must be submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee in favour of 
Council as security for repairing any damage to the public domain in the vicinity 
of the site.  

The guarantee must be lodged with Council prior to an approval for demolition 
being granted or a Construction Certificate being issued, whichever is earlier.  

  

64



The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until the final Occupation Certificate 
has been issued and any rectification works to the footway and Public Domain 
are completed to Council’s satisfaction. On satisfying the above requirements 
90% of the total securities will be released, with the remaining 10% to be retained 
for the duration of the 12 months Defect Liability Period. 

(44) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS 

All works to the City’s public domain, including rectification of identified defects, 
are subject to a 12 month defects liability period from the date of final completion. 
The date of final completion will be nominated by Council on the Certificate of 
Completion for public domain works. 

(45) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS  

Drainage and service pit lids throughout the public domain shall be heelguard and 
bicycle safe, finish flush with the adjacent pavement to avoid trip hazards and be 
clear of obstructions for easy opening and cleaning. Pit lids shall be in accordance 
with the City of Sydney’s Sydney Streets Design Code and Sydney Streets 
Technical Specification. Details of drainage and service pit lids shall be submitted 
and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for the 
relevant stage of work. 

(46) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS 

(a) The existing stone kerbs on the George Street & King Street frontage[s] of 
the site are to be retained and properly protected during excavation and 
construction works. 

(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during excavation and construction works 
for the development, temporary removal and storage of the stone kerbs may 
be approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone kerbs (i.e. those that 
are in good condition as agreed by Council officers) must be re-installed in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s standard details and specifications 
after the construction works have been completed. Note: A temporary 
concrete kerb will need to be constructed to retain the footpath until the 
stone kerbs can be reinstalled. The removed stone kerbs are to be 
reinstalled prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. Note: all costs 
associated with the works are to be at no cost to the Council. 

(c) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s 
satisfaction or as otherwise advised by Council officers.  

(d) Where new crossings or temporary crossings are to be constructed to 
access the property, the affected kerb stones should be salvaged and 
reused wherever possible. 

(e) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with stone kerbs 
to match existing stones or as specified by City officers. All unused stone 
kerbs are to be salvaged and returned to the City’s store. 

(f) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed. 

(g) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone kerbs for 
stormwater kerb outlets. 

65



(47) TACTILE GROUND SURFACE INDICATORS AND HANDRAILS 

All tactile ground surface indicators, handrails and other elements required to 
provide access into the building / property must be located entirely within the 
private property boundary. 

(48) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for  excavation, 
civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work a detailed drainage engineering 
design, calculations and design for the stormwater overland flow path for 
the development must be: 

(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show the 
proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and  

(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, as 
amended from time to time; and 

(iii) submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the 
City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority.   

(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system an 
“Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" must be 
submitted to the City, together with an application fee in accordance with 
the City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges.   

(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to an 
approval or Construction Certificate being issued for excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), 
excluding approved preparatory or demolition work. 

(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage system 
require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with the City of 
Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive Covenant prior to 
a final Occupation Certificate being issued. 

On-site Detention 

(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention of 
stormwater must be ascertained and complied with.  

(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design of 
the on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance must be 
provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued, excluding for any approved preparatory, 
demolition or excavation works. 

(ii) Prior to the issue of a final Occupation Certificate, , a Positive 
Covenant must be registered on the property title for all drainage 
systems involving On-Site Detention (OSD) to ensure maintenance of 
the approved OSD system regardless of the method of connection. 

66



Stormwater Quality Assessment 

(d) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater quality assessment 
must be undertaken and must be approved by City of Sydney and a copy 
of the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority. 

A stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
drainage engineer to demonstrate how the development will be designed to 
ensure that the flow of post-development pollutants from the site due to 
stormwater will be reduced.  The water quality assessment must be 
submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s 
letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior 
to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work. 

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules of 
the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures must be 
submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority and a 
copy provided to the City of Sydney. 

Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation 

(e) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney for 
stormwater drainage works:  

(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of Sydney 
technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval letters and 
the requirements of this consent.   

(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a 
Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved 
stormwater drainage plans issued with the Construction Certificate, 
with variations to locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes 
clearly marked. 

(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, 
warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television 
reports) and associated documentation for the completed work must 
be prepared and certified by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer, in 
accordance with the requirements of the City of Sydney’s technical 
specifications, the Public Domain Manual, the Stormwater Drainage 
Manual, the conditions of this consent and all letters of approval 
issued by the City of Sydney for works in the public domain, and must 
be submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney. 

(f) Prior to the issue of the first Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, or before the use commences (whichever is earlier):  

(i) A copy of the City’s Certificate of Completion for all stormwater and 
drainage work undertaken in the public domain must be provided to 
the Principal Certifying Authority; 

67



(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, must be prepared, signed, dated and 
certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and be 
accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority. The Works-as-
Executed plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater 
drainage plans issued with the Construction Certificate, with 
variations to locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes 
clearly marked; 

(iii) a Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), 
showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must 
be submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority; 

(iv) evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed 
documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate 
and Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority; 

(g) The Principal Certifying Authority must submit a copy of the Works-As-
Executed plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet to the City of Sydney.  

(49) FLOOD PLANNING LEVELS 

The design of the buildings and structures on site must comply with the 
following criteria;  

(a)  The proposed floor levels for the retails, pedestrian links & the foyer 
including ground levels for the below specific areas of the proposed 
development, shall be set at or above the flood planning levels specific to 
the development site as estimated by Enstruct Group Pty Ltd in their 
“Flood assessment report for 388 George Street, Sydney” (Ref: DA 
2018/405 dated 21 August 2018) and to comply with City’s Interim 
Floodplain Management Policy. 

Point Description Proposed ground level 
1 Complex 388, Side door 1 17.08 m AHD 
2 Complex 388, side door 2 17.08 m AHD 
3 Complex 388, pedestrian link 17.08 m AHD 
4 Complex 388, revolving door 16.85 m AHD 
5 Complex 388, revolving door  16.85 m AHD 
6 Complex 388, SV & Fire CR 16.679 m AHD 

 

(b)  A design certification report prepared by a suitably qualified practitioner 
flood engineer, for floor levels of buildings and structures (for all habitable 
floor levels / for basement entrances) demonstrating compliance with the 
criteria under (a) of this condition shall be submitted to and be approved 
by the Principal Certifying Authority. A copy of the report and approval 
letter must be provided to the City Of Sydney prior to the issue of any 
Occupational Certificate. 

68



(50) FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT 

(a) Details of the flood mitigation measures for the new EOT lift works shall be 
submitted to and shall be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority prior 
to the issue of any Construction Certificate. A copy of the approved 
Certification report shall be provided to Council for record keeping 
purposes. 

(b) Flood protection is required for all flood events up to and including the 
minimum flood planning levels as estimated by Enstruct Group Pty Ltd in 
their “Flood assessment report for 388 George Street, Sydney” (Ref: DA 
2018/405 dated 21 August 2018). 

(c) Flood proofing is to be maintained for the life of the development. The 
design of the flood proofing is to be certified by a suitably qualified 
practitioner engineer with experience in flood proofing and is to be 
compatible with the design of the development set out in this development 
consent. The certification must ensure compliance with the relevant 
Australian Standards and codes for structural engineering. The certification 
must be supplied by the Applicant to the Certifying Authority and the Council 
prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate. 

(d) All flood protection features requiring power to operate must have 
alternative backup power source;  

(e) All electrical features including power points and other mechanical 
equipment must be set above the FPL. This must be shown on the detailed 
plans prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate. 

(f) A design certification report prepared by a suitably qualified practitioner 
engineer demonstrating compliance has been achieved of these 
requirements above  shall be submitted to and shall be approved by the 
Principal Certifying Authority prior to the issue of any Occupational 
Certificate. A copy of the report shall be provided to Council for record 
keeping purposes 

(51)  FLOOD EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 

(a) A Flood Emergency Response Plan is to be prepared by a suitably qualified 
flood engineer and be implemented as a positive covenant on the title of the 
property (and annexed to the positive covenant). The Flood Emergency 
Response Plan is to be implemented and operated by the building owner 
and/or Owners Corporation at all times.  

(b) The Flood Emergency Response Plan must include all measures required 
to be implemented to ensure the ongoing management of flooding risk in 
relation to the building, including (but not limited to) the following: 

(i) Describe the flood conditions in the vicinity of the site; 

(ii) If appropriate, direct persons on the site to seek refuge above the 
Probable Maximum Flood level for all levels of the building that are 
flood affected.  

(iii) Include a map directing residents and visitors to a refuge via a flood 
free pathway within the building; 

69



(iv) Provide details (as an appendix) of all proposed flood sensors (if any), 
their purpose, operation and maintenance (including the frequency of 
maintenance); 

(v) Provide details of lift design and operation in the event of a flood and 
specify how the lift will be deactivated in the event of a flood; 

(vi) Provide details of access to flood free areas for disabled persons; 

(vii) Make provision for three monthly testing by the building owner and/or 
Owners Corporation. 

(c) The building owner and/or Owners’ Corporation must enter into a service 
arrangement by which all identified faults or defects to all flood designed 
features of the building must be repaired within 24 hours. 

(d) No toxic or other hazardous materials are to be stored below the Flood 
Planning Level or in the basement levels.    

(e) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, the Flood Emergency 
Response Plan (FERP) is to be submitted to and approved by Principal 
Certifying Authority (PCA). A copy of the approved FERP shall be submitted 
to the Council for record keeping purpose. 

(f) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, the approved Flood 
Emergency Response Plan and positive covenant relating to the flooding 
gates shall be registered with the Land Title office. 

(52) FLOOD PROTECTION FEATURES  

Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate, the proposed Flood Protection 
System including all its features are to be tested by an independent floodplain 
management consultant, and a report confirming the full operation of the system 
is to be submitted to and approved by Principal Certifying Authority and a copy of 
the report shall be provided to Council for record keeping purposes. 

(53) POSITIVE COVENANT – FLOOD PROTECTION MEASURES  

Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development, a 
documentary Positive Covenant is to be created and registered on the Title of the 
development site, appurtenant to Council.  

The Positive Covenant is to be created in terms indemnifying Council against any 
claims and damages arising from the use of all flood protection measures installed 
in the building, and is to require the maintenance of a $20,000,000 public 
indemnity insurance policy to which Council is a named party and is to require the 
maintenance, upkeep and repair of all Flood protection measures installed in the 
building to ensure they are fully operational at all times. Such indemnity is to be 
transferable to all future owners of the building. 

The positive covenant is to list all the flood protection measures installed in the  
portions of the building subject to this consent and record the ongoing obligation 
of the owners of the building to comply with the Flood Emergency Response Plan 
required to be submitted and approved under Condition 55 - Flood Emergency 
Response Plan.  

70



(54) APPLICATION FOR HOARDINGS AND SCAFFOLDING INSTALLED ON OR 
ABOVE A PUBLIC ROAD AND OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES INCLUDING 
BUILDING MAINTENANCE UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD 

(a) A separate application under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be made to Council to erect a 
hoarding and/or scaffolding (temporary structures) on or above a public 
road (footway and/or roadway). 

(b) Where an approval (Permit) is granted allowing the placement of temporary 
structures on or above a public road the structures must comply fully with 
Council’s Hoarding and Scaffolding Policy; Guidelines for Hoardings and 
Scaffolding; and the conditions of approval (Permit) granted including: 

(i) maintaining a current and valid approval for the full duration that the 
temporary structure/s is in place; 

(ii) maintaining temporary structure/s in a structurally sound and stable 
condition for the full duration of installation (Clause 2.11.1); 

(iii) bill posters and graffiti being removed within 24 hours of their 
placement (Clause 2.11.2); 

(iv) maintaining temporary structures and the public place adjoining the 
work site in a clean and tidy condition including repainting and/or 
repair of graphics (Clauses 2.11.1, 2.11.4, 2.14.1 and 3.9.3); 

(v) maintaining a watertight deck (Type B hoardings) to prevent liquids 
including rainwater, falling onto the footway/roadway surfaces 
(Clauses 3.9.1 and 3.9.4); 

(vi) approved site sheds on the decks of a Type B hoarding being fully 
screened from the public place (Clause 3.9.5); 

(vii) material and equipment not being placed or stored on the deck of 
Type B hoardings, unless specifically approved by Council (Clause 
3.9.4); 

(viii) providing and maintaining operational artificial lighting systems under 
Type B hoardings including at high-bay truck entry points (Clause 
3.9.9); and 

(ix) ensuring all required signage is provided and maintained (Clauses 
3.9.3, 3.9.6, 3.9.8, 3.10.1 and 4.2). 

If it is proposed to operate a hoisting device including a building maintenance unit 
above a public road which swings, hoists material/equipment and/or slews any 
part of the device over the public road, a separate application under Section 68 
of the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must 
be made to Council to obtain approval. 

Note: 'Building maintenance unit' means a power-operated suspended platform 
and associated equipment on a building specifically designed to provide 
permanent access to the faces of the building for maintenance (Work Health and 
Safety Regulation 2011). 

71



(55) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including a 
road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to be 
submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

(56) STREET TREE PROTECTION 

Street trees must be protected in accordance with the Australian Standard 4970 
Protection of Trees on Development Sites. All street trees must be protected 
during the construction works as follows: 

(a) Tree trunk and major limb protection must be undertaken prior to or during 
the installation of any hoarding or scaffoldings. The protection must be 
installed by a qualified Arborist (AFQ 2 or 3) and must include: 

(i) An adequate clearance, minimum 250mm, must be provided between 
the structure and tree branches, limbs and truck at all times; 

(ii) Tree trunk/s and/or major branches, located within 500mm of any 
hoarding or scaffolding structure, must be protected by wrapped 
hessian or similar material to limit damage, and 

(iii) Timber planks (50mm x 100mm or similar) must be placed around 
tree trunk/s. The timber planks must be spaced at 100mm intervals, 
and must be fixed against the trunk with tie wire, or strapping. The 
hessian and timber planks must not be fixed to the tree in any 
instance, or in any fashion, 

(iv) Tree trunk and major branch protection is to remain in place for the 
duration of construction and development works, and must be 
removed at the completion of the project. 

(b) All hoarding support columns are to be placed a minimum of 300mm from 
the edge of the existing tree pits/setts, so that no sinking or damage occurs 
to the existing tree setts. Supporting columns must not be placed on any 
tree roots that are exposed. 

(c) Materials or goods, including site sheds, must not be stored or placed: 

(i) around or under the tree canopy; or 

(ii) within two (2) metres of tree trunks or branches of any street trees. 

(d) Protective fencing (1.8 metre chain wire mesh fencing) must be erected on 
top of the hoarding [Tree Management Team to insert location of hoarding 
and affected trees] to protect branches during the construction works. 

(e) Any damage sustained to street tree/s as a result of the erection of 
hoardings, scaffolding, or due to the loading/unloading of vehicles adjacent 
the site, must be immediately reported to the Council's Street Tree Contract 
Coordinator on 9265 9333, in order to determine the appropriate action for 
maintaining the health and structural integrity of any damaged street tree. 

72



(57) ELECTRICITY SUBSTATION 

If required by the applicable energy supplier, the owner must dedicate to the 
applicable energy supplier, free of cost, an area of land within the development 
site, but not in any landscaped area or in any area visible from the public domain, 
to enable an electricity substation to be installed. The size and location of the 
substation is to be submitted for approval of Council and Ausgrid, prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued or the commencement of the use, whichever 
is earlier. 

(58) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN) 

(a) The approved plans must be submitted to Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online 
service to determine whether the development will affect Sydney Water’s 
sewer and water mains, stormwater drains and/or easements, and if further 
requirements need to be met. Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online service is 
available at www.sydneywater.com.au, (see Plumbing, Building & 
Development and then Sydney Water "Tap-in"). 

(b) The Consent Authority or a Principal Certifier must ensure that Sydney 
Water has appropriately stamped the plans before the commencement of 
work. 

(59) UTILITY SERVICES 

To ensure that utility authorities are advised of the development: 

(a) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate a survey is to be carried out 
of all utility services within and adjacent to the site including relevant 
information from utility authorities and excavation if necessary, to determine 
the position and level of services. 

(b) Prior to the commencement of work the applicant is to obtain written 
approval from the utility authorities (e.g. Energy Australia, Sydney Water, 
and Telecommunications Carriers) in connection with the relocation and/or 
adjustment of the services affected by the construction of the underground 
structure. Any costs in the relocation, adjustment or support of services are 
to be the responsibility of the developer. 

(60) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - COMMERCIAL 

(a) The Waste Management Plan accompanying this Development Application 
has not been approved by this consent.   

(b) A Waste Management Plan is to be approved by the Principal Certifier prior 
to a Construction Certificate being issued. The plan must comply with the 
Council's Policy for Waste Minimisation in New Developments 2005. All 
requirements of the approved Building Waste Management Plan must be 
implemented during construction of the development. 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(c) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste handling 
works have been completed in accordance with: the Waste Management 

73

http://www.sydneywater.com.au/


Plan; other relevant development consent conditions; and Council's Policy 
for Waste Minimisation in New Developments 2005. 

(61) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR 

The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Policy for 
Waste Minimisation in New Developments 2005 which requires facilities to 
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal. 

(62) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a 
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW, 
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) Asbestos 
Removal Licence which ever applies. 

A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in writing 
of the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. The 
notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor and 
include a contact person for the site together with telephone number and 
email address. 

(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and Safety 
Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover document 
entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work place: Code of 
Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City of Sydney 
Managing Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and associated 
guidelines. 

(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly indicate 
the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. Signs must 
be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the asbestos 
removal work area is and should remain in place until removal is completed 
and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. Responsibilities for the 
security and safety of the asbestos removal site and removal must be 
specified in the asbestos removal control plan (where required). This 
includes inaccessible areas that are likely to contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that 
asbestos removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed at 
all of the main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where 
asbestos is present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of 
light-weight material and adequately secured so they remain in prominent 
locations. The signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -1994 Safety 
Signs for the Occupational Environment for size, illumination, location and 
maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

74



(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without 
the written approval of Council. 

(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 
594mm (A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type 
size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(iii) site activities and time frames. 

(63) NOTIFICATION – NEW CONTAMINATION EVIDENCE 

Any new information which comes to light during remediation, demolition or 
construction works which has the potential to alter previous conclusions about 
site contamination shall be notified to the City’s Area Planning Manager and the 
Principal Certifying Authority immediately. 

(64) CONSTRUCTION AND FITOUT OF FOOD PREMISES 

The construction, fitout and finishes of the food premises must comply with 
Standard 3.2.3 of the Australian and New Zealand Food Standards Code under 
the Food Act 2003 and AS 4674 – 2004 Design, Construction and Fitout of Food 
Premises. 

Note: Copies of AS 4674-2004 may be obtained from the Standards Australia 
Customer Service on telephone 1300 65 46 46 or by visiting the website 
www.standards.com.au.  

Copies of the Food Standards Code (Australia) may be obtained by contacting 
the Food Standards Australia and New Zealand Authority on telephone (02) 6271 
2222, email info@foodstandards.gov.au or by visiting the website 
www.foodstandards.gov.au. 

(65) GREASE AND LIQUID WASTE TRAPS 

(a) A grease trap if required by Sydney Water must be installed in accordance 
with Sydney Water requirements and:   

(i) Must be installed by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in 
accordance with the Plumbing Code of Australia; 

(ii) The grease trap must be not be located in any kitchen, food 
preparation or food storage area; 

(iii) Be suitably constructed and installed in a location which allows it to 
be easily and effectively cleaned and emptied; and 

75

http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/


(iv) Be suitably constructed and located as not to encourage the 
harbourage of pests and be effectively pest proofed. 

(b) In-sink and in-floor waste bucket traps must be installed in all sinks and floor 
wastes in all commercial kitchens and food preparation areas and must be 
carried out by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in accordance with 
the Plumbing Code of Australia. 

(66) NOTIFICATION OF CONDUCT OF FOOD BUSINESS 

(a) The use shall not commence until the food business has notified Council 
with their food business details in accordance with the Food Act 2003 and 
The Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code – 3.2.2 – Food Safety 
Practices and General Requirements, Clause 4. 

(b) An Occupation Certificate will not be issued until such notification has been 
received by Council in accordance with Clause (a) of this condition. 

Note: Registration forms are available on Council's website 
www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au. 

(67) SANITARY FACILITIES – FOOD PREMISES 

The sanitary facilities must be separated from all food handling areas via an 
airlock, self-closing door or mechanical ventilation in accordance with the 
provisions of the Building Code of Australia, Part F 3.1, 4.8 and 4.9. 

(68) WASTE STORAGE AREA 

(a) To ensure the adequate storage and collection of waste from the food 
premises, all garbage and recyclable materials emanating from the 
premises must be stored in a designated waste storage area. The waste 
storage area must be designed and constructed in accordance with AS 
4674 – Design, Construction and Fit-out of Food Premises, Australia New 
Zealand Food Standards Code 3.2.3 – Food Premises and Equipment and 
comply with the Council Policy for Waste Minimisation in New 
Developments, and must be: 

(i) Provided with a hose tap connected to the water supply. 

(ii) Paved with impervious floor materials. 

(iii) Coved at the intersection of the floor and walls. 

(iv) Graded and drained to a waste disposal system in accordance with 
the requirements of the relevant regulatory authority (Sydney Water). 

(v) Adequately ventilated (mechanically or naturally) so that odour 
emissions do not cause offensive odour or air pollution as defined by 
the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 or a nuisance. 

(vi) Fitted with appropriate interventions to meet fire safety standards in 
accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

76

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


(vii) Provided with the appropriate number and size of bins adequate for 
the storage of waste generated by the business, including recycling. 

(viii) Appropriately managed so that it does not attract pests or create litter. 

(b) Detailed plans and specifications for the construction of the waste storage 
area must be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier prior to 
the issue of the relevant Construction Certificate and must be constructed 
in accordance with such plans and specifications prior to the issuance of 
the corresponding Occupation Certificate. 

(69) FUTURE FOOD USE - MECHANICAL VENTILATION PROVISION 

Prior to the issue of a relevant Construction Certificate, the mechanical exhaust 
systems and/or shafts must be designed to allow for the discharge of effluent air 
above roof level and must be designed with capacity to accommodate exhaust 
ducts and mechanical ventilation systems for all commercial tenancies proposed 
with the potential to become a food premises in future. Systems must be designed 
in accordance with AS1668.2 – The Use of Ventilation and Air-conditioning in 
Buildings – Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings, and AS1668.1 – The Use of 
Mechanical Ventilation and Air-Conditioning in Buildings – Fire and Smoke 
Control in Multi-compartment Buildings. 

77



SCHEDULE 1C 
DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(70) TRANSPORT ACCESS GUIDE 

A Transport Access Guide (TAG) must be implemented and maintained by the 
operator/s of the premises to inform patrons about accessing the site by 
sustainable transport options including public transport, taxis, cycling and walking 
or a combination of these modes. A Transport Access Guide (TAG) 
Implementation Plan including the following shall be submitted to and approved 
by Council prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate for the site/use:    

• An outline of all components and communication methods of the Transport 
Access Guide including but not limited to website/digital information, 
promotion by staff such as with phone bookings, printed material such as 
media or letterbox advertising, etc. Copies of any relevant printed material 
should be submitted with the Implementation Plan, and 

• Methods by which the various components of the Transport Access Guide 
will be communicated to staff and made available to customers.    

(71) LOADING SERVICING MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) A Loading Servicing Management Plan is to be prepared and submitted to 
Council and approved, prior to issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

(b) The Plan is to be prepared for distribution to relevant tenants outlining how 
the loading dock will be managed and used by all relevant tenants, not just 
the retail tenancies, supermarket.  

(c) A management plan, loading dock manager, loading schedule or similar 
must be prepared so all users are aware of their entitlements and to avoid 
too many deliveries being at the dock at any one time. The Plan must 
include, but is not limited to, management of deliveries to ensure vehicles 
are not waiting on public streets to enter the site. 

(d) Once approved, this management plan is to be provided to all relevant 
tenants and external users of the loading area. 

(72) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy 
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or 
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing 
building. 

(73) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work, and activities 
in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the 
commencement of work (eg loading and unloading of goods, transferring of 
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried 

78



out between the hours of 7.00am and 7.00pm on Mondays to Fridays, 
inclusive, and 7.00am and 5.00pm on Saturdays, and no work must be 
carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 
and Australian Standard 2436-2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street 
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid 
the loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid 
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding. 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(74) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 

No portion of the proposed structure shall encroach onto the adjoining properties. 

(75) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(76) SURVEY 

All footings, walls and floor slabs adjacent to a boundary must be set out by a 
registered surveyor. On commencement of brickwork or wall construction a 
survey and report, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to the 
Principal Certifier indicating the position of external walls in relation to the 
boundaries of the allotment. Any encroachments by the subject building over 
adjoining boundaries or roads must be removed prior to continuation of building 
construction work. 

(77) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION 

A Survey Certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor must be submitted at the 
completion of the building work certifying the location of the building in relation to 
the boundaries of the allotment. 

79



(78) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their loads 
fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

(79) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL 

The Soil and Water Management Plan (SWMP) or Erosion and Sediment Control 
Plan (ESCP) which has been approved by the Principal Certifier must be 
implemented in full during the construction period. 

During the construction period; 

(a) erosion and sediment controls must be regularly inspected, repaired and 
maintained in working order sufficient for a 10 year Average Recurrence 
Interval (ARI) rainfall event; 

(b) erosion and sediment control signage available from Council must be 
completed and attached to the most prominent structure visible at all times 
when entering the site for the duration of construction; and 

(c) building operations and stockpiles must not be located on the public footway 
or any other locations which could lead to the discharge of materials into 
the stormwater system. 

(80) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council 
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval 
for a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of 
the days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various 
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any 
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 
68 of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(81) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips 
or the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will 
result in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

80



(82) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant 
and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which 
warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must be obtained from 
Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 
hours beforehand for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council 
will create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case 
of full road closures and partial road closures which, in the opinion of 
Council, will create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials, 
hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site 
tower cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outside of 
approved hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit being issued 
by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and/or 
Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

(83) HAZARDOUS AND INDUSTRIAL WASTE 

Hazardous and/or industrial waste arising from the demolition/operational 
activities must be removed and/or transported in accordance with the 
requirements of the NSW Work Cover Authority pursuant to the provisions of the 
following: 

(a) Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 

(b) Protection of the Environment Operations (Waste) Regulation 2005 

(c) Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2001 

(d) Work Health and Safety Act 2011 

(e) Work Health and Safety Regulation 2011. 

81



SCHEDULE 2 
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 
The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.a

82



Attachment B1 

Selected Drawings 

 

83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



Attachment B2 

Selected Drawings 

 

95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



Attachment C 

Clause 4.6 Variation 

 

106



 

 Clause 4.6 Variation to Development 

Standard – Floor Space Ratio 

 

388 George Street, Sydney 

 

Submitted to City of Sydney Council  

On behalf of IOF Custodian Pty Ltd and Brookfield 

388 Landowner Pty Ltd 

 

2 November 2018  | 15613 

  

 

 

 

107



 

 

 

 

CONTACT  

Harry Quartermain  Principal, Planning  hquartermain@ethosurban.com  02 9956 6962 

 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without prior written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. 

This document has been prepared by: This document has been reviewed by: 

  
 

 

 

 

Harry Quartermain   2 November 2018 Clare Swan 2 November 2018 

 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. Ethos Urban operates under a Quality Management System. This 
report has been prepared and reviewed in accordance with that system.  If the report is not signed, it is a preliminary draft. 

VERSION NO. 1 DATE OF ISSUE REVISION BY: LF APPROVED BY: HQ 

    

 

 Ethos Urban Pty Ltd 

ABN 13 615 087 931. 
www.ethosurban.com 

173 Sussex Street, Sydney  
NSW 2000  t 61 2 9956 6952 

 

108



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  2 
 

 

1.0 Introduction 3 

2.0 Development Standard to be Varied 4 

3.0 Nature of the Variation Sought 4 

4.0 Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the 

development standard is unreasonable or 

unnecessary in the circumstances of the case 5 
4.1 The objectives of the development standard are 

achieved notwithstanding the non-compliance (First 

Method) 6 

5.0 There are sufficient environmental planning 

grounds to justify contravening the development 

standard 9 

6.0 It is in the public interest because it is consistent 

with the objectives of the particular standard and 

the zone 9 
6.1 Consistency with the objectives of the development 

standard 9 
6.2 Consistency with the B8 – Metropolitan Centre 

objectives 9 

7.0 Secretary’s Concurrence 11 

8.0 Conclusion 12 
 

 

 

Figures 

Figure 1: Floor space ratio summary 5 
 

 

  

109



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  3 
 

1.0 Introduction  

This Clause 4.6 variation request has been prepared by Ethos Urban on behalf of IOF Custodian Pty Ltd and 

Brookfield 388 Landowner Pty Ltd. It is submitted to City of Sydney Council  (the Council) in support of a 

Development Application (DA) for a podium redevelopment at 388 George Street, Sydney.  

 

Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP) enables Council to grant consent for development 

even though the development varies a development standard. The clause aims to provide an appropriate degree of 

flexibility in applying certain development standards to achieve better outcomes for and from development.  

 

Clauses 4.6 (3) and (4)(a)(ii) require that a consent authority be satisfied of three matters before granting consent to 

a development that contravenes a development standard as detailed below:  

 that the applicant has adequately demonstrated that compliance with the development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case;  

 that the applicant has adequately demonstrated that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to 

justify contravening the development standard; and  

 that the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the 

particular standard and the objectives for development within the zone in which the development is proposed to 

be carried out.  

The consent authority’s satisfaction to those matters must be informed by the objective of providing flexibility in the 

application of the relevant control to achieve better outcomes for and from the development in question. 

 

The Land and Environment Court has established a set of principles or key questions that must be addressed in 

relation to whether a variation to development standards should be approved. The original test was set out in the 

judgement of Justice Lloyd in Winten Property Group Ltd v North Sydney Council [2001] 130 LGERA 79 at 89 in 

relation to variations to development standards lodged under State Environmental Planning Policy 1 – Development 

Standards (SEPP 1). The test was later rephrased by Chief Justice Preston, in the decision of Wehbe v Pittwater 

Council [2007] NSW LEC 827 (Wehbe).  

 

While these cases referred to the former SEPP 1, the principles still remain relevant, more recently, further 

guidance on the approach to apply to applications to vary development standards under clause 4.6 of the Standard 

Instrument was provided by the Land and Environment Court in: 

 Initial Action Pty Ltd v Woollahra Municipal Council [2018] NSWLEC 118;  

 Turland v Wingecarribee Shire Council [2018] NSWLEC 1511;  

 Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield Council [2015] NSWLEC 1009;  

 Micaul Holdings Pty Limited v Randwick City Council [2015] NSWLEC 1386; and  

 Moskovich v Waverley Council [2016] NSWLEC 1015.  

In accordance with the above requirements, this Clause 4.6 variation request:  

 identifies the development standard to be varied (Section 2);  

 identifies the variation sought (Section 3);  

 establishes that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 

circumstances of the case (Section 4);  

 demonstrates there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention (Section 5);  

 demonstrates that the proposed variation is in the public interest (Section 6); and  

 provides an assessment of the matters the secretary is required to consider before providing concurrence 

(Section 7). 

This Clause 4.6 variation request relates to the development standard for Floor Space Ratio (FSR) under Clause 

4.4 of the SLEP and should be read in conjunction with the Statement of Environmental Effects (SEE) prepared by 

110



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  4 
 

Ethos Urban dated March 2018 as well as the supplementary plans submitted to Council since this date. This 

Clause 4.6 variation request demonstrates that compliance with the FSR development standard is unreasonable 

and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to 

justify variation to the standard. 

2.0 Development Standard to be Varied 

The development standard that is sought to be varied as part of this application is Clause 4.4 of the SLEP, relating 

to the maximum FSR. Under the SLEP, the site is afforded a base FSR of 8:1 however, several ‘types of additional 

floor space’ provisions are available to achieve an FSR beyond 8:1, including:  

 Clause 6.4 Accommodation floor space:  

− The site is identified as ‘Area 1’ on the SLEP FSR map which Clause 6.4(b) stipulates that a building used 

for the purpose of an office premises, business premises or retail premises is eligible for an additional 4.5:1.  

 Clause 6.5 Car parking reduction floor space:  

− Clause 6.5 allows any area of a basement previously used for car parking that is being removed for any 

other use is eligible for the amount of parking being removed as additional floor space.  

 Clause 6.6 End of journey floor space: 

− Clause 6.6 stipulates that a commercial building which provides areas dedicated as end of journey facilities 

is eligible for additional floor space to the value of the area dedicated. 

As detailed within the SEE, the proposal does not alter the retail/commercial use of the site and the proposed works 

result in the removal of six basement car parking spaces (85m2) and the provision of a new end of trip facility 

(419m2). Accordingly, the SLEP provides that the maximum permissible FSR and gross floor areas (GFA) for the 

site (without any application under clause 4.6) are as set out below in Table 1 below.  

Table 1: Permissible FSR (based on a site area of 3,353m2) 

Type of Floor Space  Control  Gross Floor Area Total FSR 

Base Floor Space (cl 4.4) 8:1 26,824m2  

Accommodation Floor Space (cl 6.4) 4.5:1 15,088.50m2 

Car Parking Reduction Floor Space* (cl6.5)  85m2 

End of Journey Floor Space* (cl 6.6) Up to 0.3:1 419m2 

Total   42,416.5m2 12.65:1 

* the maximum floor area allowed under cl 6.5 and 6.6 is limited by the amount of floor space affected by the car park reduction or 

end of journey facility, respectively.  

3.0 Nature of the Variation Sought  

The maximum FSR on the site under the SLEP for this application is 12.65:1. The existing building on the site 

comprises 42,596m2 of GFA which equates to a total FSR of 12.7:1, therefore the existing building is already in 

excess of the maximum floor space development standard applicable under the SLEP and any addition (small or 

large) would require a variation to the maximum FSR development standard through clause 4.6.  

 

The proposed development seeks consent to increase the total GFA by 1,674m2 (3.9%) which would result in a 

total FSR of 13.2:1 on the site. Of this increase, the following aspects would be permissible without the need to seek 

variation to the development standard under Clause 4.6: 

 419m2 is categorised as ‘End of Journey Floor Space’ in accordance with Clause 6.6 of the SLEP; and 

 85m2 is categorised as ‘Car Parking Reduction Floor Space’ in accordance with Clause 6.5 of the SLEP. 

This variation therefore seeks consent the balance of the proposed additional floor area, which equates to an 

additional 1,170m2 of GFA, which equates to an additional FSR of 0.34:1.  

111



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  5 
 

It is noted that the site is subject to a restrictive covenant, in favour of City of Sydney Council, which imposes a 

maximum FSR of 13.4:1 on the site, measured in accordance with the Central Sydney LEP 1993 or any instrument 

that replaces that environmental planning instrument. If approved, the total FSR of the site will be 13.2:1 and 

accordingly, the proposal does not seek to realise the maximum FSR possible under the site’s restrictive covenant. 

A summary of the floor space ratio for which consent is sought is provided below in Figure 1.  

 

It is well established in case law that the extent of the numerical variation does not form part of the test required to 

be exercised under Clause 4.6. Decisions in respect of Micaul Holdings P/L V Randwick City Council (55% 

exceedance of height and 20% exceedance of FSR) and Moskovich V Waverley Council (65% exceedance of FSR) 

support this.  

 

 

 

Figure 1: Floor space ratio summary 

Source: Ethos Urban 

4.0 Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development standard is unreasonable 
or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case 

In Wehbe, Preston CJ of the Land and Environment Court provided relevant assistance by identifying five ways in 

which a variation to a development standard had been shown as unreasonable or unnecessary. However, it was not 

suggested that the methods described were a closed class.  

 

While Wehbe related to objections made pursuant to State Environmental Planning Policy No. 1 – Development 

Standards (SEPP 1), the analysis can be of assistance to variations made under clause 4.6 where subclause 

4.6(3)(a) uses the same language as clause 6 of SEPP 1 (see Four2Five at [61] and [62]). 

 

As the language used in subclause 4.6(3)(a) of the Sydney LEP is the same as the language used in Clause 6 of 

SEPP 1, the principles contained in Wehbe are of assistance to this clause 4.6 variation request. 

 

Base Building , 
42,596 sqm

Car Park 
Reduction Floor 
Space (Clause 
6.5), 85 sqm

End of Journey 
Floor Space 

(Clause 6.6), 419 
sqm

Additional Floor 
Space (Clause 
4.6), 1,170 sqm

Unadopted Floor 
Space within the 

restrictive 
covenant 

(13.4:1), 660.2 
sqm

PROPOSED GFA BREAKDOWN

112



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  6 
 

The five methods outlined in Wehbe include: 

1. The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard (First 

Method). 

 

2. The underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the development and therefore 

compliance is unnecessary (Second Method). 

 
3. The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required and therefore 

compliance is unreasonable (Third Method). 

 
4. The development standard has been virtually abandoned or destroyed by the Council's own actions in 

granting consents departing from the standard and hence compliance with the standard is unnecessary and 

unreasonable (Fourth Method).  

 
5. The zoning of the particular land is unreasonable or inappropriate so that a development standard 

appropriate for that zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as it applies to the land and compliance 

with the standard would be unreasonable or unnecessary. That is, the particular parcel of land should not 

have been included in the particular zone (Fifth Method). 

In this instance, the First Method is of particular assistance in establishing that compliance with a development 

standard is unreasonable or unnecessary.  

 

The environmental planning grounds relied on in the written request under Clause 4.6 must be sufficient to justify 

contravening the development standard. The focus is on the aspect of the development that contravenes the 

development standard, not the development as a whole. Therefore, the environmental planning grounds advanced 

in the written request must justify the contravention of the development standard and not simply promote the 

benefits of carrying out the development as a whole (Initial Action v Woollahra Municipal Council [24] and Turland v 

Wingecarribee Shire Council [42]).  

 

In this instance the whole of the proposed development is the aspect of the development that exceeds the 

development standard further than the existing built form on the site, because the existing building already exceeds 

the relevant maximum FSR development standard and therefore any addition of floor space would require a further 

variation to that standard.  

4.1 The objectives of the development standard are achieved notwithstanding the non-compliance 

(First Method)  

The objectives of the development standard contained in Clause 4.4 of the SLEP are: 

a) to provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the foreseeable future, 

 

b) to regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to control the generation of 

vehicle and pedestrian traffic, 

 
c) to provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the capacity of existing and planned 

infrastructure, 

 
d) to ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in which it is located and 

minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality. 

The proposal is assessed against the objectives for the FSR development standard below. 

Objective A - to provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the foreseeable 

future 

The proposed development forms part of a multifaceted campaign of upgrades to the existing building to enhance 

its ability to attract long term commercial tenants commensurate with the site’s location within a centre of 

commercial activity and adjacent to the pedestrianisation of George Street. With the building (and its existing 

113



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  7 
 

quantum of floorspace) being approximately 45 years old there is a clear need to execute upgrades to achieve an 

elevated level of occupancy comfort, so the building can remain competitive with new office occupants in years to 

come. As noted above, the existing building exceeds the relevant development standard and therefore any addition 

to this building would require variation to the development standard. 

 

The additional floor space sought will facilitate a new high-quality retail and commercial podium, and commercial 

lobby, that will reaffirm the site’s status within the commercial heart of the CBD and contribute to making Sydney a 

globally competitive and innovative city. 

 

The Central Sydney Planning Strategy notes that by 2036 we will need close to 420,000 workers accommodated 

within Central Sydney, steep increases in rents and the conversion of many commercial properties to residential use 

have recently placed additional strain on the supply of commercial floor space in the Sydney CBD. The proposed 

development will allow for an increase in commercial/retail GFA in an appropriate location to help meet this 

projected demand and offset some of the recent CBD commercial to residential conversions.  

Objective B - to regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to control the 

generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic 

The density of the development within the City of Sydney is regulated by the FSR controls within the SLEP. Most 

commercial developments in the Central Sydney area are able to achieve a maximum FSR of 12.5:1 under the 

current provisions of the SLEP. If commercial developments fully utilise the 10% floor space bonus awarded for 

design excellence, this maximum FSR is increased to 13.75:1.   

 

The proposed development would result in a building on the site with a total FSR of 13.2:1, which is less than both 

the positive covenant (13.4:1) and the maximum theoretically possible (including design excellence bonuses) under 

the SLEP 2012 (13.75:1). This demonstrates that the development standards relevant to the site do contemplate 

buildings with a density above the base + accommodation FSR for a commercial building of 12:5:1.  

 

As detailed within the SEE, the height and bulk of the modified podium responds to the surrounding urban context, 

which predominantly comprises retail podiums built to boundary with commercial tower forms above. The additional 

floor space will facilitate a five storey podium that restores a prominent CBD street corner and is commensurate in 

bulk and scale to the existing commercial buildings in the locality. 

 

The FSR development standards in the SLEP are supplemented in their control of density and built form in Central 

Sydney by the provisions of Section 5 of the Sydney DCP. The Objectives of Section 5.1.1 of the Sydney DCP 

include: 

(a) Achieve comfortable street environments for pedestrians with adequate daylight, scale, sense of enclosure and 

wind mitigation. 

(b) Physically define the public domain and provide opportunities for street front activities that enhance the public 

domain. 

(c) Encourage flexibility in building design and reinforce the character of Central Sydney and ensure built form is 

compatible with heritage items and the desired streetscape character. 

 

The current built-form (pre this proposal) provided by the existing building on the corner of George Street and King 

street is generally inconsistent with the bulk and scale of the surrounding buildings, and with similarly significant 

urban intersections in Central Sydney.  Specifically: 

 The lack of any building elements along the George Street frontage at the corner with King Street fails to 

‘physically define the public domain’ in this area and does not ‘reinforce the character of Central Sydney’; and  

 The existing building form of the podium structure along the King Street frontage does not reflect the 

predominant building scale within this part of the city and does not comply with the current recommendations of 

the DCP, which stipulate that a street frontage height of between 20m and 45m and should have regard to ‘the 

predominant street frontage height of adjacent buildings and buildings in the vicinity’.  

The proposed development would allow the building as a whole to better meet the objectives and provisions of the 

DCP by physically defining the public domain of George Street and King Street and reinforcing the character of 

Central Sydney in consideration of the surrounding heritage buildings.  In order to achieve this improved relationship 

with the surrounding buildings, the public domain, and with the provisions of the DCP it is necessary to add a 

building element, and associated floor space, to the corner of George Street and King Street.  As previously noted, 

114



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  8 
 

because the existing building exceeds the maximum FSR development standard, any addition of floor space to the 

existing building will require a variation to this development standard under Clause 4.6. The placement of additional 

floorspace has specifically been chosen for a portion of the site which responds to Council’s desired future 

character objectives of defining the public domain, activating the street and reinforcing the character of the 

surrounding streetscape 

 

The proposed development does not give rise to any adverse impacts from vehicle and pedestrian traffic 

perspective. The site is within a highly serviced locality and the proposal encourages sustainable transport options 

by removing six vehicle parking spaces and providing a new end of trip facilities. Furthermore, the provision of a 

through-site link will improve the CBD pedestrian network by providing a safe and activated pedestrian path 

between two of the CBD’s most active streets.  
 

Objective C - to provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the capacity of existing 

and planned infrastructure 

The proposed development involves additions to an existing 30 storey commercial tower, however, no works or 

additional floor space is proposed above Level 5 under this application. As such, in the context of the entire building 

the proposed 1,674m2 of floor space uplift is not significant and will not create an intensity of development that is 

incompatible with the site’s CBD location.  

 

As previously noted, the proposed development would result in a building on the site with a total FSR of 13.2:1, 

which is less than both the positive covenant (13.4:1) and the maximum theoretically possible (including design 

excellence bonuses) under the SLEP 2012 (13.75:1). This demonstrates that the proposed development is 

commensurate with that envisaged on this site by the development standards and that the proposed 3.9% increase 

in total floor area envisaged by this development application is demonstrably commensurate with the existing and 

planned infrastructure of the surrounding area.  

 

The site is well located to maximise benefits that will be available from recent significant NSW Government 

infrastructure investments. Specifically, the site directly adjoins the CBD Light Rail network that is currently under 

construction and is approximately 250m from the future Martin Place Metro Station.  

 

The Central Sydney Planning Strategy notes that by 2036 we will need close to 420,000 workers accommodated 

within Central Sydney. In their preparation and endorsement of the commercial growth envisaged by the Strategy 

Council will have undertaken a reconciliation with existing and planned infrastructure. Therefore our additional 

1,674m2 (1,170m2 of which is sought as part of this variation request) is a minor consideration in the overall scheme 

of the CBD and hence limited and marginal impact on existing and planned infrastructure. 

Objective D - to ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in which it is 

located and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality 

The site is located within the Sydney CBD on the periphery of the Martin Place precinct which has a historic 

reputation as a centre of commercial activity and high heritage value. The proposal does not seek to alter the 

existing use of the site and will provide a strong well designed podium development to complement the existing 

tower form. As shown at Figure 3 above podium tower developments are common in this part of the CBD and are 

particularly prominent at this street intersection.  

 

As noted above, the proposed development will reflect the desired character of the locality as it will allow the 

building as a whole to better meet the objectives of the DCP by physically defining the public domain of George 

Street and King Street and reinforcing the character of Central Sydney in consideration of the surrounding heritage 

buildings.   

 

In order to achieve this improved relationship with the surrounding buildings, the public domain, and with the 

provisions of the DCP it is appropriate to add a building element, and associated commercial floor space, to the 

corner of George Street and King Street.  As previously noted, because the existing building exceeds the maximum 

FSR development standard, any addition of floor space to the existing building will require a variation to this 

development standard under Clause 4.6. The proposed additional floorspace sought in this Clause 4.6 also better 

allows the built form on the site to achieve the desired future character of the locality, as expressed under the DCP, 

as compared to the do nothing (no net increase in GFA) scenario, 

 

115



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  9 
 

The SEE details that the proposal is largely consistent with the relevant environmental planning instruments and 

does not give rise to any adverse environmental impacts in respect to overshadowing, traffic, heritage, wind, 

reflectivity, stormwater, flooding, noise, waste, economic and social impacts.  

5.0 There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the development standard 

Clause 4.6(3)(b) of the SLEP 2012 requires the departure from the development standard to be justified by 

demonstrating: 

That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development standard. 

 

There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify a flexible approach to the application of the FSR 

control as it applies to the site. In Four2Five, the Court found that the environmental planning grounds advanced by 

the applicant in a Clause 4.6 variation request must be particular to the circumstances of the proposed development 

on that site. The applicable circumstances that relate to the site are discussed below.  

 

When it was originally constructed, the John Andrews designed building included a podium and forecourt that 

defined the street edge whilst enhancing pedestrian connectivity with a through-site link from King Street to George 

Street (refer to Section 3.5 of the SEE). However, podium design modifications undertaken in 1997 diminished the 

strong corner address and removed the public through-site link.  

 

In recognition of the prominent location of the site and the diminished podium qualities, the co-owners of the 

property appointed world renowned architects, FJMT, to design a podium concept that sympathised and restored 

key elements of the original intent/design. Accordingly, the proposal now presents strong street edge qualities and a 

more consistent tower to ground relationship in lieu of the current compromised podium to King Street. In addition, 

the through-site link has been reinstated, therefore enhancing pedestrian connectivity and safety. Achieving this 

enhanced outcome has required the addition of a building element, and associated floor area, to the existing 

building. Further because the existing building exceeds the maximum FSR development standard, any addition of 

floor space (whether minor or large) to the existing building will require a variation to this development standard 

under Clause 4.6. 

 

By allowing a variation to the ‘maximum FSR’ development standard in this instance, an opportunity is presented for 

the proposed development to allocate additional floor space to achieve the benefits discussed above and improve 

the existing building’s relationship with the surrounding development (including street alignment and street wall 

height), and the relevant DCP controls. In this regard, there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 

contravening the development standard. The proposed additional floorspace sought in this Clause 4.6 better allows 

the built form on the site to achieve the desired future character of the locality, as expressed under the DCP, as 

compared to the do nothing (no net increase in GFA) scenario, 

 

6.0 It is in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the 
particular standard and the zone 

6.1 Consistency with the objectives of the development standard 

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the FSR development standard, for the reasons 

discussed in Section 4.1 of this report. 

6.2 Consistency with the B8 – Metropolitan Centre objectives 

To recognise and provide for the pre-eminent role of business, office, retail, entertainment and tourist 

premises in Australia’s participation in the global economy 

This proposal will facilitate upgrades to an existing commercial building commensurate to contemporary market 

expectations within the CBD. The proposed development will deliver a built-form outcome that is more consistent 

with the surrounding buildings, the public domain, and with the provisions of the DCP. In order to achieve this 

116



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  10 
 

improvement, it is necessary to add a building element, and associated  floor space, to the corner of George Street 

and King Street.  Because the existing building exceeds the maximum FSR development standard, any addition of 

floor space to the existing building will require a variation to this development standard under Clause 4.6. 

To provide opportunities for an intensity of land uses commensurate with Sydney’s global status 

The proposed development involves additions to an existing 30 storey commercial tower, however, no works or 

additional floor space is proposed above Level 5 under this application. As such, in the context of the entire building 

the proposed 3.9% increase in floor space uplift is not significant and will not create an intensity of development that 

is incompatible with the site’s CBD location especially in the context of planned infrastructure upgrades such as the 

Sydney Light Rail.  

 

Further, the Central Sydney Planning Strategy notes that by 2036 we will need close to 420,000 workers 

accommodated within Central Sydney, steep increases in rents and the conversion of many commercial properties 

to residential use have recently placed additional strain on the supply of commercial floor space in the Sydney CBD. 

The proposed development will allow for an increase in commercial/retail GFA in an appropriate location to help 

meet this projected demand and offset some of the recent CBD commercial to residential conversions.  

 

In delivering the proposed upgrades to the streetscape, the development will vastly increase the amount of 

activated street frontages in this area.  Delivering an activated street frontage directly adjacent to the new light rail 

will encourage pedestrian activity along the newly pedestrianised George Street. The placement and design of the 

floorspace therefore enhances the pedestrian experience, encouraging non private vehicle use of the site and 

locality.  

 

 

To permit a diversity of compatible land uses characteristic of Sydney’s global status and that serve the 

workforce, visitors and wider community 

The proposal does not seek to change the existing use of the building. Alternatively, it will allow upgrades to an 

existing building commensurate to current market expectations of commercial buildings within Central Sydney.  

 

The proposed development will generally diversify the commercial floor plate and retail offerings to attract a long-

term tenant and will activate the ground plane with a high quality retail layout and a public through-site link. 

Furthermore, the proposal will provide premium end of trip facilities to serve the future tenants.  

To encourage the use of alternatives to private motor vehicles, such as public transport, walking or cycling 

The site is approximately 250m from Wynyard and Martin Place Railway Stations and adjoins the pedestrianised 

zone of the CBD Light Rail that is currently under construction. The proposal will also introduce new bicycle parking 

and end of trip facilities within Level 1 of the existing building and includes the reduction of private car parking 

spaces. This will encourage future commercial tenants to participate in active and sustainable transport practices in 

line with the objectives of this zone. 

The proposed development increased the quantity of commercial floor area within the building but does not 

introduce a commensurate increase in the quantity of car parking. The proposed development therefore effectively 

reduces the overall amount of car parking available on the site.   

 

 

To promote uses with active street frontages on main streets and on streets in which buildings are used 

primarily (at street level) for the purposes of retail premises 

The site is located on a prominent CBD street corner with a frontage to George Street and King Street. The 

proposed ground floor retail layout and through-site link has will provide activation along these frontages. The retail 

tenancies will include full height glazing which further encourages visual activation. The proposed development will 

also allow for the building to provide a more consistent street wall alignment and street frontage to both of the 

streets on which the site is situated. In order to achieve this objective, additional floorspace under Clause 4.6 is 

required, to infill the existing forecourt and achieve this objective.  

117



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  11 
 

7.0 Secretary’s Concurrence  

Under Clause 4.6(5) of SLEP, the Secretary’s concurrence is required prior to any variation being granted. The 

following section provides a response to those matters set out in Clause 4.6(5) of the SLEP which must be 

considered by the Secretary. 

Whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of significance for State or regional 

environmental planning 

The variation to the FSR standard of SLEP will not raise any matter in which could be deemed to have State or 

Regional significance. The extent of variation sought is minor in the context of the entire building (3.9% increase) 

and the total FSR of the building (13.2:1) is less than both the positive covenant that applies to the site (13.4:1) and 

the maximum theoretically possible (including design excellence bonuses) under the SLEP 2012 (13.75:1). This 

demonstrates that the development standards relevant to the site do contemplate buildings with a density above the 

base + accommodation FSR for a commercial building of 12:5:1.   

The public benefit of maintaining the development standard 

Maintaining the development standard would not result in any public benefit in this situation. As detailed within the 

SEE, the height and bulk of the modified podium respond to the surrounding urban context and the requirements of 

the Sydney DCP 2012.   

 

The current built-form provided by the existing building on the corner of George Street and King street is generally 

inconsistent with the bulk and scale of the surrounding buildings, and with similarly significant urban intersections in 

Central Sydney.  Specifically: 

 The lack of any building elements along the George Street frontage at the corner with King Street fails to 

‘physically define the public domain’ in this area and does not ‘reinforce the character of Central Sydney’; and  

 The existing building form of the podium structure along the King Street frontage does not reflect the 

predominant building scale within this part of the city and does not comply with the current recommendations of 

the DCP, which stipulate that a street frontage height of between 20m and 45m and should have regard to ‘the 

predominant street frontage height of adjacent buildings and buildings in the vicinity’.  

 

The proposed development would allow the building as a whole to better meet the objectives of the DCP by 

physically defining the public domain of George Street and King Street and reinforcing the character of Central 

Sydney in consideration of the surrounding heritage buildings.  The proposed variation to the floorspace standard 

therefore allows the site to better meet the objectives of the DCP and the desired future character of the area. DCPs 

are guiding documents prepared to express the desired future character; protect the public interest and are 

prepared through an extensive public exhibition process. Therefore, to better meet the objectives of the DCP can be 

said to improve the development’s presentation to the public domain and is in the public interest. 

 

Additionally, it is noted that the site is in need of upgrades and strict numerical compliance would encumber the 

various community and commercial benefits the proposed works provide. The proposed development will benefit 

the public in that:   

 it will significantly improve the quality of the pedestrian environment within and surrounding the site, including 

increased permeability; 

 it delivers a podium that positively responds to the streetscape and is compatible with surrounding 

developments;  

 it is afforded a high level of access to existing infrastructure such as regional roads, rail and bus networks;  

 it enables the opportunity to create a vibrant, accessible place to meet, shop, eat and interact;  

 it makes a meaningful contribution to the public realm, supporting the local business community and enhancing 

the distinctive character of the CBD locality; and  

 it enhances and responds sensitively to the rich heritage setting, creating spaces that reflect the civic scale and 

significance of the immediate precinct.  

118



388 George Street, Sydney | Clause 4.6 Variation | 2 November 2018  

 

Ethos Urban  |  15613  12 
 

Any other matters to be taken into consideration by the Secretary 

None. In accordance with PS 18-003 (Variations to Development Standards), the Secretary’s concurrence is able to 

be assumed as the variation proposed is less than 10%.  

8.0 Conclusion 

The assessment above demonstrates that compliance with the maximum floorspace ratio development standard 
contained in Clause 4.3 of SLEP is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that the 
justification is well founded on environmental planning grounds.  

 

It is considered that the variation allows for the orderly and economic use of the land in an appropriate manner, 

whilst also allows for a superior outcome in planning and design terms. This Clause 4.6 variation demonstrates, 

notwithstanding the non-compliance with the maximum building height development standard, that: 

 The development as proposed will deliver a superior built-form outcome in consideration of the site’s location 

and the surrounding buildings;  

 The development as proposed will improve the pedestrian environment and increase activation of the street 

frontages; and  

 Compliance with the development standard would be both unreasonable and unnecessary in the instance 

because the development is able to fully satisfy the objectives of the B8 Metropolitan Centre Zone and the 

objectives of the maximum FSR development standard.  

 

The SLEP applies a maximum FSR for the site of 12.65:1 when taking into account relevant floor space bonuses. 

The existing development has been lawfully constructed and comprises an FSR of 12.7:1, therefore the existing 

building is already in excess of the maximum floor space allowable under the SLEP.  

The proposal seeks floor space uplift of 1,674m2 which equates to an FSR of 13.2:1. Of this additional FSR: 

 419m2 is categorised as ‘End of Journey Floor Space’ in accordance with Clause 6.6 of the SLEP; and 

 85m2 is categorised as ‘Car Parking Reduction Floor Space’ in accordance with Clause 6.5 of the SLEP. 

This variation therefore seeks consent the balance of the proposed additional floor area, which equates to an 

additional 1,170m2 of GFA, or an additional FSR of 0.34:1.  

 

The proposed variation of the ‘maximum FSR’ development standard does not result in an over development of the 

site or any adverse impacts on the public domain. The proposed additional podium mass is commensurate with 

surrounding developments and the built form that characterises the locality. It is also consistent with the design 

approach applied to other commercial buildings within the immediate vicinity. 

 

Consistent with the aim of Clause 4.6 to provide an appropriate degree of flexibility to achieve better outcomes for 

and from development, a departure from the FSR development standard is considered appropriate in these 

circumstances.  

 

Despite the numerical non-compliance with the ‘maximum FSR’ development standard, the proposed development 

is considered to satisfy the objectives of the development standard and the B8 Metropolitan Centre zone.  

 

The proposal will provide environmental benefits particular to the site through the provision of improved amenity for 

future tenants of the development and for the office and retail public passing the site generally. On this basis, the 

Clause 4.6 variation is considered well founded and should be supported. 

119



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney - Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
Amendment and Planning Agreement 

File No: X011838 

Summary 

This planning proposal will allow redevelopment of the land at 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney (the 
Site) for a new 205 metre mixed use commercial and hotel building. Located in the heart of 
the financial district, close to the future metro station, it will support the New South Wales 
economy by providing capacity for employment growth and investment in Central Sydney. 

The proposal allows a total maximum FSR of 22:1 within an envelope supporting great 
streets, minimising public amenity impacts and achieving high sustainability ratings. 
Monetary contributions to affordable housing and infrastructure in Central Sydney are also 
made as part of the Planning Agreement. 

The planning proposal, draft Development Control Plan (draft DCP) and voluntary Planning 
Agreement were placed on public exhibition from 24 July to 20 August 2018. Five 
submissions were received, three submissions from an individual and on behalf of 
surrounding landowners, and two from government agencies. 

Minor amendments are recommended to the draft DCP to address concerns raised during 
public exhibition. 

This report details the outcomes of the recent public exhibition of the planning proposal, draft 
Development Control Plan (draft DCP), and Planning Agreement for the Site, and 
recommends Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approve the 
planning proposal, the draft DCP and notes that the City has entered into the voluntary 
Planning Agreement. 

Council is not authorised to exercise delegation to make the local environmental plan as the 
planning proposal is the result of a rezoning review. If approved, the planning proposal will 
be forwarded to the Department of Planning and Environment with a request to draft and 
publish the local environmental plan. 

  

1

Item 5.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the matters raised in response to the 
public exhibition of Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney and the Draft Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney, as shown in Attachment A 
to the subject report; 

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh 
Street, Sydney, as shown in attachment B to the subject report, and request the 
relevant local plan making authority make as a local environmental plan under section 
3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979;  

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 12 November  2018 to approve Draft 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney, as shown in 
Attachment C to the subject report, noting that the approved development control plan 
will come into effect on the date of publication of the subject local environmental plan; 

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 12 November 2018 that authority be 
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor amendments to the 
Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney, to correct any minor errors or omissions 
prior to finalisation; and 

(E) the Central Sydney Planning committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 12 November 2018 that the Planning 
Agreement, as shown at Attachment D to the subject report, has been executed on 
behalf of Council in accordance with Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Summary of Submissions 

Attachment B. Planning Proposal - 4-6  Bligh Street, Sydney 

Attachment C. Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney 

Attachment D. Voluntary Planning Agreement - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney 

  

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Background 

1. In August 2017 Architectus, on behalf of site owner SC Capital Partners Group, 
provided preliminary information to the City for a potential planning proposal for 4-6 
Bligh Street, to increase the maximum Floor Space Ratio (FSR) to enable a hotel 
tower above an office podium. The information was generally in line with the City's 
proposed Central Sydney Planning Strategy adopted by Council and the Central 
Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) in July 2016; however, yet to be supported for 
public exhibition by the Department of Planning and Environment. 

2. The estimated value of the future hotel and office development, being over $100 
million, categorises it as State Significant Development under State Environmental 
Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) 2011. As such, Council and the 
CSPC would not be the consent authority for the future development application and 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 would not apply unless delegated, as was the 
case with 201 Elizabeth Street, Sydney. 

3. In September 2017, the City responded to the potential planning proposal welcoming 
continued dialogue in line with the proposed Strategy. However, noting that an 
increase in FSR of this scale should not be considered until the NSW Government had 
issued a Gateway Determination for the Central Sydney planning proposal to enable 
public exhibition of the proposal and the proposed Strategy. 

4. On 27 October 2017, a Rezoning Review request was lodged and referred to the 
Planning Assessment Commission. Independently, on the same day, taking into 
consideration the Department's opinion, the City advised it would consider a planning 
proposal request if lodged. 

5. On 1 December 2017, the Commission reviewed the proposal and recommended it 
proceed to Gateway Determination because it has strategic and site specific merit. 

6. On 11 January 2018, the Department issued a letter inviting Council to be the planning 
authority to prepare a planning proposal for Gateway Determination. Council accepted 
this role at its 19 February 2018 meeting.  

7. On 2 February 2018, the proponent formally lodged a planning proposal request with 
the City including some refinements and clarifications to the building envelope, 
additional studies and updated letter of offer. 

8. On 4 June 2018, the Department of Planning and Environment issued a conditional 
Gateway Determination requiring amendments to the planning proposal prior to 
exhibition which do not alter the proposal's intent.  

9. In June 2018, Council and the CSPC resolved to request an amended gateway to 
revise the NABERS energy rating requirement for the hotel component to 4.5 stars 
from 5 stars. 

10. On 14 July 2018, the Department of Planning and Environment issued an amended 
Gateway Determination reflecting the request.  

11. The plan making functions of the Minister for Planning have not been delegated to the 
Council for this planning proposal. The Gateway Determination noted the proposal is 
the result of a rezoning review. 

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

12. The planning proposal, draft Development Control Plan (draft DCP) and voluntary 
Planning Agreement were placed on public exhibition from 24 July to 20 August 2018. 

13. On 3 August, a development application was lodged for the demolition of the existing 
commercial building and the excavation of the site to accommodate the future mixed 
use development. 

14. On 6 August 2018, a request for the Secretary's environmental assessment 
requirements was lodged for a mixed use hotel, commercial and retail development for 
the site. 

Site details 

15. 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney (the Site) comprises an 18 storey commercial office building 
known as “Bligh House”, on four lots, being Lot 1 DP 919932, Lot 1 and 2 DP 134866 
and Lot A DP 184770, with a total area of 1,218 square metres. 

16. The site is located within the northern part of Central Sydney in a block bounded by 
Bligh Street, Bent Street, Phillip Street and Hunter Street. It is in a highly accessible 
location, with access to train, bus and ferry services, including the new Sydney Metro 
station currently under construction at 55 Hunter Street within 100 metres. The site 
location and surrounding context are shown in Figure 1. 

 

Figure 1: Location Plan 

17. The site is surrounded by a number of State and local heritage listed buildings, 
including the Sofitel Sydney Wentworth Hotel to the north, the former “Qantas House” 
building to the east and the former “City Mutual Life Assurance” building to the south, 
as shown in Figure 2. 

SITE 

55 Hunter 
New Sydney 
Metro Station 

Richard 
Johnson 
Square 

Chifley 
Square 

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

18. The maximum permissible height is 235 metres, and maximum floor space ratio is 8:1. 
Located within Area 1 on the floor space ratio map of SLEP 2012, this site is eligible 
for additional floor space of 6:1 for hotel or motel accommodation and 4.5:1 for office, 
business or retail premises. Further, the proposal is eligible for 10% bonus floor space 
or height if a competitive design process is carried out and design excellence 
demonstrated. 

19. The existing building located on site was constructed in 1964 and is known as Bligh 
House. The building is a B grade commercial office building comprising approximately 
16,500 square metres of retail (ground floor) and commercial floor space. It is 74 
metres in height (20 storeys) and has basement level car parking, accessed via Bligh 
Street.  

 

Figure 2: Surrounding heritage items 

Planning Proposal - Amendments to SLEP 2012 

20. The planning proposal request has a building envelope for a new 56 storey mixed use 
building with a total gross floor area of 26,793 square metres comprising: 

(a) a 10 storey podium, including hotel and commercial lobbies, food and beverage 
facilities, and 8,135 square metres of commercial office floor space; 

(b) a 37 storey tower of hotel (407 rooms); 

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(c) four (4) levels at rooftop, including hotel club lounge, function space, restaurant 
bar and publicly accessible landscape terrace; and  

(d) four basement levels, including 10 car parking spaces, gym, pool and end-of-trip 
facilities.  

21. SLEP 2012 amendments will include: 

(a) Allowing additional FSR to achieve a maximum of 22:1, but only for uses other 
than residential and serviced apartments. This maximum FSR is inclusive of all 
other bonuses, for example, accommodation floor space, end-of-trip facilities and 
the like, as well as any floor space eligible to be awarded as a result of design 
excellence. 

(b) Setting a maximum FSR of 21.2:1 above ground level, including all other 
bonuses, and any floor space eligible to be awarded as a result of design 
excellence. 

(c) A maximum floor plate area of any floor above the podium limited to 600 square 
metres. 

(d) A maximum height of 205m, however, within a specified distance from the 
boundaries, the maximum height control is 45m.  

(e) Requiring:  

(i) Provision of an end-of-journey facility. 

(ii) A full architectural design competition for the development. 

(iii) Meeting 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for commercial, 4.5 stars for hotel 
and 4 star NABERS water score for commercial and hotel. 

(f) Not allowing development standards within these site specific controls to be 
varied under Clause 4.6. 

Planning Proposal – Amendments to SDCP 2012 

22. Notwithstanding future development is likely to be State Significant, it is also proposed 
to amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to establish detailed controls to 
guide development. 

23. The draft DCP at Attachment B includes provisions relating to: 

(a) setback; 

(b) heritage; 

(c) managing wind impacts; 

(d) parking and vehicular access; 

(e) design excellence strategy; and  

(f) sustainability. 

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

24. The draft DCP will provide guidance on the development and the architectural design 
competition and allow timely development of the site. In the event that the detailed 
application is not delegated to the City of Sydney for assessment and determination, 
the jury composition should consist of five members and follow the draft Government 
Architect's Design Excellence Competition Guidelines. 

Voluntary Planning Agreement 

25. A voluntary Planning Agreement (VPA) at Attachment D was prepared and exhibited 
concurrently with the planning proposal and draft DCP. The public benefits that will be 
delivered are: 

(a) monetary contribution for affordable housing;  

(b) monetary contribution for infrastructure; and 

(c) achieving sustainability measures. 

26. No issues were raised during the public consultation about the Planning Agreement. 
The Planning Agreement has been signed by both parties and was registered on title 
on 10 October 2018. 

Key Implications 

Outcomes of public exhibition and public authority consultation 

27. Public authority consultation was carried out in accordance with the Gateway 
Determination. The Gateway required consultation with the Office of Environment and 
Heritage and Transport for NSW. 

28. Five submissions were received. The Office of Environment and Heritage supported 
the scale and height of the proposal, and did not object to the proposal provided the 
heritage significance of Bligh House, Aboriginal Cultural Heritage, Archaeology, Green 
roof and building design were considered. Transport for NSW raised no significant 
issues but noted the site is within the Sydney metro corridor. Two letters were received 
on behalf of surrounding landowners and one letter of support from an individual. 

29. Key issues raised are discussed below and in the submissions table at Attachment A. 

Reduced tower setbacks 

Submission 

30. Two submissions object to the proposed tower setbacks stating they do not comply 
with the existing Sydney Development Control Plan (DCP) 2012 (SDCP2012) controls 
or proposed Central Sydney DCP amendments. The reduction in tower setback would 
affect light to 1 Chifley Square and 25 Bligh Street. 

  

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Response 

31. Section 5.1.2 of SDCP2012 relates to setbacks, and defines a hotel as a commercial 
building. Above a height of 45 metres, windows and balconies of commercial buildings 
are to be set back at least 3 metres from side and rear property boundary. While the 
proposal does not comply with the building setbacks in the proposed Sydney DCP 
2012 - Central Sydney amendment, the proposed DCP allows variation to side and 
rear setback if it provides equivalent or improved wind comfort, wind safety and 
daylight levels in adjacent public places. As part of the request, analysis of wind and 
daylight levels of the proposed envelope demonstrates acceptable wind and daylight 
impacts on the public domain.   

32. 4-6 Bligh Street is immediately west of 1 Chifley Square. The light well to the rear of 1 
Chifley Square is a design feature of the heritage listed building and is of significance. 
DCP provisions have been clarified to ensure new development adjacent to heritage 
items respect and reinforce the significance of the items, including any significant light 
well areas. The extent of the light impact of the proposed envelope on 25 Bligh Street, 
known as Bligh Chambers is discussed below. 

Podium setbacks 

Submission 

33. The reference design has a 4m setback from the south-eastern boundary. This is not 
reflected in the draft DCP.  

Response 

34. The proposal provides a building envelope within which articulation and heritage 
considerations can shape detail design, especially during the architectural design 
competition. The reference design is one example of how a proposed building on the 
site. As the light well to the rear of 1 Chifley Square is a design feature of the heritage 
listed building and is considered to be of considerable significance. DCP provisions 
have been clarified to ensure new development adjacent to heritage items respect and 
reinforce the significance of the items, including maintaining daylight to light well areas. 

Excessive floor space ratio 

Submission 

35. The proposal should also adhere to a floor space ratio (FSR) of 14:1 excluding design 
excellence under the draft planning controls. These have been very recently reviewed. 
The proposed FSR of 22:1 creates a bulkier building with an increased footprint which 
unnecessarily reduces the useability and value of surrounding buildings.  

Response 

36. The existing controls allows a maximum FSR of 14:1 excluding any bonus floor space 
available as a result of design excellence. The proposed controls is for a maximum of 
20:1 excluding any design excellence bonus, and 21.2:1 above ground. The FSR 
represents an increase in current controls but a reduction in maximum height. The 
development must be the result of an architectural design competition and exhibit 
design excellence. The maximum floor plate area above podium is to be 600 square 
metres, which is not considered large. The proposal to increase floor space capacity is 
consistent with the nine aims of the proposed Central Sydney Planning Strategy which 
allows development potential for this site and provides economic opportunities and 
growth for Central Sydney. 

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

37. The extent of the view impact of the proposed envelope on 25 Bligh Street is 
discussed below. 

View loss to 25 Bligh Street 

Submission 

38. The proposal will result in view loss towards the Domain, Rushcutters Bay and further 
to the eastern suburbs, exacerbated by non-compliance with the required building 
setbacks and proposed increase in FSR for 25 Bligh Street.  

39. There is no contemplation of private view loss to private buildings, as a result of the 
reduced side setbacks. The proposed reference design should not be supported as, 
with a more skilful design approach, lower FSR and compliant setbacks, view sharing 
of a modest nature can be facilitated to protect the amenity enjoyed by 25 Bligh Street. 

40. In the interest of preserving the view to the east, having regard to what is currently 
enjoyed from Bligh Chambers, request that the side setback be amended to a distance 
of 10 metres to the northern boundary and 8 metres to the southern boundary. 

Response 

41. 4-6 Bligh Street is immediately south east of 25 Bligh Street, known as Bligh 
Chambers. Bligh Chambers currently benefits from views to the Domain and beyond 
by heritage items and lower scaled buildings, allowing enjoyment of district views. The 
subject site at 4-6 Bligh Street is directly between Bligh Chambers and the Domain. It 
means that any major development of the site would impact current views, as shown in 
Figures 3 and 4.   

  

Figure 3: Photographs showing view from level 25 across the subject site from 25 Bligh Street. The 
proposed building envelope is shown in red, complying setback is shown dotted green. 

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

 

Figure 4: Diagram showing views from 25 Bligh Street to the Domain and location of the site 

42. Increased setbacks would provide a glimpse of the view currently enjoyed by 25 Bligh 
Street. The view loss is of a district view and does not include any iconic views or 
landmarks. The view is also not considered to be a whole view, as only a cross section 
of the Domain and surrounding suburbs are visible. The principles established under 
Tenacity Consulting vs Warringah Council also consider how reasonable it is to retain 
the view and the extent of the impact. Views from sitting positions and from living 
areas where people spend more time are considered more significant than from 
serviced areas.  As Bligh Chambers is a commercial building, not directly fronting the 
Domain, allowing 4-6 Bligh Street to reach development potential and provide increase 
employment floor space in central Sydney, is reasonable. 

Loss of natural light to 25 Bligh Street 

Submission 

43. The position of the proposed building form will likely result in almost complete loss of 
natural morning light to 25 Bligh Street given the extent of the proposed frontage to 
Bligh Street and limited setbacks. The eastern facade of 25 Bligh Street accounts for 
75% of natural light and views to the existing offices, with less than half of the western 
facade of the building containing windows. The reference design will limit natural light 
to these offices by up to 75% as a starting position. To further reduce the available 
natural light to the eastern face of the building is of significant detriment to the amenity 
enjoyed by Bligh Chambers, particularly having regard to non-compliance with the 
setback requirements, which are representative of the current and future position of 
suitable development controls anticipated by the Council.  

44. The lack of side setbacks proposed should not be supported due to the significant 
reduction of natural light enjoyed by Bligh Chambers. It is inconsistent with Clause 
1.3(c) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 which requires the 
orderly and economic use and development of land.  There is no contemplation of loss 
of natural light to private buildings, as a result of the reduced side setbacks. 

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Response 

45. The orientation of Bligh Street results in sites with buildings that predominantly face 
east and west. 25 Bligh Street currently benefits from surrounding heritage items and 
lower scaled buildings that allow ambient light.  

46. Analysis shows, due to the angle of the sun and the siting of the buildings, there will be 
no shadow cast upon 25 Bligh Street from the proposed building envelope during the 
winter solstice, see Figure 5. 

 

Figure 5: Shadow analysis of impact of proposed envelope on eastern façade of 25 Bligh Street in 
winter (shown outlined in red)  

47. During the summer solstice, there will be some loss of direct sunlight at 7am, 
negligible loss at 9am and by 11am the proposed envelope had no impact on the 
eastern façade of 25 Bligh Street. 

 

Figure 6: Shadow analysis of impact of proposed envelope on eastern façade of 25 Bligh Street in 
summer (shown outlined in red)  

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

48. The slight reduction in direct sunlight to 25 Bligh Street as a result of the proposed 
envelope in the early morning at the summer solstice is acceptable. In Central 
Sydney's dynamic and dense development environment, certainty for the protection of 
private amenities such as sunlight and views cannot be guaranteed. The maintenance 
of sunlight access and private views to existing development should not unduly restrict 
the economic performance and economic growth of Central Sydney and therefore is 
consistent with the objects of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act as it 
does promote the orderly and economic use and development of land.  

Limit development potential of 25 Bligh Street 

Submission 

49. Bligh Chambers, 25 Bligh Street, benefits from future planning controls that would 
allow for a similar redevelopment outcome to be achieved. If such an outcome were to 
be pursued for residential purposes, the design and form of the current planning 
proposal would heavily restrict the ability for a redeveloped Bligh Chambers to achieve 
a residential population on this site. The planning proposal will result in a significant 
loss of natural light to Bligh Chambers and hinder development potential particularly 
under State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP) 65 and the Apartment Design 
Guide. 

Response 

50. Bligh Chambers is one of many sites within central Sydney. In this dense urban 
environment certainty for the protection of private amenities such as sunlight and 
views cannot be guaranteed. Redevelopment opportunities are often dependent on the 
location and characteristics of a site. Residential development potential on the site 
would need to comply with SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide, like any other 
sites within central Sydney seeking such a use. If like the subject site, Bligh Chambers 
sought to increase site potential through a planning proposal it will also need to be 
consistent with the proposed Strategy and amendments. 

Changes to Planning Proposal and draft DCP 

51. As a result of the public exhibition, the following changes are proposed in the draft 
DCP: 

(a) Setback - require rear podium setback to adjacent heritage items to respect the 
significant features of the item including maintaining daylight to light wells, 
particularly 1 Chifley Square. 

(b) Heritage - require an Aboriginal Cultural Heritage and archaeological 
assessment, as recommended by the Office of Environment and Heritage. 

(c) Sustainability - include green roof as part of the development and encourage 
cool roofs and green walls, as recommended by the Office of Environment and 
Heritage. 

(d) Design excellence - the jury composition is to consist of five members in 
accordance with the Government Architect's Design Competition Guidelines 
should any future development application be assessed as State Significant 
Development. 

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Strategic Alignment - Greater Sydney Region Plan, Eastern City District Plan, 
Sustainable Sydney 2030, proposed Central Sydney Planning Strategy 

52. The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the state government strategic document that 
outlines a vision for Greater Sydney over the next 40 years. The Plan outlines how 
Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and guide infrastructure delivery, and 
is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans.  

53. It identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney, which is forecast to grow from 4.7 
million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater Sydney must provide for an 
additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide 725,000 more homes over 
the next 20 years. 

54. The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant objectives and planning 
priorities of the draft Greater Sydney Region Plan: 

(a) Objective 2: Infrastructure aligns with forecast growth – growth infrastructure 
compact. 

(b) Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive. 

(c) Objective 22: Investment and business activities in centres. 

(d) Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success. 

(e) Objectives 33, 34 and 35: A low carbon city contributes to net-zero emissions by 
2050 and mitigates climate change. 

55. The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney 
local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the 
40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan.  

56. The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant planning priorities and 
actions of the Eastern City District Plan: 

(a) Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD. 

(b) Planning Priority E9: Growing international trade gateways. 

(c) Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in 
strategic centres. 

(d) Planning Priority E13 Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors. 

(e) Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 
and waste efficiently. 

57. This planning proposal supports the above key objectives and priorities as it will: 
provide for a high-quality office and hotel building in a highly accessible location; 
promote sustainable development; complement the new metro and proposed cycle 
network in Central Sydney; and provide for hotel accommodation. 

58. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This proposal is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

(a) Direction 1 – A globally competitive and innovative city - The proposal will 
support a future high quality urban design outcome that will provide new 
employment opportunities. The investment into the site will help contribute to 
make Sydney attractive to global investors, including through ensuring a mixed 
use building is delivered on the site.  

(b) Direction 2 – A leading environmental performer - The planning proposal will 
support a more ecologically sustainable development on the site, with a target to 
meet a NABERS energy rating of 5.5 stars for the commercial component and 
4.5 stars for the hotel component of the development, and 4 star NABERS water 
score for commercial office and hotel. 

(c) Direction 3 – Integrated transport for a connected city - The proposal will 
capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train stations, future light 
rail, and a significant number of high frequency bus and ferry routes. The site’s 
proximity to a broad range of services will also further limit potential future trips 
by vehicle and encourage sustainable transport behaviour. 

(d) Direction 5 – A lively and engaging city centre - The mix of uses on the site will 
continue and significantly improve the levels of activation in this part of the City. 

(e) Direction 6 – Vibrant local communities and economies - The planning proposal 
facilitates development that will enhance the CBD and Harbour area by 
increasing business opportunities for workers, local residents, and tourists. This 
Planning Proposal will allow a significant investment into Central Sydney and 
provide for commercial floor space and hotel facilities. 

(f) Direction 9 – Sustainable development, renewal and design - The planning 
proposal includes building envelope controls that are aimed at delivering design 
excellence. In addition, the proposal will support a future development that is 
expected to include a range of sustainable building features. 

59. Council and the CSPC also endorsed the aims of the proposed Central Sydney 
Planning Strategy as matters to be addressed in any planning proposal for a site in 
Central Sydney that seeks to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP 
2012). 

60. The planning proposal is generally consistent with the aims of the proposed Strategy. 
It will enable the redevelopment as a hotel tower above an office podium to contribute 
to a resilient and diverse economy. Increasing floor space capacity for employment 
uses is an efficient use of land, as the site is well serviced by public transport and 
benefits from a lower scale context of adjoining heritage items, in which an 
appropriately designed tower could respectfully respond. 

61. The development is required to undertake an architectural design competition and 
achieve sustainability ratings, and a building envelope supporting great streets with 
minimal amenity impacts. The proposal also contributes to some community and 
service infrastructure. 

62. As this planning proposal request was submitted prior to the granting of a Gateway 
Determination in relation to the Central Sydney Planning Proposal and the exhibition 
process for the Central Sydney Planning Proposal, it is noted that it does not provide a 
precedent of the process and manner in which such planning proposals should 
proceed in the future. 

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 15 November 2018 
 

 

Budget Implications 

63. There are no budget implications for the planning proposal itself; however, the 
Planning Agreement will provide monetary contributions towards achieving the public 
benefit objectives under the City's affordable housing program and contribute to the 
construction of infrastructure in the City North Public Domain Plan. Contribution 
amounts are based on the applicable rate and floor space in the Planning Agreement.  

Relevant Legislation 

64. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

65. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulations 2000. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

66. The Gateway Determination requires that the amendment to Sydney LEP 2012 is 
completed by June 2019. The Greater Sydney Commission may take action under 
section 3.32(2)(d) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 if this 
timeframe is not met. 

67. The Gateway Determination states that the Council is not authorised to exercise 
delegation to make the local environmental plan. If approved by Council, the planning 
proposal will be forwarded to the Department of Planning and Environment with a 
request to draft and publish the LEP. 

68. If approved by Council, the amendment to Sydney DCP 2012 will come into effect on 
the same day as the amendment to Sydney LEP 2012. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Sally Peters, Manager Central Sydney Planning 

15



Attachment A 

Summary of Submissions 

 

16



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

1 NSW 
Department of 
Environment 
and Heritage

Aboriginal Cultural Heritage / Archaeology. The site is 
located 470m south of Circular Quay, recommend Aboriginal 
Cultural Heritage (ACH) is assessed if there is evidence of the 
original land surface/natural soil profiles occuring at the site. 
ACH material can occur and be preserved in situ at Circular 
Quay where there is intact nautral landform. Circular Quay 
and Sydney Cove are culturally significant places for 
Aboriginal people. A baseline archaelogical assessment 
should be completed for the site to ensure archaeological 
relics are appropriately identified.

Noted. DCP provisions included.

Green Roof. It is recommended development at the site 
incopoate a Green Roof into the design. OEH also 
encourages the incorporation of Cool roofs and Green walls 
into the building design.

DCP provisions are included to encourage Green Roofs, 
Cool roofs and Green walls.

Support scale and height. The high rise building shown in 
the indicative architectural scheme is consistent with the 
scale and height of existing buildings and would not be out 
of context in the CBD.

Support noted.

Design. Any new development on the site should avoid 
creating an effect of a "tall wall" element along Bligh Street. 
Sufficient articulation should be incorporated into the 
design scheme, through building setbacks, to minimise the 
overpowering effect of the new development along with the 
existing buildings. Consideration should be given to 
matching podium height with the NSW Club House building 
located opposite the site. The design and materials of the 
development should be sympathetic to the heritage items in 
the immediate vicinity.

Noted. The proposal provides a building envelope within 
which articulation and heritage considerations can shape 
detailed design, especially during the architectural design 
competition. Section 4 of SDCP2012 continue to apply as 
well as the provisions proposed as part of this 
amendment.

Consult OEH. Detail design for redevelopment of the site 
should be referred to the Heritage Division for comment.

Noted.

Building significance. Subject to the significance of the 
building being determined and consideration of comments, 
there is no objection to the LEP amendment.

The existing buidling has no heritage status. It is a typical 
Post-War International style high rise building, but does 
not adequately satisfy the criteria of local signficance. The 
City has recently finalised a study to provide an 
understanding of post World War II and Modern 
Movement architecture in Central Sydney. The study 
period considered Bligh House, built in 1964 in its 
chronology of Modern Movement items , however it was 
not identified to be significant for heritage listing.

2 Transport for 
NSW

Raise no significant issues. Note the site is within the 
Sydney Metro corridor. Any future development 
applications must comply with relevant guidelines and be 
referred to TfNSW and Sydney Metro. The application must 
also provide a Coach Parking and Passenger Pick-Up and Set-
Down Management Plan, details of the devleopment's 
freight and servicing profile, revise design to show increase 
provision of loading and serving facilities on-site, detailed 
pedestrian route assessment and identify any works needed 
to improve pedestrian facilities.

Noted.

17



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

3 Individual Support proposal, would wish for it to go higher. Noted. Height is based on planning proposal request.

4 On behalf of 
owner at 1 
Chifley Square 
(QANTAS 
House)

No further reduction in tower setbacks. The draft DCP 
seeks a 4.9m to 6m tower setback control from the south 
eastern boundary. This is a reduced setback compared to 
the current Sydney DCP 2012 which has a 6m control for 
hotel buildings. There should be no further reduction in the 
proposed setback to ensure that a reasonable amount of 
light to 1 Chifley Square is retained.

Section 5.1.2 of SDCP2012 relates to setbacks, and 
defines a hotel as a commercial building. Above a height 
of 45m, windows and balconies of commercial buildings 
are to be set back at least 3m from side and rear property 
boundary. While the proposal does not comply with the 
building setbacks in the proposed Sydney DCP 2012 - 
Central Sydney amendment, the proposed DCP allows 
variation to side and rear setback if it provides equivalent 
or improved wind comfort, wind safety and daylight levels 
in adjacent public places. As part of the request, wind and 
daylight levels of the proposed built form demonstrates 
acceptable wind and daylight impacts on the public 
domain.  The light well to the rear of 1 Chifley Square is a 
design feature of the heritage listed building and is of 
significance. DCP provisions have been clarified to ensure 
new development respect and reinforce the significance 
of the items including any significant light well areas.  

New podium setback control. The reference design has a 
4m setback from the south-eastern boundary. However this 
is not reflected in the draft DCP. While the draft DCP 
conceptually indicates a podium setback, 4m is not 
specified. The draft DCP should be amended to include a 
podium setback diagram. If the podium setback control is 
not specified, the control could be unclear.

The proposal provides a building envelope within which 
articulation and heritage considerations can shape detail 
design, especially during the architectural design 
competition. The reference design is one example of how 
a proposed building on the site. As the light well to the 
rear of 1 Chifley Square is a design feature of the heritage 
listed building and is of significance. DCP provisions have 
been clarified to ensure new development adjacent to 
heritage items respect and reinforce the significance of 
the items including maintaining daylight to light well 
areas.

5 On behalf of 
owner at 25 
Bligh Street 
(Bligh 
Chambers)

The proposal does not comply with side setback controls 
under current controls or the Draft Central Sydney Planning 
Strategy. The tower setbacks below and above 120 metres 
have been disregarded, particularly on the side boundaries. 
The required distances are in direct contravention to the 
current policy position stipulated by the Council and should 
not be supported. There is little justification for derogating 
from the side setback other than that the reduced sky 
visibility will be less than 0.01% and  wind comfort and 
safety pedestrian environment will be improved. 

The purpose of the planning proposal is to consider 
amending existing planning controls. The proposed 
Central Sydney Planning Strategy amendment has been 
considered in formulating the draft controls. The 
proposed amendment controls require side and rear 
setbacks of 4m below 120m and approximately 6.8m 
above 120m. Variation to side and rear setbacks are 
permitted to building massing that provides equivalent or 
improved wind comfort, wind safety and daylight levels in 
adjacent public places. The planning proposal has 
domonstrated this and is considered acceptable in this 
regard.

18



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

View loss and view sharing. The proposal will result in view 
loss towards the Domain, Rushcutters Bay and further to the 
eastern suburbs, exacerbated by non-compliance with the 
required building setbacks and proposed increase in FSR. 
There is no contemplation of private view loss to private 
buildings, as a result of the reduced side setbacks. With a 
lower FSR and compliant setbacks, view sharing of a modest 
nature can be facilitated to protect the amenity enjoyed by 
Bligh Chambers. In relation to the principles set out in 
Tenacity Consulting v Warringah Council: a) the view is a 
whole view directed towards the Domain and further afield 
to the eastern suburbs. It benefits more than half of the 
building, across the subject site; b) the view is available from 
the front of the property and is available from both a 
standing and sitting position; c) as a result of the non-
compliant setbacks, the whole of this eastern view towards 
the Domain and further east would be lost from all levels of 
the building above the height of the existing structure on 
the subject site. Further, the future development 
opportunity associated with the site would be stifled with 
regard to potential view; d) the proposal does not comply 
with the fundamental control for side setbacks.  

4-6 Bligh Street is immediately south east of 25 Bligh 
Street, known as Bligh Chambers. Bligh Chambers 
currently benefits from views to the Domain and beyond 
by heritage items and lower scaled buildings that allow 
enjoyment of district views. 4-6 Bligh Street is directly 
between Bligh Chambers and the Domain. It means that 
any major development of the site would significantly 
impact the view loss.  Increased setbacks would provide a 
glimpse of the view currently enjoyed by 25 Bligh Street. 
The view loss is of a district view and does not include any 
iconic views or landmarks. The view is also not considered 
to be a whole view, as only a cross section of the Domain 
and surrounding suburbs are visible. The principles 
established under Tenacity Consulting vs Warringah 
Council also consider how reasonable it is to retain the 
view and the extent of the impact. Views from sitting 
positions and from living areas where people spend more 
time are considered more significant than from serviced 
areas.  As Bligh Chambers is a commercial building, not 
directly fronting the Domain, allowing 4-6 Bligh Street to 
reach development potential and provide increase 
employment floor space in central Sydney, is reasonable.

Non compliant FSR. The additional FSR proposed is 57% 
increase on the already increased draft standard, 
encouraging a building design of excessive bulk and scale 
which is further exacerbated by non-compliance with side 
setback controls. The draft LEP has already seen a significant 
increase in FSR to 14:1 and the requested 22:1 has created a 
bulkier building with an increase footprint which 
unnecessarily reduces the useability and value of 
surrounding buildings. The 14:1 FSR encourages a tall, 
skinny tower that will take advantage of the increase height 
controls whilst allowing for view sharing and natural light to 
pass through the City. The proposed increase in the building 
footprint, increase FSR and non-compliant setbacks do not 
promote a tall slender tower as is intended for buildings 
that are prescribed to achieve design excellence.     

The existing controls allow a maximum FSR of 14:1 
excluding any bonus floor space available as a result of 
design excellence. The proposed controls is for a 
maximum of 20:1 excluding any design excellence bonus, 
and 21.2:1 above ground. The FSR represents an increase 
in current controls but a reduction in maximum height. 
The development must be the result of an architectural 
design competition and exhibit design excellence. The 
maximum floor plate area above podium is to be 600m2, 
which is not large. The proposal to increase floor space 
capacity is consistent with the nine aims of the proposed 
Central Sydney Planning Strategy which allows 
development potential for this site and provides 
economic opportunities and growth for Central Sydney.

19



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

Loss of natural light.  The position of proposed building 
form, given its limited setbacks will likely result in almost 
complete loss of natural morning light to 25 Bligh Street 
given the extent of the proposed frontage to Bligh Street. 
The eastern facade of 25 Bligh Street accounts for 75% of 
natural light and views to the existing offices, with less than 
half of the western facade of the building containing 
windows. The reference design will limit natural light to 
these offices by up to 75% as a starting position. To further 
reduce the available natural light to the eastern face of the 
building is of significant detriment to the amenity enjoyed 
by Bligh Chambers, particularly having regard to non-
compliance with the setback requirements, which are 
representative of the current and future position of suitable 
development controls anticipated by the Council. The lack of 
side setbacks proposed should not be supported due to the 
significant reduction of natural light enjoyed by Bligh 
Chambers. It is inconsistent with Clause 1.3(c) of the EP&A 
Act which requires  the orderly and economic use and 
development of land.  There is no contemplation of loss of 
natural light to private buildings, as a result of the reduced 
side setbacks.

The orientation of Bligh Street results in sites with 
buildings that predominantly face east and west. 25 Bligh 
Street currently benefits from surrounding heritage items 
and lower scaled buildings that allow ambient light. Due 
to the angle of the sun and the siting of the buildings, 
there will be no shadow cast upon 25 Bligh Street from 
the proposed building envelope during the winter 
solstice. During the summer solstice, there will be some 
loss of direct sunlight at 7am and negligible loss at 9am. 
By 11am the proposed envelope had no impact on the 
eastern façade of 25 Bligh Street. The slight reduction in 
direct sunlight to 25 Bligh Street as a result of the 
proposed envelope in early morning at the summer 
solstice is acceptable. In Central Sydney's dynamic and 
dense development environment, certainty for the 
protection of private amenities such as sunlight and views 
cannot be guaranteed. The maintenance of sunlight 
access and private views to existing development should 
not unduly restrict the economic performance and 
economic growth of Central Sydney and therefore is 
consistent with the objects of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act as it does promote the orderly and 
economic use and development of land. 

Inconsistent with draft Central Sydney Planning Strategy - 
LEP Amendments. By avoiding compliance with the 
specified building setbacks, it does not achieve the stated 
explanation of the provisions in that planning proposal.

The proposal is consistent with the proposed Central 
Sydney Planning Strategy. The proposal does not comply 
with the building setbacks in the proposed Sydney DCP 
2012 - Central Sydney Planning Review amendment, 
however the proposed DCP allows variation to side and 
rear setback if it provides equivalent or improved wind 
comfort, wind safety and daylight levels in adjacent public 
places. As part of the request, wind and daylight levels of 
the proposed built form demonstrates acceptable wind 
and daylight impacts on the public domain. 

Inconsistent with draft Sydney DCP. The proposal with non-
compliant setbacks will not achieve a slender building as 
required by Objective (a) and (b), and due to the extent of 
building alignment on a single plane, will appear as 'overly 
massive'. Further the building will not in its overall form, 
become less bulky as it reaches its peak for it is the same for 
the entire tower height.

Notwithstanding the proposed Sydney DCP 2012 - Central 
Sydney Planning Review amendment has not been 
exhibited, the proposed controls are consistent. The 
proposed envelope allows for a horizontal dimension of 
approximately 37m (maximum is 100m); and size of floor 
plate above street frontage height is 600m2. The 
proposed controls do not require tapering. The proposed 
DCP amendment states that tapering can be varied if the 
proposal has demonstrated compliance with a varied 
setback. The proposal results in a small tower floor plate 
for a building height to 205m. Tapering that would have 
been required for the top 85m would equate to an 
additional setback of 0.6m on each side of the tower, 
totalling 60m2 and is considered to have minimal impact.

20



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

Does not achieve development outlook. The reference 
design extends beyond permitted setbacks. There are no 
sufficient environmental grounds to justify this departure, 
particularly where such new planning controls are the 
current direction that the Council is taking for development 
of this nature and should be upheld. The reference design 
should make use of the design excellence provisions to 
achieve a development that allows for existing structures to 
access natural light and views.

Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 2012 purposefully seek 
to protect and enhance public amenity such as daylight 
and sunlight to Public Places and public views that are of 
benefit to the whole community. In Central Sydney's 
dynamic and dense development environment certainty 
for the protection of private amenities such as sunlight 
and views cannot be guaranteed. The maintenance of 
sunlight access and private views to existing development 
should not unduly restrict economic performance and 
economic growth of Central Sydney.

Request revised side setback and FSR. At a minimum 
comply with the minimum side setback distances. However 
in the interest of preserving the view to the east, having 
regard to what is currently enjoyed from Bligh Chambers, 
request that the side setback be amended to a distance of 
10 metres to the northern boundary and 8 metres to the 
southern boundary. The proposal should also adhere to the 
14:1 (+design excellence) FSR allowable under the draft 
planning controls. These have been very recently reviewed. 
The lack of building form to the south of Bligh Chambers, 
may result in it being appropriate to locate a building that is 
more closely positioned to the southern boundary. This 
would result in a substantial improvement to the extent of 
view loss that would be experienced and provides a greater 
opportunity for view sharing and natural light.

The proposal demonstrates that varied setbacks result in 
acceptable impacts on the public domain. The 
development will increase employment floor space, 
benefiting the whole community. It would be 
unreasonable to require a minimum setback of 10m to 
protect private views and natural light on a site that 
currently benefit from lower scaled buildings. This 
proposal is consistent with the proposed Central Sydney 
Planning Strategy that ensures Sydney continues to be a 
global city and can accommodate employment growth.

Limit future development potential. Bligh Chambers 
benefits from future planning controls that would allow for 
a similar redevelopment outcome to be achieved. If such an 
outcome were to be pursued for residential purposes, the 
design and form of the Planning proposal would heavily 
restrict the ability for a redeveloped Bligh Chambers to 
achieve a residential population on this site. The planning 
proposal will result in a significant loss of natural light to 
Bligh Chambers and hinder development potential 
particularly under SEPP65 and the ADG.

Bligh Chambers is one of many sites within central 
Sydney. In Central Sydney's dense urban environment,  
certainty for the protection of private amenities such as 
sunlight and views cannot be guaranteed and are often 
dependent on the location and characteristics of a site. 
Residential development potential on the site would need 
to comply with SEPP 65 and the ADG, like many other 
sites within central Sydney seeking such a use. If like the 
subject site, Bligh Chnmbers sough to increase site 
ptential through a planning propsoal it will also need to 
be consitent with the proposed Central Sydney Strategy 
and amendments.

21



Attachment B 

Planning Proposal – 4-6 Bligh Street, 
Sydney 

22



 

 

Planning Proposal 
4-6 Bligh Street 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

March June 2018  

  

 
 
 
 

23



 

1 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................... 2 
Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes ................................................................ 9 
Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions ....................................................................... 9 
Part 3 – Justification ................................................................................................ 14 
Part 4 – Mapping ..................................................................................................... 23 
Part 5 – Community Consultation ............................................................................ 23 
Part 6 – Project Timeline ......................................................................................... 24 
 
  

24



 

2 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Introduction 
This Planning Proposal explains the intent of, and justification for the proposed 
amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan. 
The proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 3.33 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant 
Department of Planning Guidelines, including A Guide to Preparing Local 
Environmental Plans and A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals. 

Background 
In July 2016 Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) endorsed 
draft Central Sydney Planning Strategy (proposed Strategy), Central Sydney 
Planning Proposal, draft Sydney DCP 2012 – Central Sydney Planning Review 
Amendment (draft Sydney DCP 2012) and draft Affordable Housing Program for 
public exhibition following a gateway determination.  
Council and CSPC also endorsed the aims of the proposed Strategy as matters to 
be addressed in any planning proposal for a site in Central Sydney that seeks to 
amend Sydney Local Environment Plan 2012 (SLEP 2012). A request for gateway 
determination for the Central Sydney Planning Proposal, supported by the proposed 
Strategy, was submitted in August 2016. 
In August 2017 Architectus, on behalf of site owner SC Capital Partners Group, 
provided preliminary information to the City for a potential planning proposal for 4-6 
Bligh Street, to increase the maximum Floor Space Ratio (FSR) to enable a hotel 
tower above an office podium. The information was generally in line with the City’s 
proposed Central Sydney Planning Strategy adopted by Council and CSPC in July 
2016, however at the time of writing this has not been endorsed by the Department 
of Planning and Environment.  
The estimated value of the future hotel and office development, being over $100 
million, categorises it as State Significant Development under State Environmental 
Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) 2011. As such Council and the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) would not be the consent authority for 
the future development application and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
would not apply. 
In September 2017, the City responded to the potential planning proposal welcoming 
continued dialogue in line with the proposed Strategy. However, an increase in FSR 
it was felt should not be considered until the NSW Government had issued a 
gateway determination for the proposed Strategy and associated Central Sydney 
Planning Proposal to enable public exhibition. 
On 27 October 2017, a Rezoning Review request was lodged and referred to the 
Planning Assessment Commission. Independently, on the same day, taking into 
consideration the Department’s opinion and that the development would be classified 
as State Significant Development, the City advised it would consider a planning 
proposal request if lodged. 
On 1 December 2017, a rezoning review was undertaken by the Planning 
Assessment Commission. It concluded that the proposal should be submitted for 
Gateway determination, because the proposal has demonstrated Strategic Merit and 
Site Specific Merit. However, the recommendation report notes: 

25



 

3 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

(a) the proponent is to demonstrate how the additional FSR is to be 
accommodated or how the maximum FSR should be reduced to reflect what 
is achievable; 

(b) the strategic merit of the project is intrinsically linked to the proposed 
development of hotel accommodation and modern office space; and also 
intrinsically dependent on the provision of infrastructure funding and 
satisfactory arrangements are required for the proposal to progress to 
finalisation; and 

(c) refinements will be required to fully characterise the potential impacts of the 
development, which can be finalised as part of the detailed review of the 
planning proposal. 

 

On 11 January 2018, the Department issued a letter providing Council the opportunity 
to be the planning authority to prepare a planning proposal for Gateway determination. 
Council accepted this role in February 2018. 

In February 2018, the proponent formally lodged a planning proposal request with the 
City including some refinements and clarifications to the building envelope. 

Taking into consideration the Planning Assessment Commissions recommendation 
and the fact that the development would be classified as State Significant 
Development, the City has prepared a planning proposal to amend Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012.  

  

26



 

4 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Site Identification 

Location 
The planning proposal relates to 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney, located within Central 
Sydney’s financial, professional and business services core, 200 metres north of 
Martin Place and 470 metres south of Circular Quay. See location map below at 
Figure 1.  

Land Ownership 
4-6 Bligh Street is a single landholding owned by One Investment Management Pty 
Ltd. The legal description of the land affected by this planning proposal is Lot A DP 
184770, Lot 1 DP 919932, Lot 1 DP 134866, Lot 2 DP 134866. 

Figure 1 – Site location map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Site Characteristics 
The total site area of 4-6 Bligh Street is approximately 1218m2.  
The area is characterised by a mix of commercial office and hotel uses with some 
ground level retail, restaurant, and café uses in buildings of varying heights, ages 
and styles. 
The height of buildings in this part of the CBD immediately surrounding the site is 
characterised by predominately mid-rise buildings with taller high-rise tower buildings 
located further beyond and surrounding the site. 

  

SITE 

55 Hunter 
New Sydney 
Metro Station 

Richard 
Johnson 
Square 

Chifley 
Square 

27



 

5 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Existing Planning Controls 
Table A and Map Extracts A-E below summarise the key planning controls in SLEP2012 that 
are relevant to this Planning Proposal. 
 

Table A – Key planning controls in SLEP 2012 
 
Relevant Control / Provision  Comment 
Zoning 
B8 Metropolitan Centre 
Refer to Map Extract A 

The B8 Zone permits a broad range of uses 
including commercial premises, community 
facilities, food and drink premises, residential 
accommodation and tourist or visitor 
accommodation. 

Building Height 
Refer to Map Extract B from Height 
of Buildings Map 

The maximum permissible building height for the 
site is 235m.  

Floor Space Ratio 
14.88:1 (8:1 base FSR + 6:1 hotel 
FSR + 4.5:1 office and retail FSR) 
 
Refer to Map Extract C 

SLEP2012 Clause 6.4 Accommodation floor space 
allows an additional amount of FSR subject to 
design excellence and the purchase of heritage 
floor space.  
 
Pursuant to Clause 6.21(7), the consent authority 
may grant an additional 10% of floor area if a 
competitive design process has been undertaken 
and design excellence is demonstrated.  
 

Sun Access Protection 
Refer to Map Extract D 

The site is affected by controls to protect 
further overshadowing of Pitt Street Mall and 
Chiefly Square. 
 
SLEP 2012 cl. 6.19 Overshadowing of certain 
public places provides that there shall be no 
additional overshadowing of Pitt Street Mall 
and Chiefly Square during specified times. 

Heritage 
Refer to Map Extract E 

The site does not contain any heritage items 
but adjoins and is located in the vicinity of a 
number of items including the Sofitel Sydney 
Wentworth hotel, the City Mutual Building and 
1 Chifley Square. 

 
  

28



 

6 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Map Extract A – Zoning Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map Extract B – Height of Buildings Map 
 
 
 
 
  

29



 

7 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Map Extract C – Floor Space Ratio Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map Extract D – Sun Access Protection Map  
 
 
 
  

30



 

8 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

 
Map Extract E – Heritage Map  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

31



 

9 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Part 1 – Objectives or Intended 
Outcomes 
The objectives of the planning proposal are to: 

• facilitate the redevelopment of the site to allow additional floor space capacity for 
uses other than residential and serviced apartments 

• deliver a high quality built form and protect public domain amenity 
• achieve a high standard of ecologically sustainable development and contribute 

towards zero net energy. 
 

The intended outcome of the planning proposal is to facilitate redevelopment of 4-6 
Bligh Street Sydney by: 

• allowing Strategic additional site specific floor space to achieve a maximum floor 
space ratio control to 22:1 including all existing additional floor space and potential 
design excellence bonuses under Sydney Local Environmental Plan. 

• Ensure development will be subject to architectural design competition 
• Ensure adequate building separation and setback to ensure an appropriate level of 

wind and daylight amenity for pedestrians 
• Ensuring development meet 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for the commercial 

component and 4.5 star for the hotel component and 4 star NABERS water score for 
commercial office and hotel  

• Ensure development will include an end of journey trip facility 
• Ensure additional floor space is commensurate with or supports the capacity of 

existing and planned infrastructure 

 

Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions 
The intent of this planning proposal is to amend the existing controls to allow greater 
floor space capacity for this site. This is consistent with the nine aims of the draft 
Central Sydney Planning Strategy. 
It is proposed to amend SLEP 2012, by: 

• inserting a new clause and schedule allowing for Strategic additional floor space for 
the site but only if specific criteria are met to a maximum FSR of 22:1; 

• amending clause 6.3 to include new Strategic floor space as a type of additional 
floor space in Central Sydney,  

• ensure floor space eligible under the new clause is included in the calculation of 
additional floor space that can be awarded under clause 6.21(7); 

• amending clause 4.6 to ensure the development standards under the new clause 
Strategic floor space cannot be varied. 

The proposed outcome will be achieved by specifying: 
• Provide additional strategic site specific floorspace to enable a total FSR of 20:1 

including base FSR, accommodation floor space, and any other bonus floor space 
but excluding any floor space eligible to be awarded as a result of design excellence, 
to allow the development to achieve: 

o a maximum of 22:1 including all other bonuses, and any floor space eligible 
to be awarded as a result of design excellence under clause 6.21(7)(b) of 
Sydney LEP 2012; 

o a maximum of 21.2:1 for the floor space above ground, including any floor 
space eligible to be awarded as a result of design excellence under clause 
6.21(7)(b) of Sydney LEP 2012 

32



 

10 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

• To achieve additional site specific FSR: 
o The building, as built and to be used in the future, must not be used for the 

purposes of residential accommodation or serviced apartments. 
o Maximum height of  is 205m for the site: 

 Despite any other provisions in the LEP 
 No additional height can be awarded through the Design Excellence 

process or as a result of an architectural roof feature 
 However within the specified distance from the boundaries, the 

maximum height control is 45m, unless it achieves better daylight 
and wind conditions in the public domain 

o Maximum floor plate area above podium is 600m2 
o Include an end of journey trip facility 
o Meet 5.5 star Base Building NABERS Energy rating for the commercial 

component and 4.5 star for the hotel component and 4 star NABERS water 
score for commercial office and hotel through a commitment agreement 

o The development must be a the result of an architectural design competition 
and exhibits design excellence. Any additional floor space eligible as a 
result, will be calculated to include Strategic additional site specific floor 
space eligible under this clause  

o The development must be commensurate with or supports the capacity of 
existing and planned infrastructure 

• Clause 4.6 cannot apply to these new controls 
• Clause 6.11 will continue to apply to these new controls in relation to all additional 

floor space other than the strategic additional site specific floor space awarded 
under clause 6.X. 

An example of the clauses are provided below.  

6.X Strategic floor space in Central Sydney 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney  
1) The objective of this clause is to: 

a) allow additional height or floor space on the sites in Central Sydney for uses 
other than residential accommodation and serviced apartments 

b) deliver a high quality built form and protect public domain amenity 
c) achieve a high standard of design, ecologically sustainable development and 

contribute towards zero net energy 
d) ensure any development utilising strategic floor space is commensurate with 

or supports the capacity of existing and planned infrastructure 
2) This clause applies to land in Central Sydney identified in Column A of Schedule 

XX 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney being Lot A DP 184770, Lot 1 DP 919932, Lot 1 DP 
134866, Lot 2 DP 134866. 

3) Despite clauses 4.3 and 4.4, the consent authority may grant development 
consent to the erection of a building that: 
a) height shown in Column B, Schedule XX, subject to the development 

satisfying the specified matters in Column D of Schedule XX; and  
b) Has a strategic floor space ratio described in Column C, Schedule XX, 

subject to the development satisfying the specified matters in Column D of 
Schedule XX.  

3) Despite Clause 4.4, the gross floor area of a building on land to which this clause 
applies may exceed the maximum permitted as a result of the floor space ratio 
shown for the land on the Floor Space Ratio Map by an amount no greater than 
the sum of any one or more of the following for which the building may be 
eligible: 
a) any accommodation floor space under clauses 6.4 to 6.9; 

33



 

11 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

b) any additional site specific floor space for which the building may be eligible 
under this clause; and 

c) any amount determined by the consent authority under clause 6.21(7)(b). 
4) A building on land to which this clause applies is eligible for an amount of 

additional site specific floor space:  
a) to a maximum floor space ratio of 20:1 excluding any floor space awarded as 

a result of design excellence under Clause 6.21(7); 
b) to a maximum floor space ratio of 21.2:1 for all floor space above ground 

level including any awarded as a result of design excellence under Clause 
6.21(7); 

c) to a maximum floor space ratio of 22:1, if additional floor space is awarded as 
a result of design excellence under Clause 6.21(7); 

d) Clause 6.11 continue to apply to all additional floor space under clauses 6.4 
to 6.9 and any awarded under 6.21(7). 

5) Despite any other provision of this Plan, a building erected in accordance with a 
development consent granted under subclause (3) must: 
a) have a maximum building height of 205m and a maximum height of 45m 

within: 
i) 8 metres of the north-western (Bligh Street) boundary; 
ii) 3 metres of the north-eastern boundary; 
iii) 5 metres of the south-eastern boundary; and 
iv) 3 metres of the south-western boundary. 
or achieves better than existing daylight and wind condition in the public 
domain 

b) is not eligible for any additional height under any clause including Clause 
6.21 Design excellence and Clause 5.6 Architectural roof features 

c) not be built or used in the future for the purpose of residential accommodation 
or serviced apartments 

d) has a maximum floor plate area of 600m2 above the podium 
e) include an end of journey trip facility 
f) exhibit design excellence as a result of an architectural design competition in 

line with the City’s Competitive Design Policy 
g) Mmeet 5.5 star Base Building NABERS Energy rating for the commercial 

component and 4.5 star for the hotel component and 4 star NABERS water 
score for commercial office and hotel  

h) demonstrate equivalent or improved wind comfort, wind safety and daylight 
levels in adjacent public domain. 

6) The consent authority must not grant consent unless it is satisfied that 
development is commensurate or supports the capacity of existing and planned 
infrastructure.  

7) Despite clause 6.21(7)(b), the amount of additional site specific floor space 
permitted under that paragraph in respect of a building on land to which this 
clause applies is up to 10% of: 
a) the amounts set out in clause 6.21(7)(b)(i) and (ii); and 

34



 

12 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

b) any additional floor space for which the building is eligible under this clause. 
 

Schedule XX - Strategic height and floor space in Central Sydney 

Column A 
- Land 

Column B – 
strategic height  

Column B 
– strategic 
floor space 

Column C – matters to be 
satisfied 

4-6 Bligh 
Street, 
Sydney 
being Lot A 
DP 
184770, 
Lot 1 DP 
919932, 
Lot 1 DP 
134866, 
Lot 2 DP 
134866 

A maximum 
building height of 
205m and a 
maximum height 
of 45m within: 
a) 8 metres of 

the north-
western 
(Bligh Street) 
boundary; 

b) 3 metres of 
the north-
eastern 
boundary; 

c) 5 metres of 
the south-
eastern 
boundary; 
and 

d) 3 metres of 
the south-
western 
boundary. 

Difference 
between 
20:1 and 
any floor 
space 
eligible 
under 
clauses 6.4 
to 6.9 but 
excluding 
any floor 
space 
awarded as 
a result of 
design 
excellence. 

The development:  
1) Has a maximum building height 

as shown in Column B or 
achieves better daylight and 
wind condition in the public 
domain. 

2) is not eligible for any additional 
height under any clause 

3) will not have an FSR greater 
than 21.3:1 for all floor space 
above ground level including 
any awarded as a result of 
design excellence. 

4) If additional floor space is 
awarded under Clause 6.21(7), 
calculation will include the 
Strategic floor space set up in 
this clause/schedule. 
 

 

6.21 Design Excellence 
… 
(7) A building demonstrating design excellence: 

a) may have a building height that exceeds the maximum height shown for the 
land on the Height of Buildings Map by an amount, to be determined by the 
consent authority, of up to 10% of the amount shown on the map, or 

b) is eligible for an amount of additional floor space, to be determined by the 
consent authority, of up to 10% of: 

(i) the amount permitted as a result of the floor space ratio shown for the 
land on the Floor Space Ratio Map, and 

(ii) any accommodation floor space or community infrastructure floor 
space for which the building is eligible under Division 1 or 2. 

(iii) any additional floor space eligible under Clause 6.X 

35

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2012/628/maps
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2012/628/maps


 

13 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

 

6.3 Additional floor space in Central Sydney 
Despite clause 4.4, the gross floor area of a building on land in Central Sydney may 
exceed the maximum permitted as a result of the floor space ratio shown for the land 
on the Floor Space Ratio Map by an amount no greater than the sum of any one or 
more of the following for which the building may be eligible: 

a) Any accommodation floor space, 
b) Any amount determined by the consent authority under clause 6.21(7)(b), 
c) Any car parking reduction floor space, end of journey floor space, entertainment and 

club floor space, lanes development floor space or opportunity floor space. 
d) - (f) (Repealed) 

(g) Any Strategic floor space under Clause 6.X and Schedule XX 

4.6 Exceptions to development standards 
… 
(8) This clause does not allow development consent to be granted for development that 
would contravene any of the following: 
 

(a) a development standard for complying development, 

(b) a development standard that arises, under the regulations under the Act, in 
connection with a commitment set out in a BASIX certificate for a building to which 
State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 
applies or for the land on which such a building is situated, 

(c) clause 5.4, 

(ca) clause 4.3 (Height of buildings), but only in relation to land shown as being in 
Area 1 or Area 2 on the Height of Buildings Map, 

(cab) clause 4.5A (Balconies on certain residential flat buildings), 

(cb) clause 5.3A (Development below ground level in Zone RE1), 

(cc) clause 6.10 (Heritage floor space), 

(cd) clause 6.11 (Utilisation of certain additional floor space requires allocation of 
heritage floor space), 

(cda) clause 6.11A (Temporary alternative heritage arrangements in relation to 
allocation of heritage floor space), 

(ce) clause 6.17 (Sun access planes), 

(cf) clause 6.18 (Exceptions to sun access planes), 

(cg) clause 6.19 (Overshadowing of certain public places), except in respect of 
Australia Square Plaza, Chifley Square, First Government House Place and Sydney 
Town Hall steps, 

(cga) clause 6.26 (AMP Circular Quay precinct), 

(cgb) clause 6.29 (58–60 Martin Place, Sydney), 

(cgc) clause 6.33 (230–238 Sussex Street, Sydney), 

(cgd) clause 6.35 (45 Murray Street, Pyrmont), but only if the development is an 
alteration or addition to an existing building, 

(cge) clause 6.36 (12–20 Rosebery Avenue, 22–40 Rosebery Avenue and 108 
Dalmeny Avenue, Rosebery), 

(cgf) clause 6.37 (296–298 Botany Road and 284 Wyndham Street, Alexandria), 

36

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2004/396
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2012/628/maps


 

14 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

(cgg) clause 6.X Strategic Floor Space 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney 

(ch)Division 1 of Part 7 (Car parking ancillary to other development). 

 

Part 3 – Justification 
This section of the planning proposal provides the rationale for the amendments and 
responds to questions set out in the document entitled A guide to preparing planning 
proposals, published by the Department of Planning and Environment in August 
2016. 

Section A – Need for the planning proposal 

Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 
Yes. The proposed amendment is generally consistent with the draft Central Sydney 
Planning Strategy 2016-2036 (the draft Strategy), which will allow for increased 
height and/or FSR to be achieved on sites where it can be demonstrated that this will 
not result in any unacceptable impacts on adjoining properties or on the public 
domain. 
The draft Strategy is the product of the most detailed review of city centre planning 
controls since the City’s first comprehensive planning strategy in 1971. As there will 
be insufficient floor space to accommodate future jobs forecast in Central Sydney, 
the Strategy will unlock economic opportunities and investment in jobs, and supports 
public improvements that make Sydney an attractive place for business, workers, 
residents and visitors. The Strategy outlines moves to prioritise employment growth, 
increase capacity and ensure infrastructure keeps pace with growth. They make 
Central Sydney more sustainable and protect and enhance its heritage and public 
spaces.  
 

Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or 
intended outcomes, or is there a better way? 
The planning proposal is the best, most efficient and most time effective approach to 
delivering the desired outcome for this site. Site specific conditions can be tested to 
ensure a built form is appropriate and does not result in unacceptable impacts on 
adjoining properties and the public domain. 

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional, sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any 
exhibited draft plans or strategies? 
In October 2017 the Greater Sydney Commission released the draft Greater Sydney 
Region Plan. The Region Plan sets the 40 year vision and 20 year plan for all of 
Greater Sydney. The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the state government strategic 
document that outlines a vision for Greater Sydney over the next 40 years. The Plan 
outlines how Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and guide 
infrastructure delivery, and is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans.  
It identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney, which is forecast to grow from 4.7 
million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater Sydney must provide for an 

37



 

15 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide 725,000 more homes over 
the next 20 years. 
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant objectives and 
planning priorities of the draft Greater Sydney Region Plan: 

• Objective 2: Infrastructure aligns with forecast growth – growth infrastructure 
compact 

• Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive 

• Objective 22: Investment and business activities in centres 

• Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success 

• Objectives 33, 34 and 35: A low carbon city contributes to net-zero emissions 
by 2050 and mitigates climate change 

The draft Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of 
Sydney local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and 
achieve the 40-year vision of the draft Greater Sydney Region Plan. 
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant planning priorities and 
actions of the draft Eastern City District Plan: 

• Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD 

• Planning Priority E9: Growing international trade gateways 

• Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in 
strategic centres 

• Planning Priority E13 Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors 

• Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, 
water and waste efficiently 

The proposed amendments to SLEP 2012 will directly facilitate these priorities by 
creating additional floor space for commercial office and hotel use, as well as 
contributing to the infrastructure and affordable housing fund.  
This planning proposal supports the above key objectives and priorities as it will: 
provide for a high-quality office and hotel building in a highly accessible location; 
promote sustainable development; complement the new light rail and proposed cycle 
network in Central Sydney; and provide for hotel accommodation. 

Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other 
local strategic plan? 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 is the vision for sustainable development of the City of 
Sydney to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of 
the City of Sydney. Sustainable Sydney 2030 (SS2030) outlines the City’s vision for 
a ‘green’, ‘global’ and ‘connected’ City of Sydney and sets targets, objectives and 
actions to achieve that vision. 
As such, the Planning Proposal is consistent with Sustainable Sydney 2030, 
particularly: 

• Direction 1 – A globally competitive and innovative city - The proposal will 
support a future high quality urban design outcome that will provide new 
employment opportunities. The investment into the site will help contribute to 
make Sydney attractive to global investors, including through ensuring a 
mixed use building is delivered on the site. 

38



 

16 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

• Direction 2 – A leading environmental performer - The planning proposal will 
support a more ecologically sustainable development on the site, with a 
target of meeting a minimum 5.5 stars NABERS energy rating for the 
commercial component and 5 stars for the hotel component of the 
development, and 4 star NABERS water score for commercial office and 
hotel.  

• Direction 3 – Integrated transport for a connected city - The proposal will 
capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train stations, future light 
rail, and a significant number of high frequency bus and ferry routes. The 
sites proximity to a broad range of services will also further limit potential 
future trips by vehicle and encourage sustainable transport behaviour. 

• Direction 5 – A lively and engaging city centre - The mix of uses on the site 
will continue and significantly improve the levels of activation in this part of 
the City. 

• Direction 6 – Vibrant local communities and economies - The planning 
proposal facilitates development that will enhance the CBD and Harbour area 
by increasing business opportunities for workers, local residents, and tourists. 
This Planning Proposal will allow a significant investment into central Sydney 
and provide for a mixed use commercial building including hotel facilities in 
this part of the City. 

• Direction 9 – Sustainable development, renewal and design - The planning 
proposal includes building envelope controls that are aimed at delivering 
design excellence. In addition, the proposal will support a future development 
that is expected to include a range of sustainable building features. 

By proposing a commercial and hotel building, committing to a full architectural 
design competition and achieving net-zero carbon, zero-waste and water sensitive 
outcomes, and protecting public domain amenity, the proposal is consistent with the 
aims of the draft Central Sydney Planning Strategy being, the guiding strategic plan 
for Central Sydney over the next 20 years. 

Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental 
planning policies? 
This planning proposal is consistent with applicable SEPPs and deemed SEPPs 
(formerly known as Regional Environmental Plans (REPs)) as shown in Table 1. In 
this section, ‘consistent’ means that the planning proposal does not contradict or 
hinder the application of the relevant SEPP or REP. 

Table 1 – Consistency with applicable SEPPs and REPs 

39



 

17 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

SEPPs with which 
this planning 
proposal is 
consistent 

SEPP 1 – Development Standards; SEPP 19—Bushland in 
Urban Areas; SEPP 21—Caravan Parks; SEPP 30—Intensive 
Agriculture; SEPP 33—Hazardous and Offensive 
Development; SEPP 50—Canal Estate Development; SEPP 
55—Remediation of Land; SEPP 62—Sustainable 
Aquaculture; SEPP 70—Affordable Housing (Revised 
Schemes); SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009; SEPP 
(Educational Establishments and Child Care Facilities) 2017; 
SEPP (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 2008; 
SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007; SEPP (Mining, Petroleum 
Production and Extractive Industries) 2007; SEPP 
(Miscellaneous Consent Provisions) 2007; SEPP (State and 
Regional Development) 2011; SEPP (State Significant 
Precincts) 2005; SEPP (Vegetation in Non-Rural Areas) 2017 

SEPPs that are 
not applicable to 
this planning 
proposal 

SEPP 14—Coastal Wetlands; SEPP 26—Littoral Rainforests; 
SEPP 36—Manufactured Home Estates; SEPP 44—Koala 
Habitat Protection; SEPP 47—Moore Park Showground; 
SEPP 52—Farm Dams and Other Works in Land and Water 
Management Plan Areas; SEPP 64—Advertising and Signage; 
SEPP 65—Design Quality of Residential Flat Development; 
SEPP 71—Coastal Protection; SEPP (Building Sustainability 
Index: BASIX) 2004; SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People 
with a Disability) 2004; SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park— 
Alpine Resorts) 2007; SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989; SEPP 
(Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989; SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008; 
SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 2011; SEPP 
(Sydney Region Growth Centres) 2006; SEPP (Three Ports) 
2013; SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010; SEPP (Western Sydney 
Employment Area) 2009; SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 
2009  

REPs with which 
this planning 
proposal is 
consistent 

Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 

REPs that are not 
applicable to this 
planning proposal 

Sydney REP 8—(Central Coast Plateau Areas); Sydney REP 
9—Extractive Industry (No 2—1995); Sydney REP 16—Walsh 
Bay; Sydney REP 20—Hawkesbury- Nepean River (No 2—
1997); Sydney REP 24—Homebush Bay Area; Sydney REP 
26—City West; Sydney REP 30—St Marys; Sydney REP 33—
Cooks Cove; Greater Metropolitan REP No 2— Georges River 
Catchment; Darling Harbour Development Plan No. 1; Sydney 
Cove Redevelopment Authority Scheme. 

 
State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP) No. 55 – Remediation of Land 

SEPP 55 aims to promote the remediation of contaminated land for the purpose of 
reducing the risk of harm to human health or any other aspect of the environment. It 
specifically requires consideration when rezoning land and in determining 
development applications, and requires that remediation work meets certain 
standards and notification requirements. 
Coffey has undertaken a preliminary review of the site from a contamination 
perspective (refer to Appendix 12) and identify potential areas of environmental 
concern relating to: 

40



 

18 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

• Hazardous building materials in current site structures; 
• Isolated leaks and/spills from mechanical plant infrastructure within the 

basement; and  
• Suspected underground storage tanks 

Coffey accordingly recommend a detailed site investigation including inspection of 
the suspected underground storage tanks and/or fill points. Notwithstanding, Coffey 
concludes that the site can be made suitable for the proposed commercial 
development with minimal access to soils in accordance with SEPP 55, subject to 
further investigations. 
State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 (SEPP Infrastructure) 
aims to facilitate the effective delivery of infrastructure across the State and identifies 
matters to be considered in the assessment of development adjacent to particular 
types of infrastructure. 
The site is identified within the Interim CBD Rail Link (CBDRL) Corridor (Zone B – 
Tunnel) under the Infrastructure SEPP. The CBD Metro and future Martin Place 
station will be located within close proximity to the site (refer to Figure 2 below). 
As the site is within the CBDRL corridor, review and approval by the relevant 
authorities will be necessary for any proposed works in the vicinity. The proposal will 
also be subject to the provisions in Division 15 of the SEPP. 
  

41



 

19 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2: Location within the Interim CBD Rail Corridor 

 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 

Under Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005, 4-6 
Bligh Street is located within the Sydney Harbour Catchment Boundary but not within 
the Foreshores and Waterways Area Boundary.  
The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder the application of the planning 
principles for Sydney Harbour Catchment, as set out in Clause 13 of the REP. 

 
Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions 
(s.117, now section 9.1, directions)? 
This planning proposal is consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions as shown 
in Table 2. In this section, ‘consistent’ means that the planning proposal does not 
contradict or hinder application of the relevant direction. 

Table 2 – Consistency with applicable Ministerial Directions under Section 117 
(now Section 9.1) 

Ministerial 
Directions with 
which this 
planning proposal 
is consistent  

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones; 2.3 Heritage Conservation; 
3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home Estates; 3.3 
Home occupations; 3.4 Integrating Land use and Transport; 
3.5 Development Near Licensed Aerodromes; 4.3 Flood Prone 
Land; 5.10 Implementation of Regional Plans; 6.1 Approval 
and Referral Requirements; 6.2 Reserving Land for Public 
Purposes; 7.1 Implementation of A Plan for Growing Sydney 

4-6 Bligh Street 

42



 

20 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Ministerial 
Directions that are 
not applicable to 
this planning 
proposal 

1.2 Rural Zones;1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and 
Extractive Industries; 1.4 Oyster Aquaculture; 1.5 Rural Lands; 
2.1 Environmental Protection Zones; 2.2 Coastal Protection; 
2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas; 2.5 Application of E2 and E3 
Zones and Environmental Overlays in Far North Coast LEPs; 
3.1 Residential Zones; 3.6 Shooting Ranges; 4.1 Acid Sulfate 
Soils; 4.2 Mine subsidence and Unstable land; 4.4 Planning for 
Bushfire Protection; 5.2 Sydney Drinking Water Catchments; 
5.3 Farmland of State and Regional Significance on the NSW 
Far North Coast; 5.4 Commercial and Retail Development 
along the Pacific Highway, North Coast; 5.8 Second Sydney 
Airport, Badgerys Creek; 5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor 
Strategy; 6.3 Site Specific Provisions;7.2 Implementation of 
Greater Macarthur Land Release Investigation; 7.3 Parramatta 
Road Corridor Urban Transformation Strategy; 7.4 
Implementation of North West Priority Growth Area Land Use 
and Infrastructure Implementation Plan; 7.5 Implementation of 
Greater Parramatta Priority Growth Area Interim Land Use and 
Infrastructure Implementation Plan; 7.6 Implementation of 
Wilton Priority Growth Area Interim Land Use and 
Infrastructure Implementation Plan 

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 

Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations 
or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a 
result of the proposal? 
The Planning Proposal is unlikely to adversely affect any critical habitat or 
threatened species, populations or ecological communities or their habitats.  

Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning 
Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 
It is unlikely that the proposed amendments will result in development creating any 
environmental effects that cannot readily be controlled. As future development 
comprises a contemporary commercial building, existing policies, regulations and 
standards are already in place to ensure environmental impacts are mitigated during 
the construction phase and eventual use of the development. 
 
The key environmental considerations arising from the planning proposal, particularly 
in relation to urban amenity, are discussed below. 
 
Solar Access and Overshadowing 
 
A shadow analysis has been undertaken by Architectus in the Urban Design 
Analysis Report at Appendix 2 to this planning proposal.  
 
The shadow analysis shows the proposed building envelope will not cause additional 
overshadowing to Pitt Street Mall. There will be negligible overshadowing impacts on 
Chifley Square, which is already mostly in shadow from surrounding developments. 
This is recognised by the draft Central Sydney Planning Strategy which proposes to 
remove the provision for no further overshadowing to Chifley Square. 
  

43



 

21 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

Daylight and Wind Impacts 
 
The indicative tower setbacks varying between 3m and 8m are not consistent with 
the draft Strategy. Accordingly, a sky view factor report, prepared by BIM consulting 
(Architectus) and a pedestrian wind environment study prepared by Windtech 
Consultants Pty Ltd at Appendix 10 to this planning proposal, is required to 
demonstrate that impact of the varied setbacks is acceptable.  
 
The sky view factor report concludes the sky visibility will not be the equivalent or 
better than a compliant scheme under the draft Sydney DCP 2012 – Central Sydney 
Planning Review Amendment. The resulting overall average reduction in sky visibility 
is less than 0.01%. 
 
The pedestrian environment wind report concludes wind impacts will be equivalent or 
better than a compliant scheme, and all ground level areas along Bligh Street satisfy 
the appropriate wind comfort and safety criteria as outlined in the draft Sydney DCP 
2012 – Central Sydney Planning Review Amendment. The report indicates a number 
of areas on the proposed podium roof will experience exceedances of the comfort 
criteria but no exceedance of the safety limit.  
 
As the impact assessment has been undertaken using the indicative tower massing, 
the proposed controls reflect the envelope including a revised maximum height 
control. 
 
Visual and view impacts 

Architectus has undertaken a View Analysis, as part of the Building Envelope and 
Urban Design Study at Appendix 2 to this planning proposal. Analysis includes the 
visual impact of the building envelope, as well as photomontage of key viewpoints 
being: 

• Bligh Street looking south 
• Phillip Street looking south 
• The Domain looking west 
• Hunter Street looking west 
• Elizabeth Street looking north 
• Corner of Hunter and Bligh Street 

  

A review of the images confirms that the tower will not detrimentally impact on 
important public views and view corridors, given the narrow street and existing street 
frontage heights in Bligh Street and the existing towers in the northern part of the 
CBD. 

 
 
Figure 3 – Bligh Street looking south and view from the Domain looking west  

Source: Architectus 

44



 

22 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

 
Access, road carparking and public transport 

An assessment of the traffic and parking implications of the proposal has been 
undertaken by The Transport Planning Partnership (refer to Appendix 6).  
It assessed the impact based on 5,004m2 GFA of commercial, 407 hotel rooms with 
associated food and beverage space, 526m2 GFA of ground floor retail/food and 
drink premises, 1,451m2 GFA of Gym and 444m2 of upper ground floor function room 
uses. The report considers car parking and loading provisions to be satisfactory. 
A revised traffic and parking assessment has not been undertaken given the floor 
space and basement reconfiguration in the planning proposal request lodged with 
Council. The proposal would provide 12 car parking spaces and two loading spaces 
within the basement carpark.  
Geotechnical and Rail Impact  

A Desktop Geotechnical Study was undertaken by Coffey and the report prepared is 
provided at Appendix 7.  
The report indicates that development is feasible from a geotechnical perspective. 
Careful consideration is required for the potential impact on the Sydney Metro tunnel, 
which is programmed to be constructed prior to the proposed development. It is 
unlikely that the development will impose significant engineering challenges to the 
rail tunnel. 
Further investigation and detailed assessment should be required as part of any 
future detailed DA for the redevelopment of the site. 
Heritage 

There are no listed heritage items within the site. However, there are a number of 
heritage items of local significance in the vicinity of the site including Richard 
Johnson Square, the Sofitel Wentworth Hotel, Former City Mutual Assurance 
building, the Former NSW Club Building and the Former Qantas Building.  
The heritage impacts of the indicative redevelopment scheme have been considered 
by GBA Heritage in the report at Appendix 11. 
 
The study concludes:  
 

• The proposed new site specific FSR controls are in keeping with the intended future 
use and character of the area. 

• The significance of the heritage items in the vicinity and their ability to contribute to 
the streetscape will be retained. 

• The proposed development does not generate any unacceptable impacts, as the 
contexts and settings of the four heritage items in the vicinity of the site are retained 
and protected. 

• The proposed envelope has been designed and sited to minimise visual dominance 
and respect the heritage items directly adjacent and in the vicinity. 

 
Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 
This planning proposal provides an opportunity for the redevelopment of a key site 
within Central Sydney. Redevelopment will allow for positive social and economic 
effects including: 
 

45



 

23 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

• Increasing the amount of commercial floor space available to further support Central 
Sydney’s role as a global city;  
 

• Providing new hotel accommodation in close proximity to business and leisure 
attractors including the Circular Quay and Botanic Gardens; and 
 

• Supporting job creation through the delivery of a hotel, commercial and retail 
tenancies;  
 

• Supports the provision of infrastructure needs and affordable housing. 
 

Section D – State and Commonwealth interest 

Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 
Being located in central Sydney, the site is well serviced by the full range of public 
utilities including electricity, telecommunications, water, sewer and stormwater. It is 
expected that these services would be upgraded where required by the developer. 

What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 
the gateway determination? 
Appropriate consultation will be conducted when the gateway determination is 
issued. Formal consultation has not yet been undertaken. 

 
Part 4 – Mapping 
This Planning Proposal does not amend any maps. 

Part 5 – Community Consultation 
This Planning Proposal is to be exhibited in accordance with the Gateway 
Determination once issued by the Greater Sydney Commission. It is anticipated the 
Gateway Determination will require a public exhibition for a period of not less than 28 
days in accordance with Schedule 1 item 4 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 section 4.5 of A Guide to preparing Local Environmental 
Plans. 
Notification of the public exhibition will be via: 
• the City of Sydney website; and 
• in newspapers that circulate widely in the area 
Information relating to the Planning Proposal will be on display at the City of Sydney 
customer service centres. 
  

46



 

24 / Planning Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – March June 2018 

 

Part 6 – Project Timeline 
The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 
 
Action Anticipated Date 
Commencement / Gateway determination April June 2018 
Pre-exhibition government agency consultation  May July 2018 
Public Exhibition May July 2018 
Consideration of submissions June August 2018 
Post exhibition consideration of proposal August October 2018 (CSPC)  

August October 2018 (Council) 
Draft and finalise LEP  September November 2018 
LEP made (if delegated) October 2018 N/A 
Plan forwarded to DPE for notification October 2018 N/A 

 

47



Attachment C 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 –  
4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney 

48



 

September 2018 version 

DRAFT SYDNEY DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN 2012 – 4-6 
BLIGH STREET, SYDNEY 

1. The purpose of the Development Control Plan  

The purpose of this Development Control Plan (DCP) is to amend Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012, which was adopted by Council on 14 May 2012 and came into effect on 
14 December 2012. 

The provisions guide future development of land known as 4-6 Bligh Street when 
development is subject to Clause 6.X – Strategic floor space in Central 4-6 Bligh Street, 
Sydney of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP2012).  

Clause 6.X – Strategic floor space in Central 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney of SLEP 2012 allows 
additional site specific floor space for uses other than residential and serviced apartments for 
4-6 Bligh Street is identified as a site to which the Clause applies. 

This DCP amendment does not apply to development on the land to which [insert relevant 
clause – Strategic Floor Space in Central Sydney] does not apply. 

2. Citation  

This amendment may be referred to as Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 4-6 Bligh 
Street, Sydney.  

3. Land covered by this plan  

This plan applies to the land identified as 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – which is Lot A 
Deposited Plan 184770, Lot 1 Deposited Plan 919932, Lot 1 Deposited Plan 134866, Lot 2 
Deposited Plan 134866. 

4. Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012  

This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out in 
Schedule 1 below.  

Schedule 1 – Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 

[1] Figure 6.1 

Amend Figure 6.1: Specific Sites Map to include 4-6 Bligh Street. 

[2] Section 6.3 Specific site controls prepared as part of a Planning Proposal 

At the end of this section insert new section 6.3.X and figures 6.XX to 6.XX as follows: 

 

Section 6.3.X 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney 

The following objectives and provisions apply to 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney – as shown in 
Figure 6.1 Specific Sites map, where the provisions of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012 – Strategic Floor Space in Central 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney are implemented. 

49



 

September 2018 version 

All other relevant provisions of this DCP apply. The provisions of this section prevail in the 
event of any inconsistency. 

Objectives 

(a) To ensure that the building is of appropriate bulk and scale for its central Sydney 
location; 

(b) To create a high quality urban outcome by: 

a. Maintaining daylight and sunlight in streets, lanes and public spaces 

b. Managing the wind impacts of development on streets, lanes and other public 
spaces so that they are safe and comfortable for people 

c. Ensuring the building podium responds appropriately to existing streetscape 
including nearby heritage buildings 

d. Allowing comfortable air movements to disperse pollution and cool streets, 
lanes and public spaces 

e. Ensure new development provides appropriate setbacks above the street 
frontage 

f. Ensuring that occupants of the tall building have access to daylight and 
outlook by providing appropriate separation from surrounding buildings 

g. Ensuring the tall building is designed to be seen as a unified composition from 
all sides – that it is designed to be seen “in the round” 

(c) To define a building massing envelope which will provide sufficient flexibility within its 
volume for a building to achieve design excellence; 

(d) To ensure that development exhibits design excellence and a high level of 
environmental performance 

(e) To ensure the location, size and design of vehicle access minimises pedestrian and 
vehicle conflicts and disruption of traffic on public roads 

 

Provisions 
 
6.3.x.x Setbacks 
 

(1) Provide setbacks above the street-wall in accordance with Figure 6.X Setbacks 
Above the Street Frontage Height. 

(2) The rear podium setback to adjacent heritage items is to respect the significant 
features of the item including maintaining daylight to light wells, particularly to 
QANTAS House 1 Chifley Square, where a setback of 4 metres may be appropriate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



 

September 2018 version 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 6.X Setbacks Above the Street Frontage Height 

 

6.3.x.x Development Adjacent to Heritage Items 
 

(1) New development adjacent to a heritage item should respect and reinforce the 
historic scale, form, modulation, articulation, proportions, street alignment, materials 
and finishes that contribute to the heritage significance of the adjacent heritage 
items. 

(2) Consideration must be given to the impact of adjacent development on the 
significance, setting, landmark values and ability to view and appreciate the heritage 
items from public places. 

(3) Aboriginal Cultural Heritage is to be assessed if there is evidence of the original land 
surface/natural soil profiles occurring at the site.  

(4) Archaeological assessment is to be undertaken to ensure archaeological relics are 
appropriately identified. 

 
6.3.x.x Managing Wind Impacts 
 

(1) A quantitative wind effects report is to be submitted with a development application. 
(2) Development must not cause a wind speed that exceeds the Wind Safety Standard, 

the Wind Comfort Standard for Walking 
(3) Development must not worsen, by increasing spatial extent and/or frequency and/or 

speed, an existing wind speed that exceeds the Wind Safety Standard and the Wind 
Comfort Standard for Walking. 

(4) Development must take all reasonable steps to create a comfortable wind 
environment that is consistent with the Wind Comfort Standards for Sitting and 
Standing. 

(5) For the purposes of complying with Section 6.3.x.x(2) and (3): 
 

51



 

September 2018 version 

Wind Safety Standard is an annual maximum peak 0.5 second gust wind speed in 
one hour measured between 6am and 10pm Eastern Standard Time of 24 metres 
per second. 

Wind Comfort Standard for Walking is an hourly mean wind speed, or gust equivalent 
mean wind speed, whichever is greater for each wind direction, for no more than 292 
hours per annum measured between 6 am and 10 pm Eastern Standard Time (i.e.  
5% of those hours) of 8 metres per second. 

Wind Comfort Standards for Sitting and Standing is hourly mean wind speed, or gust 
equivalent mean wind speed, whichever is greater for each wind direction, for no 
more than 292 hours per annum measured between 6 am and 10 pm Eastern 
Standard Time of 4 metres per second for sitting; and 6 metres per second for 
standing. 

 
6.3.x.x Parking and vehicular access 
 

(1) Ensure on site loading is usable and delivery and servicing needs do not impact use 
of footpath. 

 
6.3.x.x Design Excellence Strategy 
 

(1) An invited architectural design competition is to be undertaken in accordance with 
clause 6.21 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the City of Sydney 
Competitive Design Policy, for the entire site. 

(2) The competition is to involve no less than five competitors from a range of emerging, 
emerged and established architectural practices with no more than 50% of 
competitors from international practices. 

(3) In the event that the detailed application is not delegated to the City of Sydney for 
assessment and determination, the composition of the five member jury shall be in 
accordance with Part 3.4 of the Draft Government’s Architect’s Design Excellence 
Competition Guidelines (dated May 2018). 

(4) Any additional floor space pursued for a building demonstrating design excellence 
under Clause 6.21(7)(b), is to be accommodated within the building envelope shown 
in Figure 6.x Indicative Building Envelope Massing. 

 
6.3.x.x Sustainability 
 

(1) Buildings should be designed to meet 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for the 
commercial component and 4.5 stars for the hotel component.  

(2) Buildings should be designed to meet a 4 star NABERS Water scores for both 
commercial and hotel components.  

(3) A green roof, in accordance with the Office of Environment and Heritage (2015) 
Urban Green Cover in NSW Technical Guidelines, should be incorporated into the 
development.  

(4) Cool roofs and Green walls are also encouraged into the building design. 

 
 
 
  

52



 

September 2018 version 

 
Figure 6.X Indicative Building Envelope Massing (Bligh Street frontage and rear) 
 
 

Setback to Sofitel 

Wentworth Hotel (61-

101 Phillip Street) 

53



Attachment D 

Planning Agreement – 4-6 Bligh Street, 
Sydney 

54



 

 

   
AUSTRALIA\NTH\225465134.01 
 

 

 

 

 

Planning Agreement 

The Council of the City of Sydney 
 
 
and 
 
One Investment Management Pty Limited 
ABN 14 139 693 271 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney 
 

55



 

 

 

CONTENTS 

CLAUSE PAGE 

1. INTERPRETATION ............................................................................................1 

1.1 Definitions ...........................................................................................1 
1.2 Rules for interpreting this document........................................................6 

2. APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION ...............................................7 

2.1 Application of this document ..................................................................7 
2.2 Public Benefits to be made by Developer .................................................7 
2.3 Application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act ...............................7 
2.4 City rights ............................................................................................7 
2.5 Explanatory note ..................................................................................7 

3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT ......................................................7 

3.1 Commencement ...................................................................................7 

4. WARRANTIES ..................................................................................................8 

4.1 Mutual warranties .................................................................................8 
4.2 Developer warranties ............................................................................8 

5. PUBLIC BENEFITS ............................................................................................9 

5.1 Developer to provide Public Benefits .......................................................9 

6. COMPLETION OF ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE INITIATIVES ...............................9 

6.1 Date of Completion ...............................................................................9 
6.2 Developer completion notice ..................................................................9 
6.3 Non-completion of Public Benefits ...........................................................9 

7. INDEMNITY ................................................................................................... 10 

8. DEFECTS LIABILITY ........................................................................................ 10 

9. REGISTRATION AND CAVEAT .......................................................................... 10 

9.1 Registration of this document ............................................................... 10 
9.2 Caveat .............................................................................................. 11 
9.3 Release of this document ..................................................................... 11 

10. NOT USED .................................................................................................... 11 

11. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ................................................................................... 11 

11.1 Application ......................................................................................... 11 
11.2 Negotiation ........................................................................................ 11 
11.3 Not use information ............................................................................ 12 
11.4 Condition precedent to litigation ........................................................... 12 
11.5 Summary or urgent relief..................................................................... 12 

12. TAXES AND GST ............................................................................................ 13 

12.1 Responsibility for Taxes ....................................................................... 13 
12.2 GST free supply .................................................................................. 13 
12.3 Supply subject to GST ......................................................................... 13 

13. DEALINGS ..................................................................................................... 14 

13.1 Dealing by the City ............................................................................. 14 
13.2 Dealing by the Developer ..................................................................... 14 

56



 

 

14. TERMINATION ............................................................................................... 15 

15. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES ............................................................. 15 

15.1 Use and disclosure of Confidential Information ....................................... 15 
15.2 Disclosures to personnel and advisers ................................................... 15 
15.3 Disclosures required by law .................................................................. 16 
15.4 Receiving party's return or destruction of documents .............................. 16 
15.5 Security and control ............................................................................ 16 
15.6 Media releases ................................................................................... 17 

16. NOTICES ...................................................................................................... 17 

17. GENERAL ...................................................................................................... 17 

17.1 Governing law .................................................................................... 17 
17.2 Access to information .......................................................................... 17 
17.3 Liability for expenses ........................................................................... 17 
17.4 Relationship of parties ......................................................................... 18 
17.5 Giving effect to this document .............................................................. 18 
17.6 Time for doing acts ............................................................................. 18 
17.7 Severance.......................................................................................... 18 
17.8 Preservation of existing rights .............................................................. 18 
17.9 No merger ......................................................................................... 18 
17.10 Waiver of rights .................................................................................. 19 
17.11 Operation of this document .................................................................. 19 
17.12 Operation of indemnities ...................................................................... 19 
17.13 Inconsistency with other documents...................................................... 19 
17.14 No fetter ............................................................................................ 19 
17.15 Counterparts ...................................................................................... 20 

1. PUBLIC BENEFITS - OVERVIEW........................................................................ 25 

2. PAYMENT OF MONETARY CONTRIBUTION .......................................................... 26 

2.1 Payment ............................................................................................ 26 
2.2 Indexation ......................................................................................... 26 
2.3 No trust ............................................................................................. 26 

3. NOT USED .................................................................................................... 26 

4. ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE COMMITMENT ................................................... 26 

4.1 Environmental Excellence Commitment ................................................. 26 

5. GUIDELINES ................................................................................................. 27 

BASE MONETARY CONTRIBUTION (TO BE PROVIDED) = MONETARY CONTRIBUTION RATE X 
TOTAL FLOOR AREA ....................................................................................... 29 

WHERE: ................................................................................................................... 29 

1. ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE INITIATIVES ..................................................... 32 

2. COMMERCIAL COMPONENT ............................................................................. 32 

3. HOTEL COMPONENT ....................................................................................... 32 

Schedules 

1 Agreement Details ......................................................................................... 21 
2 Requirements under the Act and Regulation (clause 2) ....................................... 22 
3 Public Benefits (clause 5) ................................................................................ 25 

 

57



 

 1  
 
 

THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT is made on    2018 

BETWEEN: 

(1) The Council of the City of Sydney ABN 22 636 550 790 of Town Hall House, 
456 Kent Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 (the City); and 

(2) One Investment Management Pty Limited ABN 14 139 693 271of Level 11, 20 
Hunter Street, Sydney NSW 2000 (the Developer). 

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Developer is the owner of the Land and intends to undertake the Development 
on the Land. 

(B) The Developer has offered to enter into this document with the City to provide the 
Public Benefits on the terms of this document. 

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

The following definitions apply in this document. 

Act means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (NSW). 

Adverse Affectation has the same meaning as in clause 4 of Part 2 of the 
Conveyancing (Sale of Land) Regulation 2010 (NSW). 

Affordable Housing has the same meaning under the Act, being “housing for 
very low income households, low income households or moderate income 
households, being such households as are prescribed by the regulations or as 
are provided for in an environmental planning instrument”. 
 

Attributed Value means the value the City and the Developer agree is to be 
attributed to each element of the Public Benefits as at the date of this document, 
as set out in clause 1 of Schedule 3 of this document. 

Authorisation means: 

(a) an approval, authorisation, consent, declaration, exemption, permit, licence, 
notarisation or waiver, however it is described, and including any condition 
attached to it; and 

(b) in relation to anything that could be prohibited or restricted by law if a 
Government Agency acts in any way within a specified period, the expiry of 
that period without that action being taken, 

including any renewal or amendment.  

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on 
which banks are open for general banking business in Sydney, Australia. 

58



 

 2  
 
 

City's Personal Information means Personal Information to which the 
Developer, or any third party engaged by the Developer, has access directly or 
indirectly in connection with this document, including the Personal Information of 
any personnel, customer or supplier of the City (other than the Developer). 

City's Policies means all policies and procedures relevant to the provision of the 
Public Benefits, as notified by the City in writing to the Developer. 

City’s Representative means the person named in Item 3 of Schedule 1 or 
his/her delegate. 

Commitment Agreement is an agreement between the NABERS National 
Administrator, the Office of Environment and Heritage NSW (OEH) and the 
Developer to design, build and commission the premises to achieve the applicable 
NABERS Energy star rating as described in Schedule 3 and otherwise has the 
meaning attributed to ‘Commitment Agreement’ under NABERS. 

Completion means the point at which the Developer’s Works are complete except 
for minor defects: 

(a) the existence of which do not prevent the Developer’s Works being 
reasonably capable of being used for their intended purpose; 

(b) which the Developer has grounds for not promptly rectifying; and 

(c) rectification of which will not affect the immediate and convenient use of the 
Developer’s Works for their intended purpose. 

Completion Notice means a notice issued by the Developer in accordance with 
clause 6.1. 

Confidential Information means: 

(a) information of a party (disclosing party) that is: 

(i) made available by or on behalf of the disclosing party to the other 
party (receiving party), or is otherwise obtained by or on behalf of 
the receiving party; and 

(ii) by its nature confidential or the receiving party knows, or ought 
reasonably to know, is confidential. 

Confidential Information may be made available or obtained directly or indirectly, 
and before, on or after the date of this document. 

Confidential Information does not include information that: 

(a) is in or enters the public domain through no fault of the receiving party or 
any of its officers, employees or agents; 

(b) is or was made available to the receiving party by a person (other than the 
disclosing party) who is not or was not then under an obligation of 
confidence to the disclosing party in relation to that information; or 

59



 

 3  
 
 

(c) is or was developed by the receiving party independently of the disclosing 
party and any of its officers, employees or agents. 

Construction Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act. 

Contamination has the meaning given to that word in the Contaminated Land 
Management Act 1997 (NSW). 

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Dealing means selling, transferring, assigning, novating, mortgaging, charging, 
or encumbering and, where appearing, Deal has the same meaning. 

Defect means any error, omission, defect, non-conformity, discrepancy, 
shrinkage, blemish in appearance or other fault in the Public Benefits or any other 
matter which prevents the Public Benefits from complying with the terms of this 
document. 

Defects Liability Period means in relation to the Public Benefits, the period of 
12 months from the date on which the Developer’s Works reach Completion. 

Developer’s Representative means the person named in Item 4 of Schedule 1 
or his/her delegate. 

Developer’s Works means those parts of the Public Benefit described as 
“Developer’s Works” in clause 1 of Schedule 3, to be delivered by the Developer 
in accordance with this document. 

Development means the development of the Land by the Developer described at 
Item 2 of Schedule 1. 

Development Application has its meaning under the Act.  

Development Consent has its meaning under the Act. 

Dispute means any dispute or difference between the parties arising out of, 
relating to or in connection with this document, including any dispute or difference 
as to the formation, validity, existence or termination of this document.  

Energy Efficient Review means an independent design review undertaken by a 
NABERS Certified Independent Design Reviewer sufficiently early in the design 
process to enable design changes to be made. 

Environmental Excellence Initiatives means those parts of the Public Benefit 
described as ‘Environmental Excellence Initiatives’ in clause 1 of Schedule 3, to be 
delivered by the Developer in accordance with this document. 

Environmental Laws means all laws and legislation relating to environmental 
protection, building, planning, health, safety or work health and safety matters 
and includes the following: 

(a) the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (NSW); 

(b) the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 (NSW); and 

60



 

 4  
 
 

(c) the Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW). 

Government Agency means: 

(a) a government or government department or other body; 

(b) a governmental, semi-governmental or judicial person; or 

(c) a person (whether autonomous or not) who is charged with the 
administration of a law. 

Gross Floor Area has the meaning given to that term in the Sydney Local 
Environment Plan in effect at the date of this document. 

GST means the same as in the GST Act. 

GST Act means A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth). 

Index Number means the Consumer Price Index (Sydney all groups) published 
by the Australian Bureau of Statistics from time to time. 

Insolvency Event means: 

(a) having a controller, receiver, manager, administrator, provisional liquidator, 
liquidator or analogous person appointed; 

(b) an application being made to a court for an order to appoint a controller, 
provisional liquidator, trustee for creditors or in bankruptcy or analogous 
person to the person or any of the person's property 

(c) the person being taken under section 459F(1) of the Corporations Act to 
have failed to comply with a statutory demand; 

(d) an application being made to a court for an order for its winding up; 

(e) an order being made, or the person passing a resolution, for its winding up; 

(f) the person: 

(i) suspending payment of its debts, ceasing (or threatening to cease) to 
carry on all or a material part of its business, stating that it is unable 
to pay its debts or being or becoming otherwise insolvent; or 

(ii) being unable to pay its debts or otherwise insolvent; 

(g) the person taking any step toward entering into a compromise or 
arrangement with, or assignment for the benefit of, any of its members or 
creditors; 

(h) a court or other authority enforcing any judgment or order against the 
person for the payment of money or the recovery of any property; or 

(i) any analogous event under the laws of any applicable jurisdiction, 

unless this takes place as part of a solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, merger 
or consolidation that has been approved by the other party. 

61



 

 5  
 
 

Land means the land described in Item 1 of Schedule 1 of this document. 

Laws means all applicable laws, regulations, industry codes and standards, 
including all Environmental Laws. 

Monetary Contribution means that part of the Public Benefits described as 
“Monetary Contribution” in clause 1 of Schedule 3, being ‘Monetary Contribution – 
Affordable Housing’ and ‘Monetary Contribution – Central Sydney Infrastructure’ 
together, to be paid by the Developer to the City in accordance with this document. 

NABERS means the National Australian Built Environment Rating System that 
measures the environmental performance of Australian buildings, tenancies and 
homes and is managed nationally by the NSW Office of Environment and Heritage, 
on behalf of Commonwealth, state and territory governments. 

NABERS National Administrator has the meaning attributed to ‘Commitment 
Agreement’ under NABERS. 

Occupation Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act. 

Personal Information has the meaning set out in the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth). 

Personnel means the Developer’s officers, employees, agents, contractors or 
subcontractors. 

Privacy Laws means the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth), the Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection Act 1998 (NSW), the Spam Act 2003 (Cth), the Do Not Call 
Register Act 2006 (Cth) and any other applicable legislation, principles, industry 
codes and policies relating to the handling of Personal Information. 

Public Benefits means the provision of benefits to the community by the 
Developer in the form and at the times specified in Schedule 3. 

Quantity Surveyor means a qualified independent and practising quantity 
surveyor with at least five years’ experience in the assessment of building and 
construction costs. 

Quantity Surveyor’s Assessment means the assessment by the Quantity 
Surveyor of the cost to deliver the Developer’s Works. 

Regulation means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 
(NSW). 

Standards means the policies, procedures and standards for carrying out the 
Developer’s Works, listed non-exhaustively at clause 5 of Schedule 3. 

Subdivision of Land has the same meaning as in the Act. 

Tax means a tax, levy, duty, rate, charge, deduction or withholding, however it is 
described, that is imposed by law or by a Government Agency, together with any 
related interest, penalty, fine or other charge. 

Transfer Land means land forming part of the Public Benefit that is to be either 
dedicated or transferred to the City in accordance with Schedule 3 of this 
document. 

62



 

 6  
 
 

1.2 Rules for interpreting this document 

Headings are for convenience only, and do not affect interpretation.  The following 
rules also apply in interpreting this document, except where the context makes it 
clear that a rule is not intended to apply. 

(a) A reference to: 

(i) a legislative provision or legislation (including subordinate legislation) 
is to that provision or legislation as amended, re-enacted or replaced, 
and includes any subordinate legislation issued under it; 

(ii) a document (including this document) or agreement, or a provision of 
a document (including this document) or agreement, is to that 
document, agreement or provision as amended, supplemented, 
replaced or novated; 

(iii) a party to this document or to any other document or agreement 
includes a permitted substitute or a permitted assign of that party;  

(iv) a person includes any type of entity or body of persons, whether or 
not it is incorporated or has a separate legal identity, and any 
executor, administrator or successor in law of the person; and 

(v) anything (including a right, obligation or concept) includes each part 
of it. 

(b) A singular word includes the plural, and vice versa. 

(c) A word which suggests one gender includes the other genders. 

(d) If a word or phrase is defined, any other grammatical form of that word or 
phrase has a corresponding meaning. 

(e) If an example is given of anything (including a right, obligation or concept), 
such as by saying it includes something else, the example does not limit the 
scope of that thing. 

(f) A reference to including means “including, without limitation”. 

(g) A reference to dollars or $ is to an amount in Australian currency. 

(h) A reference to this document includes the agreement recorded by this 
document. 

(i) Words defined in the GST Act have the same meaning in clauses about GST. 

(j) This document is not to be interpreted against the interests of a party merely 
because that party proposed this document or some provision in it or 
because that party relies on a provision of this document to protect itself. 

63



 

 7  
 
 

2. APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION 

2.1 Application of this document 

This document is a planning agreement within the meaning of section 7.4 of the 
Act and applies to: 

(a) the Land; and 

(b) the Development. 

2.2 Public Benefits to be made by Developer 

Clause 5 and Schedule 3 set out the details of the:  

(a) Public Benefits to be delivered by the Developer; 

(b) time or times by which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits; and 

(c) manner in which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits. 

2.3 Application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act 

(a) The application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act are excluded to 
the extent set out in Items 5 and 6 of Schedule 2 to this document. 

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, if the City imposes a condition of consent on a 
Development Consent for the Development under section 61 of the City of 
Sydney Act 1988 (NSW) requiring payment of a contribution in accordance 
with that Act, no further contributions pursuant to section 61 of that Act are 
payable in relation to the Development. 

2.4 City rights 

This document does not impose an obligation on the City to: 

(a) grant Development Consent for the Development; or 

(b) exercise any function under the Act in relation to a change to an 
environmental planning instrument, including the making or revocation of 
an environmental planning instrument. 

2.5 Explanatory note 

The explanatory note prepared in accordance with clause 25E of the Regulation 
must not be used to assist in construing this document. 

3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT 

3.1 Commencement 

This document will commence on the date of execution of this document by all 
parties to this document. 

64



 

 8  
 
 

4. WARRANTIES 

4.1 Mutual warranties 

Each party represents and warrants that:  

(a) (power) it has full legal capacity and power to enter into this document and 
to carry out the transactions that it contemplates; 

(b) (corporate authority) it has taken all corporate action that is necessary or 
desirable to authorise its entry into this document and to carry out the 
transactions contemplated; 

(c) (Authorisations) it holds each Authorisation that is necessary or desirable 
to: 

(i) enable it to properly execute this document and to carry out the 
transactions that it contemplates; 

(ii) ensure that this document is legal, valid, binding and admissible in 
evidence; or 

(iii) enable it to properly carry on its business as it is now being conducted, 

and it is complying with any conditions to which any of these Authorisations 
is subject; 

(d) (documents effective) this document constitutes its legal, valid and 
binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms 
(except to the extent limited by equitable principles and laws affecting 
creditors' rights generally), subject to any necessary stamping or 
registration; 

(e) (solvency) there are no reasonable grounds to suspect that it will not be 
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(f) (no controller) no controller is currently appointed in relation to any of its 
property, or any property of any of its subsidiaries. 

4.2 Developer warranties 

(a) The Developer warrants to the City that, at the date of this document: 

(i) it is the registered proprietor of the Land; 

(ii) it is legally entitled to obtain all consents and approvals that are 
required by this document and do all things necessary to give effect 
to this document; 

(iii) all work performed by the Developer and the Personnel under this 
document will be performed with due care and skill and to a standard 
which is equal to or better than that which a well experienced person 
in the industry would expect to be provided by an organisation of the 
Developer’s size and experience; and 

65



 

 9  
 
 

(iv) it is not aware of any matter which may materially affect the 
Developer’s ability to perform its obligations under this document. 

(b) The Developer warrants to the City that, prior to commencing delivery of the 
Public Benefits it will have obtained all Authorisations and insurances 
required under any Law to carry out its obligations under this document. 

5. PUBLIC BENEFITS 

5.1 Developer to provide Public Benefits 

The Developer must, at its cost and risk, provide the Public Benefits to the City in 
accordance with this document. 

6. COMPLETION OF ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE INITIATIVES 

6.1 Date of Completion 

The Developer must ensure that the Environmental Excellence Initiatives reach 
Completion on or before the date or milestone referred to in clause 1 of Schedule 
3 of this document. 

6.2 Developer completion notice 

When, in the reasonable opinion of the Developer, the Environmental Excellence 
Initiatives have reached Completion, the Developer must notify the City’s 
Representative in writing and must include in that notice: 

(a) a copy of: 

(i) the executive summary of the Energy Efficient Review prepared by a 
NABERS certified Independent Design Reviewer in accordance with the 
NABERS requirements; and 

(ii) 12 months of sub-metering data for energy and water that informed 
the NABERS rating 

(b) evidence that the NABERS rating for Energy and Water has been achieved, 

(Completion Notice).  For the avoidance of doubt, the Developer can issue 
separate Completion Notices at separate times for different elements of the 
Environmental Excellence Initiatives, however the Developer must ensure that 
Completion is achieved for the Environmental Excellence Initiatives before the due 
date specified in Item 1 of Schedule 3. 

6.3 Non-completion of Public Benefits 

If the Environmental Excellence Initiatives have not reached Completion on or 
before the date or milestone referred to in clause 1 of Schedule 3 of this 
document: 

(a)  the Developer must make a request by notice in writing to meet with the 
City to agree what alternative measures it will put in place in order to achieve 
a sustainable commercial development; or  

66



 

 10  
 
 

 

(b) If alternative measures have been previously agreed, the City may permit 
the Developer not to achieve the Environmental Excellence Initiatives as set 
out in this document by issuing a notice in writing to the Developer stating 
that completion of the items identified in that notice is not required to fulfil 
the Developer’s obligations under this document. 

7. INDEMNITY 

The Developer indemnifies the City against all damage, expense, loss or liability of 
any nature suffered or incurred by the City arising from any act or omission by the 
Developer (or any Personnel) in connection with the performance of the 
Developer’s obligations under this document, except where the damage, expense, 
loss or liability suffered or incurred is caused by, or contributed to by, any wilful 
or negligent act or omission of the City (or any person engaged by the City). 

8. DEFECTS LIABILITY 

Not Used 

9. REGISTRATION AND CAVEAT 

9.1 Registration of this document 

(a) The Developer:  

(i) consents to the registration of this document at the Land and Property 
Information on the certificate of title to the Land; 

(ii) warrants that it has obtained all consents to the registration of this 
document on the certificate of title to the Land; and 

(iii) must within 10 Business Days of a written request from the City do all 
things necessary to allow the City to register this document on the 
certificate of title to the Land, including but not limited to: 

(A) producing any documents or letters of consent required by the 
Registrar-General of the Land and Property Information; 

(B) providing the production slip number when the Developer 
produces the certificate of title to the Land at the Land and 
Property Information; and 

(C) providing the City with a cheque for registration fees payable in 
relation to registration of this document at the Land and 
Property Information. 

(iv) The Developer must act promptly in complying with and assisting to 
respond to any requisitions raised by the Land and Property 
Information that relate to registration of this document. 

67



 

 11  
 
 

9.2 Caveat 

(a) The City may, at any time after the date of this document, register a caveat 
over the Land preventing any dealing with the Land that is inconsistent with 
this document.  Provided that the City complies with this clause 9.2, the 
Developer must not object to the registration of this caveat and may not 
attempt to have the caveat removed from the certificate of title to the Land. 

(b) In exercising its rights under this clause 9.2 the City must do all things 
reasonably required to: 

(i) remove the caveat from the Land once this document has been 
registered on the certificate of title to the Land; and 

(ii) consent to the registration of: 

(A) this document; and 

(B) any plan of consolidation, plan of subdivision or other dealing 
required by this document or the Development Consent.  

9.3 Release of this document 

If the City is satisfied that the Developer has provided all Public Benefits and 
otherwise complied with this document then the City must promptly do all things 
reasonably required to remove this document from the certificate of title to the 
Land. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the document will remain on title until such time as 
the Environmental Excellence Initiatives have been satisfied or otherwise dealt 
with under clause 6.3(b). 

10. NOT USED 

11. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

11.1 Application 

Any Dispute must be determined in accordance with the procedure in this 
clause 11. 

11.2 Negotiation 

(a) If any Dispute arises, a party to the Dispute (Referring Party) may by 
giving notice to the other party or parties to the Dispute (Dispute Notice) 
refer the Dispute to the Developer’s Representative and the City’s 
Representative for resolution.  The Dispute Notice must: 

(i) be in writing; 

(ii) state that it is given pursuant to this clause 11; and 

68



 

 12  
 
 

(iii) include or be accompanied by reasonable particulars of the Dispute 
including: 

(A) a brief description of the circumstances in which the Dispute 
arose;  

(B) references to any: 

(aa) provisions of this document; and 

(bb) acts or omissions of any person, 

relevant to the Dispute; and 

(C) where applicable, the amount in dispute (whether monetary or 
any other commodity) and if not precisely known, the best 
estimate available. 

(b) Within 10 Business Days of the Referring Party issuing the Dispute Notice 
(Resolution Period), the Developer’s Representative and the City’s 
Representative must meet at least once to attempt to resolve the Dispute.   

(c) The Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative may meet 
more than once to resolve a Dispute.  The Developer’s Representative and 
the City’s Representative may meet in person, via telephone, 
videoconference, internet-based instant messaging or any other agreed 
means of instantaneous communication to effect the meeting. 

11.3 Not use information 

The purpose of any exchange of information or documents or the making of any 
offer of settlement under this clause 11 is to attempt to settle the Dispute.  Neither 
party may use any information or documents obtained through any dispute 
resolution process undertaken under this clause 11 for any purpose other than in 
an attempt to settle the Dispute. 

11.4 Condition precedent to litigation 

Subject to clause 11.5, a party must not commence legal proceedings in respect 
of a Dispute unless: 

(a) a Dispute Notice has been given; and 

(b) the Resolution Period has expired. 

11.5 Summary or urgent relief 

Nothing in this clause 11 will prevent a party from instituting proceedings to seek 
urgent injunctive, interlocutory or declaratory relief in respect of a Dispute. 

69



 

 13  
 
 

12. TAXES AND GST 

12.1 Responsibility for Taxes 

(a) The Developer is responsible for any and all Taxes and other like liabilities 
which may arise under any Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation (as 
amended from time to time) as a result of or in connection with this 
document or the Public Benefits. 

(b) The Developer must indemnify the City in relation to any claims, liabilities 
and costs (including penalties and interest) arising as a result of any Tax or 
other like liability for which the Developer is responsible under 
clause 12.1(a). 

12.2 GST free supply 

To the extent that Divisions 81 and 82 of the GST Law apply to a supply made 
under this document: 

(a) no additional amount will be payable by a party on account of GST; and 

(b) no tax invoices will be exchanged between the parties. 

12.3 Supply subject to GST 

To the extent that clause 12.2 does not apply to a supply made under this 
document, this clause 12.3 will apply. 

(a) If one party (Supplying Party) makes a taxable supply and the 
consideration for that supply does not expressly include GST, the party that 
is liable to provide the consideration (Receiving Party) must also pay an 
amount (GST Amount) equal to the GST payable in respect of that supply.  

(b) Subject to first receiving a tax invoice or adjustment note as appropriate, 
the receiving party must pay the GST amount when it is liable to provide the 
consideration. 

(c) If one party must indemnify or reimburse another party (Payee) for any 
loss or expense incurred by the Payee, the required payment does not 
include any amount which the Payee (or an entity that is in the same GST 
group as the Payee) is entitled to claim as an input tax credit, but will be 
increased under clause 12.3(a) if the payment is consideration for a taxable 
supply. 

(d) If an adjustment event arises in respect of a taxable supply made by a 
Supplying Party, the GST Amount payable by the Receiving Party under 
clause 12.3(a) will be recalculated to reflect the adjustment event and a 
payment will be made by the Receiving Party to the Supplying Party, or by 
the Supplying Party to the Receiving Party, as the case requires. 

(e) The Developer will assume the City is not entitled to any input tax credit 
when calculating any amounts payable under this clause 12.3. 

70



 

 14  
 
 

(f) In this document: 

(i) consideration includes non-monetary consideration, in respect of 
which the parties must agree on a market value, acting reasonably; 
and 

(ii) in addition to the meaning given in the GST Act, the term "GST" 
includes a notional liability for GST. 

13. DEALINGS 

13.1 Dealing by the City 

(a) The City may Deal with its interest in this document without the consent of 
the Developer if the Dealing is with a Government Agency.  The City must 
give the Developer notice of the Dealing within five Business Days of the 
date of the Dealing. 

(b) The City may not otherwise Deal with its interest in this document without 
the consent of the Developer, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld 
or delayed. 

13.2 Dealing by the Developer 

(a) Prior to registration of this document in accordance with clause 9, the 
Developer must not Deal with this document or the Land without: 

(i) the prior written consent of the City; and 

(ii) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the Dealing 
entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms acceptable to 
the City. 

(b) On and from registration of this document in accordance with clause 9: 

(i) the Developer may Deal with this document without the consent of 
the City only as a result of the sale of the whole of the Land (without 
subdivision) to a purchaser of the Land; 

(ii) the Developer may register a plan of strata subdivision, and the City 
consents to this document remaining registered only on the certificate 
of title to the common property of the strata plan upon registration of 
the strata plan; and 

(iii) the Developer must not otherwise Deal with this document to a third 
party that is not a purchaser of the whole or any part of the Land 
without: 

(A) the prior written consent of the City; and 

(B) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the 
Dealing entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms 
acceptable to the City. 

71



 

 15  
 
 

(c) The Developer must pay the City’s costs and expenses relating to any 
consent or documentation required due to the operation of this clause 13.2. 

14. TERMINATION 

(a) The City may terminate this document by notice in writing to the Developer 
if the Development Consent lapses or is surrendered by the Developer.   

(b) If the City terminates this document then:  

(i) the rights of each party that arose before the termination or which 
may arise at any future time for any breach or non-observance of 
obligations occurring prior to the termination are not affected; 

(ii) the Developer must take all steps reasonably necessary to minimise 
any loss the each party may suffer as a result of the termination of 
this document; and 

(iii) the City will, at the Developer’s cost, do all things reasonably required 
to remove this document from the certificate of title to the Land. 

15. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES 

15.1 Use and disclosure of Confidential Information 

A party (receiving party) which acquires Confidential Information of another 
party (disclosing party) must not: 

(a) use any of the Confidential Information except to the extent necessary to 
exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this document; or 

(b) disclose any of the Confidential Information except in accordance with 
clauses 15.2 or 15.3. 

15.2 Disclosures to personnel and advisers 

(a) The receiving party may disclose Confidential Information to an officer, 
employee, agent, contractor, or legal, financial or other professional adviser 
if: 

(i) the disclosure is necessary to enable the receiving party to perform 
its obligations or to exercise its rights under this document; and 

(ii) prior to disclosure, the receiving party informs the person of the 
receiving party's obligations in relation to the Confidential Information 
under this document and obtains an undertaking from the person to 
comply with those obligations. 

(b) The receiving party:  

(i) must ensure that any person to whom Confidential Information is 
disclosed under clause 15.2(a) keeps the Confidential Information 
confidential and does not use it for any purpose other than as 
permitted under clause 15.2(a); and 

72



 

 16  
 
 

(ii) is liable for the actions of any officer, employee, agent, contractor or 
legal, financial or other professional adviser that causes a breach of 
the obligations set out in clause 15.2(b)(i). 

15.3 Disclosures required by law 

(a) Subject to clause 15.3(b), the receiving party may disclose Confidential 
Information that the receiving party is required to disclose: 

(i) by law or by order of any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction; 
or 

(ii) by any Government Agency, stock exchange or other regulatory body. 

(b) If the receiving party is required to make a disclosure under clause 15.3(a), 
the receiving party must: 

(i) to the extent possible, notify the disclosing party immediately it 
anticipates that it may be required to disclose any of the Confidential 
Information; 

(ii) consult with and follow any reasonable directions from the disclosing 
party to minimise disclosure; and 

(iii) if disclosure cannot be avoided: 

(A) only disclose Confidential Information to the extent necessary 
to comply; and  

(B) use reasonable efforts to ensure that any Confidential 
Information disclosed is kept confidential. 

15.4 Receiving party's return or destruction of documents 

On termination of this document the receiving party must immediately: 

(a) deliver to the disclosing party all documents and other materials containing, 
recording or referring to Confidential Information; and 

(b) erase or destroy in another way all electronic and other intangible records 
containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information, 

which are in the possession, power or control of the receiving party or of any 
person to whom the receiving party has given access.  

15.5 Security and control 

The receiving party must: 

(a) keep effective control of the Confidential Information; and 

(b) ensure that the Confidential Information is kept secure from theft, loss, 
damage or unauthorised access or alteration. 

73



 

 17  
 
 

15.6 Media releases 

The Developer must not issue any information, publication, document or article for 
publication in any media concerning this document or the Public Benefits without 
the City's prior written consent. 

16. NOTICES 

(a) A notice, consent or other communication under this document is only 
effective if it is in writing, signed and either left at the addressee's address 
or sent to the addressee by mail or fax. If it is sent by mail, it is taken to 
have been received 5 Business Days after it is posted. If it is sent by fax, it 
is taken to have been received when the addressee actually receives it in 
full and in legible form. 

(b) A person's address and fax number are those set out in Schedule 1 for the 
City’s Representative and the Developer’s Representative, or as the person 
notifies the sender in writing from time to time. 

17. GENERAL 

17.1 Governing law 

(a) This document is governed by the laws of New South Wales. 

(b) Each party submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts exercising 
jurisdiction in New South Wales, and any court that may hear appeals from 
any of those courts, for any proceedings in connection with this document, 
and waives any right it might have to claim that those courts are an 
inconvenient forum. 

17.2 Access to information 

In accordance with section 121 of the Government Information (Public Access) Act 
2009 (NSW), the Developer agrees to allow the City immediate access to the 
following information contained in records held by the Developer: 

(a) information that relates directly to the delivery of the Public Benefits by the 
Developer; 

(b) information collected by the Developer from members of the public to whom 
the Developer provides, or offers to provide, services on behalf of the City; 
and 

(c) information received by the Developer from the City to enable the Developer 
to deliver the Public Benefits. 

17.3 Liability for expenses 

(a) The Developer must pay its own and the City’s expenses incurred in 
negotiating, executing, registering, releasing, administering and enforcing 
this document. 

(b) The Developer must pay for all reasonable costs and expenses associated 
with the preparation and giving of public notice of this document and the 

74



 

 18  
 
 

explanatory note prepared in accordance with the Regulations and for any 
consent the City is required to provide under this document. 

17.4 Relationship of parties 

(a) Nothing in this document creates a joint venture, partnership, or the 
relationship of principal and agent, or employee and employer between the 
parties; and 

(b) No party has the authority to bind any other party by any representation, 
declaration or admission, or to make any contract or commitment on behalf 
of any other party or to pledge any other party’s credit. 

17.5 Giving effect to this document 

Each party must do anything (including execute any document), and must ensure 
that its employees and agents do anything (including execute any document), that 
the other party may reasonably require to give full effect to this document. 

17.6 Time for doing acts 

(a) If: 

(i) the time for doing any act or thing required to be done; or 

(ii) a notice period specified in this document, 

expires on a day other than a Business Day, the time for doing that act or 
thing or the expiration of that notice period is extended until the following 
Business Day. 

(b) If any act or thing required to be done is done after 5pm on the specified 
day, it is taken to have been done on the following Business Day. 

17.7 Severance 

If any clause or part of any clause is in any way unenforceable, invalid or illegal, 
it is to be read down so as to be enforceable, valid and legal.  If this is not possible, 
the clause (or where possible, the offending part) is to be severed from this 
document without affecting the enforceability, validity or legality of the remaining 
clauses (or parts of those clauses) which will continue in full force and effect. 

17.8 Preservation of existing rights 

The expiration or termination of this document does not affect any right that has 
accrued to a party before the expiration or termination date. 

17.9 No merger 

Any right or obligation of any party that is expressed to operate or have effect on 
or after the completion, expiration or termination of this document for any reason, 
will not merge on the occurrence of that event but will remain in full force and 
effect. 

75



 

 19  
 
 

17.10 Waiver of rights 

A right may only be waived in writing, signed by the party giving the waiver, and: 

(a) no other conduct of a party (including a failure to exercise, or delay in 
exercising, the right) operates as a waiver of the right or otherwise prevents 
the exercise of the right; 

(b) a waiver of a right on one or more occasions does not operate as a waiver 
of that right if it arises again; and 

(c) the exercise of a right does not prevent any further exercise of that right or 
of any other right. 

17.11 Operation of this document 

(a) This document contains the entire agreement between the parties about its 
subject matter.  Any previous understanding, agreement, representation or 
warranty relating to that subject matter is replaced by this document and 
has no further effect. 

(b) Any right that a person may have under this document is in addition to, and 
does not replace or limit, any other right that the person may have. 

(c) Any provision of this document which is unenforceable or partly 
unenforceable is, where possible, to be severed to the extent necessary to 
make this document enforceable, unless this would materially change the 
intended effect of this document. 

17.12 Operation of indemnities 

(a) Each indemnity in this document survives the expiry or termination of this 
document. 

(b) A party may recover a payment under an indemnity in this document before 
it makes the payment in respect of which the indemnity is given. 

17.13 Inconsistency with other documents 

Unless the contrary intention is expressed, if there is an inconsistency between 
any of one or more of: 

(a) this document; 

(b) any Schedule to this document; and 

(c) the provisions of any other document of the Developer, 

the order of precedence between them will be the order listed above, this document 
having the highest level of precedence. 

17.14 No fetter 

Nothing in this document in any way restricts or otherwise affects the City’s 
unfettered discretion to exercise its statutory powers as a public authority. 

76



 

 20  
 
 

17.15 Counterparts 

This document may be executed in counterparts. 

  

77



 

 21  
 
 

SCHEDULE 1 

Agreement Details 

ITEM TERM DESCRIPTION 

1. Land 
Lots 1 and 2 in DP 134866, Lot 1 in DP 919932 
and Lot A in DP 184770 also known as 4-6 Bligh 
Street, Sydney 

2. Development Commercial premises, hotel and motel 
accommodation and indoor recreational facility 

The total maximum Gross Floor Area of the 
Development on the Land is 26,796 square metres 
including the maximum potential design excellence 
bonus.  

3. City’s Representative Name:  Director, Planning, Development and 
  Transport 

Address: Level 1, 456 Kent Street, Sydney 
NSW   2000 

Fax number: +612 9265 9518 

4. Developer’s 
Representative 

Name:  Henry Newman  

Address:  Level 19, Tower B, Citadel Towers  
799 Pacific Highway 
Chatswood NSW 2067 

Fax number:  +61 2 9406 1002 

5. Development 
Application 

Not applicable 

 

  

78



 

 22  
 
 

SCHEDULE 2 

Requirements under the Act and Regulation (clause 2) 

The below table summarises how this document complies with the Act and Regulation. 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 
REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

1.  Planning instrument and/or 
development application 
(section 7.4(1) of the Act) 

The Developer has: 

(a) sought a change 
to an 
environmental 
planning 
instrument; 

(b) made, or 
proposes to 
make, a 
Development 
Application; or 

(c) entered into an 
agreement with, 
or is otherwise 
associated with, a 
person, to whom 
paragraph (a) or 
(b) applies. 

 
 

 

(a) Yes 

 

(b) No 

 

(c) Yes 

2.  Description of land to which 
this document applies (section 
7.4(3)(a) of the Act) 

Item 1 of Schedule 1. 

3.  Description of change to the 
environmental planning 
instrument to which this 
document applies and/or the 
development to which this 
document applies (section 
7.4(3)(b) of the Act) 

The Development as described in clause 2.1. 

79



 

 23  
 
 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 
REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

4.  The nature and extent of the 
provision to be made by the 
developer under this 
document, the time or times by 
which the provision is to be 
made and the manner in which 
the provision is to be made 
(section 7.4(3)(c) of the Act) 

Schedule 3 and Annexure A, B and C. 

5.  Whether this document 
excludes (wholly or in part) of 
does not exclude the 
application of section 7.11, 
7.12 or 7.24 to the 
development (section 7.4(3)(d) 
of the Act) 

Section 7.11 not excluded 

Section 7.12 not excluded  

Section 7.24 not excluded  

6.  Applicability of section 7.11 of 
the Act (section 7.4(3)(e) of the 
Act) 

The application of section 7.11 of the Act is not 
excluded in respect of the Development and 
contributions (if any) under section 7.11 will be 
required to be paid. 

 

7.  Consideration of benefits under 
this document if section 7.11 
applies (section 7.4(3)(e) of the 
Act) 

 Benefits are not to be taken into consideration 
in determining a development contribution 
under section 7.11 of the Act. 

8.  Mechanism for Dispute 
Resolution (section 7.4(3)(f) of 
the Act) 

Clause 11 

9.  Enforcement of this document 
(section 7.4(3)(g) of the Act) 

Clause 10 

10.  No obligation to grant consent 
or exercise functions (section 
7.4(9) of the Act) 

Clause 2.4 

80



 

 24  
 
 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 
REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

11.  Registration of this document 
(section 7.6 of the Act) 

Clause 9 

12.  Whether certain requirements 
of this document must be 
complied with before a 
construction certificate is 
issued (clause 25E(2)(g) of the 
Regulation) 

Payment of monetary contributions for 
infrastructure and affordable housing 

13.  Whether certain requirements 
of this document must be 
complied with before a 
subdivision certificate is issued 
(clause 25E(2)(g) of the 
Regulation) 

Nil 

14.  Whether certain requirements 
of this document must be 
complied with before an 
occupation certificate is issued 
(clause 25E(2)(g) of the 
Regulation) 

Nil 

15.  Whether the explanatory note 
that accompanied exhibition of 
this document may be used to 
assist in construing this 
document (clause 25E(7) of the 
Regulation) 

Clause 2.5 

 

  

81



 

 25  
 
 

SCHEDULE 3 

Public Benefits (clause 5) 

1. PUBLIC BENEFITS - OVERVIEW 

The Developer must provide the Public Benefits in accordance with Schedule 3 and 
this document.  The Attributed Value, timing of delivery and additional 
specifications relating to the Public Benefits is set out in the table below 

Item Public 
Benefit 

Attributed Value Due date Additional 
specification

s 

1. Monetary 
Contribution 
– Affordable 
Housing 

Monetary Contribution 
rate per square metre of 
Total floor area (as 
indexed in accordance 
with Annexure A) 

On or before the 
issuing of the first 
Construction 
Certificate for the 
Development 

see clause 2, 
Annexure A. 

2 Monetary 
Contribution 
– Central 
Sydney 
Infrastructur
e 

$1003 per square metre 
of strategic gross floor 
area (as indexed in 
accordance with 
Annexure B) 

On or before the 
issuing of the first 
Construction 
Certificate for the 
Development 

see clause 2, 
Annexure B. 

3(a) Environment
al Excellence 
Initiatives – 
Commercial/
Office 
Component 

NIL 

•  

After the 
Occupation 
Certificate is 
issued in 
accordance with 
the NABERS 
rating 
assessment 
process  

5 star NABERS 
Energy for the 
base building  

4 star NABERS 
Water  

3 (b). Environment
al Excellence 
Initiatives – 
Hotel 
Component 

NIL 

•  

After the 
Occupation 
Certificate is 
issued in 
accordance with 
the NABERS 
rating 
assessment 
process  

4.5 star 
NABERS 
Energy for the 
whole 
component 

 

3. Transfer 
Land 

Nil Nil Nil 

82



 

 26  
 
 

4. Developer’s 
Works 

Nil Nil Nil 

 

2. PAYMENT OF MONETARY CONTRIBUTION 

2.1 Payment 

The Developer must pay the Monetary Contribution to the City by the due date 
specified in Item 1 and 2, clause 1 of Schedule 3 in cash or by unendorsed bank 
cheque. 

2.2 Indexation 

Monetary Contribution is to be paid to the City by the due date specified in Item 1 
and 2, clause 1 of Schedule 3, and at the date of payment the Monetary 
Contribution must be indexed as provided for under Annexures A and B 
respectively. 

If after the formula is applied the Monetary Contribution will be less than the 
amount stated in item 1 of clause 1 above, the Monetary Contribution will not be 
adjusted. 

2.3 No trust 

Nothing in this document creates any form of trust arrangement or fiduciary duty 
between the City and the Developer.  Following receipt of the Monetary 
Contribution, the City is not required to separately account for the Monetary 
Contribution, report to the Developer regarding expenditure of the Monetary 
Contribution or comply with any request by the Developer to trace the Monetary 
Contribution. 

2.4 Expenditure by the City 

The City will use and allocate the: 

(a) Monetary Contribution – Affordable Housing payment to achieve the public 
benefit objectives under the City’s affordable housing program; and 

(b) Monetary Contribution – Central Sydney Infrastructure to contribute to 
construction of infrastructure in the City North Public Domain Plan December 
2015 

3. NOT USED 

4. ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE COMMITMENT 

4.1 Environmental Excellence Commitment 

(a) Within 12 months of the date of this document (or a later time approved by 
the City in writing) but prior to the issue of the first Construction Certificate 
for the Development, the Developer must submit to the City’s 
Representative:  

83



 

 27  
 
 

(i) the signed Commitment Agreement; 

(ii) a hydraulic engineer report demonstrating water efficiency and how 
the proposed building is likely to achieve a 4 star NABERS water rating 
for the commercial component; and 

(iii) the executive summary of the Energy Efficient Review prepared by a 
NABERS certified Independent Design Reviewer; 

together being the “Environmental Excellence Commitment”. 

(b) If the Developer fails to provide an Environmental Excellence Commitment 
that will achieve the required NABERS ratings contained in Clause 1 of 
Schedule 3 then the Developer will meet with the City to agree on alternative 
measures it will put in place in order to achieve a sustainable Commercial 
development. 

 

5. GUIDELINES 

The following list of Guidelines are included for information purposes only for the 
general nature of the work identified as Environmental Excellence Initiatives in this 
document.  The City makes no representation or warranty as to the currency and 
completeness of the guidelines identified, or their application on the final design 
of the Environmental Excellence Initiatives.  The Developer must make its own 
enquiries regarding whether any guideline has been replaced or supplemented.   

• Factsheet 4: Preparing for NABERS office rating applications prepared by 
NSW Office of Environment and Heritage, published August 2011 

• Factsheet 5: Preparing for NABERS hotel rating prepared by NSW Office of 
Environment and Heritage, published September 2014 

• Factsheet 7: The NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement prepared by NSW 
Office of Environment and Heritage, published July 2014; 

• Guidelines for the use of simulation in Commitment Agreements prepared 
by NSW Office of Environment and Heritage, version 2011-June 

• NABERS Guide to Building Energy Estimation, prepared by NSW Office of 
Environment and Heritage, published June 2011 

• NABERS Guide to Tenancy Energy Estimation, prepared by NSW Office of 
Environment and Heritage, published June 2011 

• Rules for collecting and using data (formerly titled Validation Protocol) 
version 3.0, February 2013, prepared by NSW Office of Environment and 
Heritage. 

• City of Sydney Sustainable Design Technical Guideline 

 

84



 

 28  
 
 

EXECUTED as a deed. 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered for     
THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SYDNEY by its duly authorised 
officer, in the presence of: 

  

  Signature of officer 

   
Signature of witness  Name of officer 

   
Name 
 
456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000 

 Position of officer 

Address of witness   
 

 

EXECUTED by One Investment 
Management Pty Limited ABN 14 
139 693 271 in accordance with 
s127(1) of the Corporations Act 2001 
(Cth): 

 

  

   

Signature of director  Signature of director/secretary 

   

Name  Name 

85



 

 29  
 
 

ANNEXURE A 

– Affordable Housing Contribution 

1. BASE MONETARY CONTRIBUTION  

The base monetary contribution for Affordable Housing is as follows:  

BASE MONETARY CONTRIBUTION (TO BE PROVIDED) = MONETARY 
CONTRIBUTION RATE X TOTAL FLOOR AREA 

WHERE: 

Monetary contribution rate is: 

(a) $48.71 per square metre, if a development application is lodged between 1 
June 2018 and 31 May 2020; or 

(b) $97.41 per square metre, if a development application is lodged on or after 
1 June 2020. 

Total floor area means the total of the areas of each floor of a building within the 
outer face of the external enclosing walls and including balconies, but excluding 
the following: 

(a)columns, fins, sun control devices, awnings and other elements, projections or 
works outside the general lines of the outer face of the external walls, 

(b)any area of a balcony that is more than the minimum area required by the 
consent authority in respect of the balcony, 

(c)the maximum ancillary car parking permitted by the consent authority and any 
associated internal vehicular and pedestrian access to that car parking, 

(d)space for the loading and unloading of goods. 

 

2. INDEXATION OF RATES 

Adjustments are to be made to the monetary contribution rates in Annexure A 
Clause 2 to account for movements in the cost of housing over time on a quarterly 
basis, within one week of the first days of March, June, September and December 
each year. 

Rates are adjusted with reference to movements in the median price for strata 
dwellings in the City of Sydney LGA. The median strata dwelling price is published 
quarterly in the NSW Government Rent and Sales Report, Table: Sales Price – 
Greater Metropolitan Region – Strata. 

The formula for adjusting the contribution amount is: 

Monetary Contribution = Base Contribution Amount x (MDP2/MDP1) 

Where: 

86



 

 30  
 
 

The Base Contribution Amount is the amount calculated in accordance with 
Annexure A Clause 1, based on the contribution rates applicable at the time of 
lodgement of the DA. 

MDP1 is the median strata dwelling price applied on the date this agreement 
commenced in accordance with clause 3.1 of this document  

MDP2 is the median strata dwelling price that applies at the time of payment of 
the Monetary Contribution. 

Monetary contributions are adjusted and to be confirmed with the City prior to 
payment being made. 

If after the formula is applied the Monetary Contribution will be less than the 
amount calculated in accordance with Annexure A Clause 2, the Monetary 
Contribution will not be adjusted.  

3. PAYMENT 

Payment will be by unendorsed bank cheque to the City prior to issue of any 
construction certificate. In circumstances where no construction certificate is 
required, payment is required prior to commencement of use/occupation. 

4. CREDIT  

For the removal of doubt, a monetary contribution made under this Annexure A 
may be considered to be a credit towards any future requirements for monetary 
contribution relating to affordable housing under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012.  

In the event the monetary contribution required under a Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 is less than the amount calculated in accordance with 
Annexure A, the full contribution amount as calculated under Annexure A will still 
be required. 

 

 

  

87



 

 31  
 
 

ANNEXURE B 

Infrastructure Contribution 

1. MONETARY CONTRIBUTION RATE  

The monetary contribution rate for infrastructure is $1003 per square metre of 
strategic gross floor area. 

Strategic gross floor area is the additional floor space granted under Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 being the difference between the maximum floor 
space of 20:1 and the following: 

(a) Mapped FSR of 8:1; 

(b) Any type of additional floor space under Clause 6.4 to 6.9 of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. 

2. INDEXATION OF RATES 

Adjustments are to be made to the monetary contribution rates in Annexure B 
Clause 1 as follows: 

Monetary Contribution (to be provided) = Monetary Contribution (as per 
Annexure B Clause 1) x (A/B) 

Where: 

A is the Index Number most recently published before the date the Monetary 
Contribution is to be paid 

B is the Index Number most recently published before the date this agreement 
commenced in accordance with clause 3.1 of this document 

3. PAYMENT 

Payment will be by unendorsed bank cheque to the City prior to issue of any construction 
certificate. In circumstances where no construction certificate is required, payment is 
required prior to commencement of construction works for the Development. 

  

88



 

 32  
 
 

 
ANNEXURE C 

Sustainability Measures 

 
 

1. ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE INITIATIVES 

The Developer must complete the Environmental Excellence Initiatives by the due 
date specified in Item 3 (a) and (b), clause 1 of Schedule 3. 

2. COMMERCIAL COMPONENT 

(a) For the commercial component of the Development, the Developer commits 
to: 

(i) the achievement of a 5 star Base Building NABERS Energy rating; and 

(ii) a 4 star NABERS water rating. 

(b) The Developer will keep the City informed of its progress in relation to the 
achievement of its commitments under clause 7.3 (a) at regular intervals. 

(c) The Developer must provide the City with a copy of the signed Commitment 
Agreement issued for the Development prior to the commencement of the 
Development. 

3. HOTEL COMPONENT  

(a) For the hotel component of the Development, the Developer commits to the 
achievement of a 4.5 star NABERS energy rating. 

(b) The Developer must provide the City with a copy of the signed Commitment 
Agreement issued for the Development prior to the commencement of the 
Development. 

 

 

89


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Confirmation of Minutes
	3 Matters Arising from the Minutes
	4 Development Application: 378-394 George Street, Sydney
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
	(2) STAGING OF CONSTRUCTION WORKS
	Approval is granted for the Construction Certificates to be issued in stages as follows:
	(a) Stage 1: Internal building works for lobby of existing tower and end of journey facilities
	(b) Stage 2: Refurbishment of existing podium and construction of new podium building
	(c) Stage 3: Construction of podium rooftop tenancy.
	The conditions of consent are to be satisfied prior to the issue of the relevant construction certificate noted in each condition. Where a stage is not nominated, the condition is to be satisfied prior to a construction certificate being issued for St...

	(3) ALLOCATION OF PARKING
	(4) PARKING DESIGN
	(5) BICYCLE PARKING AND END OF TRIP FACILITIES
	(i) If a basement storage area on title that is large enough to store a bike and is no smaller than a class 1 bike locker this can be counted as a space.
	(ii) 4 visitor bicycle parking spaces will be on the ground floor
	(b) The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with the minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS 2890.3 Parking Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities. The details must be submitted to and approved by the Principal ...

	(6) SMALL CAR PARKING SPACES AND DIMENSIONS
	(a) The design and layout of all off-street small car parking spaces must comply with the minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 - 2004 Parking facilities Part 1: Off-street car parking and Council’s Development Control Plan.  The d...
	(b) All small car spaces must be clearly marked and identifiable as small car spaces. The signs or line markings must be in place and approved by the Principal Certifying Authority prior to the  Occupation Certificate being issued for the relevant sta...

	(7) INTERCOM FOR VISITORS
	(8) ON SITE LOADING AREAS AND OPERATION
	(9) SECURITY GATES
	(10) SERVICE VEHICLE SIZE LIMIT
	(11) TRAFFIC WORKS
	(12) VEHICLE FOOTWAY CROSSING
	(13) SECTION 61 CONTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE - REGISTERED QUANTITY SURVEYOR'S DETAILED COST REPORT - SUBMITTED AND VERIFIED PRIOR TO ISSUE OF CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE
	(14) RESTRICTION OF CAR PARKING REDUCTION / END OF JOURNEY – CENTRAL SYDNEY
	(15) BUILDING HEIGHT OF PODIUM BUILDING
	(16) FLOOR SPACE RATIO - CENTRAL SYDNEY
	(17) COMPLIANCE WITH SUBMITTED MATERIALS AND SAMPLES BOARD
	(18) USE - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED
	(19) REFLECTIVITY
	(20) SIGNS - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED
	(21) NOISE – COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Noise from commercial plant and industrial development must not exceed a project amenity/intrusiveness noise level or maximum noise level in accordance with relevant requirements of the NSW EPA Noise Policy for Industry 2017 (NPfI) unless agreed t...
	(i) Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance with the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfI unless otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager.
	(ii) Commercial plant is limited to heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and energy generation equipment.

	(b) An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not exceed the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when assessed inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise sensitive commercial premises at ...
	(i) The noise level and the background noise level shall both be measured with all external doors and windows of the affected residence closed.
	(ii) Background noise measurements must not include noise from the development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at the affected premise.

	(c) Corrections in Fact Sheet C of the NPfI are applicable to relevant noise from the development measured in accordance with this condition, however duration corrections are excluded from commercial noise.

	(22) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES
	(23) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN
	(24) USE OF INTRUSIVE APPLIANCES – NOT APPROVED
	(25) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN
	(26) CONSTRUCTION PEDESTRIAN AND TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN
	(a) The applicant shall prepare a Construction Pedestrian and Traffic Management Plan (CPTMP), in consultation with the Sydney Coordination Office and Sydney Light Trail Team within TfNSW. The applicant shall submit a copy of the final plan to the Coo...
	(i) Location of the proposed work zone
	(ii) Haulage routes
	(iii) Construction vehicle access arrangements
	(iv) Proposed construction hours
	(v) Estimated number of construction vehicle movements
	(vi) Construction program
	(vii) Consultation strategy for liaison with surrounding stakeholders
	(viii) Any potential impacts to general traffic, cyclists, pedestrians and bus services within the vicinity of the site from construction vehicles during construction of the proposed works
	(ix) Cumulative construction impacts of projects including Sydney light rail project and several surrounding private developments. Existing CPTMPs for developments within or around the development site should be referenced in the CPTMP to ensure that ...
	(x) Should any impacts be identified, the duration of the impacts and measures proposed to mitigate any associated general traffic, public transport, pedestrian and cyclist impacts should be clearly identified and included in the CPTMP.

	(b) The applicant shall provide the builder’s direct contact number to small businesses adjoining or impacted by the construction work and the Transport Management Centre and Sydney Coordination Office within Transport for NSW to resolve issues relati...

	(27) ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY STATEMENT FORM
	(28) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR DESIGN – BCA (ALL BUILDING CLASSES)
	(29) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR EXISTING BUILDING – ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS
	(30) PHYSICAL MODELS
	(31) SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC CAD MODELS PRIOR TO OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE
	(32) DILAPIDATION REPORT – MINOR
	(33) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - BETWEEN 250 AND 2,500SQM
	(34) ROAD OPENING PERMIT
	(35) EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS
	(a) Prior to the issue of a final Occupation Certificate for the development, a documentary Easement for Public Access, limited in stratum if so desired, is to be created and registered on the Title of the development site. The Easement is to be defin...
	(b) Prior to the issue of a final Occupation Certificate for the development, a documentary Positive Covenant is to be created and registered on the Title of the development site, appurtenant to Council. The Positive Covenant is to be created in terms...

	(36) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT
	(37) PAVING MATERIALS
	(38) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN
	(39) PRESERVATION OF SURVEY MARKS
	(40) PROTECTION OF SURVEY INFRASTRUCTURE
	(41) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN
	(42) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS - HOLD POINTS AND HANDOVER
	(43) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT
	(44) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS
	(45) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS
	(46) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS
	(47) TACTILE GROUND SURFACE INDICATORS AND HANDRAILS
	(48) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for  excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding approved preparatory or demolition work a detailed drainage engineering design, calculat...
	(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show the proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and
	(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, as amended from time to time; and
	(iii) submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority.

	(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system an “Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" must be submitted to the City, together with an application fee in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted...
	(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding approved preparatory or demolition...
	(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage system require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with the City of Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive Covenant prior to a final Occupation Certificate being i...


	On-site Detention
	(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention of stormwater must be ascertained and complied with.
	(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design of the on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authorit...
	(ii) Prior to the issue of a final Occupation Certificate, , a Positive Covenant must be registered on the property title for all drainage systems involving On-Site Detention (OSD) to ensure maintenance of the approved OSD system regardless of the met...
	Stormwater Quality Assessment
	(d) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but excluding approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken an...

	A stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified drainage engineer to demonstrate how the development will be designed to ensure that the flow of post-development pollutants from the site due to stormwater will be reduced.  T...
	Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules of the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures must be submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority and a copy provided to the City of Syd...
	Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation
	(e) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney for stormwater drainage works:
	(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of Sydney technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval letters and the requirements of this consent.
	(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage plans issued with the Constructi...
	(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television reports) and associated documentation for the completed work must be prepared and certified by a suitably qualif...

	(f) Prior to the issue of the first Occupation Certificate, including an Interim Occupation Certificate, or before the use commences (whichever is earlier):
	(i) A copy of the City’s Certificate of Completion for all stormwater and drainage work undertaken in the public domain must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority;
	(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, must be prepared, signed, dated and certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority. The Works-as-Executed plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approv...
	(iii) a Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be submitted to and be accepted by the Princip...
	(iv) evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority;

	(g) The Principal Certifying Authority must submit a copy of the Works-As-Executed plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet to the City of Sydney.
	(49) FLOOD PLANNING LEVELS
	(50) FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT
	(a) Details of the flood mitigation measures for the new EOT lift works shall be submitted to and shall be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate. A copy of the approved Certification report s...
	(b) Flood protection is required for all flood events up to and including the minimum flood planning levels as estimated by Enstruct Group Pty Ltd in their “Flood assessment report for 388 George Street, Sydney” (Ref: DA 2018/405 dated 21 August 2018).
	(c) Flood proofing is to be maintained for the life of the development. The design of the flood proofing is to be certified by a suitably qualified practitioner engineer with experience in flood proofing and is to be compatible with the design of the ...
	(d) All flood protection features requiring power to operate must have alternative backup power source;
	(e) All electrical features including power points and other mechanical equipment must be set above the FPL. This must be shown on the detailed plans prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate.
	(f) A design certification report prepared by a suitably qualified practitioner engineer demonstrating compliance has been achieved of these requirements above  shall be submitted to and shall be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority prior to...

	(51)  FLOOD EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN
	(a) A Flood Emergency Response Plan is to be prepared by a suitably qualified flood engineer and be implemented as a positive covenant on the title of the property (and annexed to the positive covenant). The Flood Emergency Response Plan is to be impl...
	(b) The Flood Emergency Response Plan must include all measures required to be implemented to ensure the ongoing management of flooding risk in relation to the building, including (but not limited to) the following:
	(i) Describe the flood conditions in the vicinity of the site;
	(ii) If appropriate, direct persons on the site to seek refuge above the Probable Maximum Flood level for all levels of the building that are flood affected.
	(iii) Include a map directing residents and visitors to a refuge via a flood free pathway within the building;
	(iv) Provide details (as an appendix) of all proposed flood sensors (if any), their purpose, operation and maintenance (including the frequency of maintenance);
	(v) Provide details of lift design and operation in the event of a flood and specify how the lift will be deactivated in the event of a flood;
	(vi) Provide details of access to flood free areas for disabled persons;
	(vii) Make provision for three monthly testing by the building owner and/or Owners Corporation.

	(c) The building owner and/or Owners’ Corporation must enter into a service arrangement by which all identified faults or defects to all flood designed features of the building must be repaired within 24 hours.
	(d) No toxic or other hazardous materials are to be stored below the Flood Planning Level or in the basement levels.
	(e) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, the Flood Emergency Response Plan (FERP) is to be submitted to and approved by Principal Certifying Authority (PCA). A copy of the approved FERP shall be submitted to the Council for record keepi...
	(f) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, the approved Flood Emergency Response Plan and positive covenant relating to the flooding gates shall be registered with the Land Title office.

	(52) FLOOD PROTECTION FEATURES
	Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate, the proposed Flood Protection System including all its features are to be tested by an independent floodplain management consultant, and a report confirming the full operation of the system is to be su...

	(53) POSITIVE COVENANT – FLOOD PROTECTION MEASURES
	Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development, a documentary Positive Covenant is to be created and registered on the Title of the development site, appurtenant to Council.
	The Positive Covenant is to be created in terms indemnifying Council against any claims and damages arising from the use of all flood protection measures installed in the building, and is to require the maintenance of a $20,000,000 public indemnity in...
	The positive covenant is to list all the flood protection measures installed in the  portions of the building subject to this consent and record the ongoing obligation of the owners of the building to comply with the Flood Emergency Response Plan requ...

	(54) APPLICATION FOR HOARDINGS AND SCAFFOLDING INSTALLED ON OR ABOVE A PUBLIC ROAD AND OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES INCLUDING BUILDING MAINTENANCE UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD
	(55) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE
	(56) STREET TREE PROTECTION
	(57) ELECTRICITY SUBSTATION
	(58) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN)
	(59) UTILITY SERVICES
	(60) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - COMMERCIAL
	(61) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR
	(62) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS
	(63) NOTIFICATION – NEW CONTAMINATION EVIDENCE
	(64) CONSTRUCTION AND FITOUT OF FOOD PREMISES
	(65) GREASE AND LIQUID WASTE TRAPS
	(66) NOTIFICATION OF CONDUCT OF FOOD BUSINESS
	(67) SANITARY FACILITIES – FOOD PREMISES
	(68) WASTE STORAGE AREA
	(69) FUTURE FOOD USE - MECHANICAL VENTILATION PROVISION
	(70) TRANSPORT ACCESS GUIDE
	(71) LOADING SERVICING MANAGEMENT PLAN
	(a) A Loading Servicing Management Plan is to be prepared and submitted to Council and approved, prior to issue of an Occupation Certificate.
	(b) The Plan is to be prepared for distribution to relevant tenants outlining how the loading dock will be managed and used by all relevant tenants, not just the retail tenancies, supermarket.
	(c) A management plan, loading dock manager, loading schedule or similar must be prepared so all users are aware of their entitlements and to avoid too many deliveries being at the dock at any one time. The Plan must include, but is not limited to, ma...
	(d) Once approved, this management plan is to be provided to all relevant tenants and external users of the loading area.

	(72) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED
	(73) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – CBD
	(74) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES
	(75) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY
	(76) SURVEY
	(77) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION
	(78) COVERING OF LOADS
	(79) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL
	(80) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION
	(81) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY
	(82) USE OF MOBILE CRANES
	(83) HAZARDOUS AND INDUSTRIAL WASTE


	Attachment B1 - Selected Drawings
	Attachment B2 - Selected Drawings
	Attachment C - Clause 4.6 Variation

	5 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment and Planning Agreement
	Attachment A - Summary of Submissions
	Attachment A Cover Sheet
	Submissions summary
	Sheet1


	Attachment B - Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney
	Attachment B Cover Sheet
	Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney - Gateway condition amendment
	Introduction
	Background

	On 11 January 2018, the Department issued a letter providing Council the opportunity to be the planning authority to prepare a planning proposal for Gateway determination. Council accepted this role in February 2018.
	In February 2018, the proponent formally lodged a planning proposal request with the City including some refinements and clarifications to the building envelope.
	Site Identification
	Location
	Land Ownership
	Site Characteristics

	Existing Planning Controls

	Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes
	Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions
	6.X Strategic floor space in Central Sydney 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney
	Schedule XX - Strategic height and floor space in Central Sydney
	6.21 Design Excellence
	6.3 Additional floor space in Central Sydney
	4.6 Exceptions to development standards

	Part 3 – Justification
	Section A – Need for the planning proposal
	Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?
	Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is there a better way?

	Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework
	Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable regional, sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental planning policies?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.117, now section 9.1, directions)?

	Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact
	Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?
	Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?
	Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects?

	Section D – State and Commonwealth interest
	Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?
	What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in the gateway determination?


	Part 4 – Mapping
	Part 5 – Community Consultation
	Part 6 – Project Timeline


	Attachment C - Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney
	Attachment C Cover Sheet
	Draft Sydney DCP 2012 -September 2018 Post Exhibition - 291018

	Attachment D - Planning Agreement - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney
	DRAFT Attachment D Planning Agreement - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney
	For Public Exhibiiton - Draft Planning Agreement VPA - 4-6 Bligh Street Sydney
	CONTENTS
	CLAUSE PAGE
	BETWEEN:
	BACKGROUND
	THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

	1. INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	1.2 Rules for interpreting this document
	(a) A reference to:
	(i) a legislative provision or legislation (including subordinate legislation) is to that provision or legislation as amended, re-enacted or replaced, and includes any subordinate legislation issued under it;
	(ii) a document (including this document) or agreement, or a provision of a document (including this document) or agreement, is to that document, agreement or provision as amended, supplemented, replaced or novated;
	(iii) a party to this document or to any other document or agreement includes a permitted substitute or a permitted assign of that party;
	(iv) a person includes any type of entity or body of persons, whether or not it is incorporated or has a separate legal identity, and any executor, administrator or successor in law of the person; and
	(v) anything (including a right, obligation or concept) includes each part of it.

	(b) A singular word includes the plural, and vice versa.
	(c) A word which suggests one gender includes the other genders.
	(d) If a word or phrase is defined, any other grammatical form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning.
	(e) If an example is given of anything (including a right, obligation or concept), such as by saying it includes something else, the example does not limit the scope of that thing.
	(f) A reference to including means “including, without limitation”.
	(g) A reference to dollars or $ is to an amount in Australian currency.
	(h) A reference to this document includes the agreement recorded by this document.
	(i) Words defined in the GST Act have the same meaning in clauses about GST.
	(j) This document is not to be interpreted against the interests of a party merely because that party proposed this document or some provision in it or because that party relies on a provision of this document to protect itself.


	2. APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION
	2.1 Application of this document
	(a) the Land; and
	(b) the Development.

	2.2 Public Benefits to be made by Developer
	(a) Public Benefits to be delivered by the Developer;
	(b) time or times by which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits; and
	(c) manner in which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits.

	2.3 Application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act
	(a) The application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act are excluded to the extent set out in Items 5 and 6 of Schedule 2 to this document.
	(b) For the avoidance of doubt, if the City imposes a condition of consent on a Development Consent for the Development under section 61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988 (NSW) requiring payment of a contribution in accordance with that Act, no further c...

	2.4 City rights
	This document does not impose an obligation on the City to:
	(a) grant Development Consent for the Development; or
	(b) exercise any function under the Act in relation to a change to an environmental planning instrument, including the making or revocation of an environmental planning instrument.

	2.5 Explanatory note

	3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT
	3.1 Commencement
	This document will commence on the date of execution of this document by all parties to this document.


	4. WARRANTIES
	4.1 Mutual warranties
	(a) (power) it has full legal capacity and power to enter into this document and to carry out the transactions that it contemplates;
	(b) (corporate authority) it has taken all corporate action that is necessary or desirable to authorise its entry into this document and to carry out the transactions contemplated;
	(c) (Authorisations) it holds each Authorisation that is necessary or desirable to:
	(i) enable it to properly execute this document and to carry out the transactions that it contemplates;
	(ii) ensure that this document is legal, valid, binding and admissible in evidence; or
	(iii) enable it to properly carry on its business as it is now being conducted,

	(d) (documents effective) this document constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms (except to the extent limited by equitable principles and laws affecting creditors' rights generally), su...
	(e) (solvency) there are no reasonable grounds to suspect that it will not be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
	(f) (no controller) no controller is currently appointed in relation to any of its property, or any property of any of its subsidiaries.

	4.2 Developer warranties
	(a) The Developer warrants to the City that, at the date of this document:
	(i) it is the registered proprietor of the Land;
	(ii) it is legally entitled to obtain all consents and approvals that are required by this document and do all things necessary to give effect to this document;
	(iii) all work performed by the Developer and the Personnel under this document will be performed with due care and skill and to a standard which is equal to or better than that which a well experienced person in the industry would expect to be provid...
	(iv) it is not aware of any matter which may materially affect the Developer’s ability to perform its obligations under this document.

	(b) The Developer warrants to the City that, prior to commencing delivery of the Public Benefits it will have obtained all Authorisations and insurances required under any Law to carry out its obligations under this document.


	5. Public Benefits
	5.1 Developer to provide Public Benefits

	6. Completion OF ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE INITIATIVES
	6.1 Date of Completion
	6.2 Developer completion notice
	(a) a copy of:
	(i) the executive summary of the Energy Efficient Review prepared by a NABERS certified Independent Design Reviewer in accordance with the NABERS requirements; and
	(ii) 12 months of sub-metering data for energy and water that informed the NABERS rating
	(b) evidence that the NABERS rating for Energy and Water has been achieved,
	(Completion Notice).  For the avoidance of doubt, the Developer can issue separate Completion Notices at separate times for different elements of the Environmental Excellence Initiatives, however the Developer must ensure that Completion is achieved f...

	6.3 Non-completion of Public Benefits
	If the Environmental Excellence Initiatives have not reached Completion on or before the date or milestone referred to in clause 1 of Schedule 3 of this document:
	(a)  the Developer must make a request by notice in writing to meet with the City to agree what alternative measures it will put in place in order to achieve a sustainable commercial development; or
	(b) If alternative measures have been previously agreed, the City may permit the Developer not to achieve the Environmental Excellence Initiatives as set out in this document by issuing a notice in writing to the Developer stating that completion of t...


	7. Indemnity
	8. DEFECTS LIABILITY
	9. REGISTRATION AND CAVEAT
	9.1 Registration of this document
	(a) The Developer:
	(i) consents to the registration of this document at the Land and Property Information on the certificate of title to the Land;
	(ii) warrants that it has obtained all consents to the registration of this document on the certificate of title to the Land; and
	(iii) must within 10 Business Days of a written request from the City do all things necessary to allow the City to register this document on the certificate of title to the Land, including but not limited to:
	(A) producing any documents or letters of consent required by the Registrar-General of the Land and Property Information;
	(B) providing the production slip number when the Developer produces the certificate of title to the Land at the Land and Property Information; and
	(C) providing the City with a cheque for registration fees payable in relation to registration of this document at the Land and Property Information.

	(iv) The Developer must act promptly in complying with and assisting to respond to any requisitions raised by the Land and Property Information that relate to registration of this document.


	9.2 Caveat
	(a) The City may, at any time after the date of this document, register a caveat over the Land preventing any dealing with the Land that is inconsistent with this document.  Provided that the City complies with this clause 9.2, the Developer must not ...
	(b) In exercising its rights under this clause 9.2 the City must do all things reasonably required to:
	(i) remove the caveat from the Land once this document has been registered on the certificate of title to the Land; and
	(ii) consent to the registration of:
	(A) this document; and
	(B) any plan of consolidation, plan of subdivision or other dealing required by this document or the Development Consent.



	9.3 Release of this document

	10. not Used
	11. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	11.1 Application
	11.2 Negotiation
	(a) If any Dispute arises, a party to the Dispute (Referring Party) may by giving notice to the other party or parties to the Dispute (Dispute Notice) refer the Dispute to the Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative for resolution.  T...
	(i) be in writing;
	(ii) state that it is given pursuant to this clause 11; and
	(iii) include or be accompanied by reasonable particulars of the Dispute including:
	(A) a brief description of the circumstances in which the Dispute arose;
	(B) references to any:
	(aa) provisions of this document; and
	(bb) acts or omissions of any person,

	(C) where applicable, the amount in dispute (whether monetary or any other commodity) and if not precisely known, the best estimate available.


	(b) Within 10 Business Days of the Referring Party issuing the Dispute Notice (Resolution Period), the Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative must meet at least once to attempt to resolve the Dispute.
	(c) The Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative may meet more than once to resolve a Dispute.  The Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative may meet in person, via telephone, videoconference, internet-based instant mes...

	11.3 Not use information
	11.4 Condition precedent to litigation
	(a) a Dispute Notice has been given; and
	(b) the Resolution Period has expired.

	11.5 Summary or urgent relief
	12. taxes and GST
	12.1 Responsibility for Taxes
	(a) The Developer is responsible for any and all Taxes and other like liabilities which may arise under any Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation (as amended from time to time) as a result of or in connection with this document or the Public Be...
	(b) The Developer must indemnify the City in relation to any claims, liabilities and costs (including penalties and interest) arising as a result of any Tax or other like liability for which the Developer is responsible under clause 12.1(a).

	12.2 GST free supply
	(a) no additional amount will be payable by a party on account of GST; and
	(b) no tax invoices will be exchanged between the parties.

	12.3 Supply subject to GST
	(a) If one party (Supplying Party) makes a taxable supply and the consideration for that supply does not expressly include GST, the party that is liable to provide the consideration (Receiving Party) must also pay an amount (GST Amount) equal to the G...
	(b) Subject to first receiving a tax invoice or adjustment note as appropriate, the receiving party must pay the GST amount when it is liable to provide the consideration.
	(c) If one party must indemnify or reimburse another party (Payee) for any loss or expense incurred by the Payee, the required payment does not include any amount which the Payee (or an entity that is in the same GST group as the Payee) is entitled to...
	(d) If an adjustment event arises in respect of a taxable supply made by a Supplying Party, the GST Amount payable by the Receiving Party under clause 12.3(a) will be recalculated to reflect the adjustment event and a payment will be made by the Recei...
	(e) The Developer will assume the City is not entitled to any input tax credit when calculating any amounts payable under this clause 12.3.
	(f) In this document:
	(i) consideration includes non-monetary consideration, in respect of which the parties must agree on a market value, acting reasonably; and
	(ii) in addition to the meaning given in the GST Act, the term "GST" includes a notional liability for GST.



	13. DEALINGS
	13.1 Dealing by the City
	(a) The City may Deal with its interest in this document without the consent of the Developer if the Dealing is with a Government Agency.  The City must give the Developer notice of the Dealing within five Business Days of the date of the Dealing.
	(b) The City may not otherwise Deal with its interest in this document without the consent of the Developer, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

	13.2 Dealing by the Developer
	(a) Prior to registration of this document in accordance with clause 9, the Developer must not Deal with this document or the Land without:
	(i) the prior written consent of the City; and
	(ii) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the Dealing entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms acceptable to the City.

	(b) On and from registration of this document in accordance with clause 9:
	(i) the Developer may Deal with this document without the consent of the City only as a result of the sale of the whole of the Land (without subdivision) to a purchaser of the Land;
	(ii) the Developer may register a plan of strata subdivision, and the City consents to this document remaining registered only on the certificate of title to the common property of the strata plan upon registration of the strata plan; and
	(iii) the Developer must not otherwise Deal with this document to a third party that is not a purchaser of the whole or any part of the Land without:
	(A) the prior written consent of the City; and
	(B) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the Dealing entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms acceptable to the City.


	(c) The Developer must pay the City’s costs and expenses relating to any consent or documentation required due to the operation of this clause 13.2.


	14. TERMINATION
	(a) The City may terminate this document by notice in writing to the Developer if the Development Consent lapses or is surrendered by the Developer.
	(b) If the City terminates this document then:
	(i) the rights of each party that arose before the termination or which may arise at any future time for any breach or non-observance of obligations occurring prior to the termination are not affected;
	(ii) the Developer must take all steps reasonably necessary to minimise any loss the each party may suffer as a result of the termination of this document; and
	(iii) the City will, at the Developer’s cost, do all things reasonably required to remove this document from the certificate of title to the Land.


	15. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES
	15.1 Use and disclosure of Confidential Information
	(a) use any of the Confidential Information except to the extent necessary to exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this document; or
	(b) disclose any of the Confidential Information except in accordance with clauses 15.2 or 15.3.

	15.2 Disclosures to personnel and advisers
	(a) The receiving party may disclose Confidential Information to an officer, employee, agent, contractor, or legal, financial or other professional adviser if:
	(i) the disclosure is necessary to enable the receiving party to perform its obligations or to exercise its rights under this document; and
	(ii) prior to disclosure, the receiving party informs the person of the receiving party's obligations in relation to the Confidential Information under this document and obtains an undertaking from the person to comply with those obligations.

	(b) The receiving party:
	(i) must ensure that any person to whom Confidential Information is disclosed under clause 15.2(a) keeps the Confidential Information confidential and does not use it for any purpose other than as permitted under clause 15.2(a); and
	(ii) is liable for the actions of any officer, employee, agent, contractor or legal, financial or other professional adviser that causes a breach of the obligations set out in clause 15.2(b)(i).

	15.3 Disclosures required by law
	(a) Subject to clause 15.3(b), the receiving party may disclose Confidential Information that the receiving party is required to disclose:
	(i) by law or by order of any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction; or
	(ii) by any Government Agency, stock exchange or other regulatory body.

	(b) If the receiving party is required to make a disclosure under clause 15.3(a), the receiving party must:
	(i) to the extent possible, notify the disclosing party immediately it anticipates that it may be required to disclose any of the Confidential Information;
	(ii) consult with and follow any reasonable directions from the disclosing party to minimise disclosure; and
	(iii) if disclosure cannot be avoided:
	(A) only disclose Confidential Information to the extent necessary to comply; and
	(B) use reasonable efforts to ensure that any Confidential Information disclosed is kept confidential.




	15.4 Receiving party's return or destruction of documents
	(a) deliver to the disclosing party all documents and other materials containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information; and
	(b) erase or destroy in another way all electronic and other intangible records containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information,
	15.5 Security and control
	(a) keep effective control of the Confidential Information; and
	(b) ensure that the Confidential Information is kept secure from theft, loss, damage or unauthorised access or alteration.


	15.6 Media releases
	16. NOTICES
	(a) A notice, consent or other communication under this document is only effective if it is in writing, signed and either left at the addressee's address or sent to the addressee by mail or fax. If it is sent by mail, it is taken to have been received...
	(b) A person's address and fax number are those set out in Schedule 1 for the City’s Representative and the Developer’s Representative, or as the person notifies the sender in writing from time to time.


	17. GENERAL
	17.1 Governing law
	(a) This document is governed by the laws of New South Wales.
	(b) Each party submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts exercising jurisdiction in New South Wales, and any court that may hear appeals from any of those courts, for any proceedings in connection with this document, and waives any right it ...

	17.2 Access to information
	(a) information that relates directly to the delivery of the Public Benefits by the Developer;
	(b) information collected by the Developer from members of the public to whom the Developer provides, or offers to provide, services on behalf of the City; and
	(c) information received by the Developer from the City to enable the Developer to deliver the Public Benefits.

	17.3 Liability for expenses
	(a) The Developer must pay its own and the City’s expenses incurred in negotiating, executing, registering, releasing, administering and enforcing this document.
	(b) The Developer must pay for all reasonable costs and expenses associated with the preparation and giving of public notice of this document and the explanatory note prepared in accordance with the Regulations and for any consent the City is required...

	17.4 Relationship of parties
	(a) Nothing in this document creates a joint venture, partnership, or the relationship of principal and agent, or employee and employer between the parties; and
	(b) No party has the authority to bind any other party by any representation, declaration or admission, or to make any contract or commitment on behalf of any other party or to pledge any other party’s credit.

	17.5 Giving effect to this document
	17.6 Time for doing acts
	(a) If:
	(i) the time for doing any act or thing required to be done; or
	(ii) a notice period specified in this document,

	(b) If any act or thing required to be done is done after 5pm on the specified day, it is taken to have been done on the following Business Day.
	17.7 Severance

	17.8 Preservation of existing rights
	17.9 No merger
	17.10 Waiver of rights
	(a) no other conduct of a party (including a failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, the right) operates as a waiver of the right or otherwise prevents the exercise of the right;
	(b) a waiver of a right on one or more occasions does not operate as a waiver of that right if it arises again; and
	(c) the exercise of a right does not prevent any further exercise of that right or of any other right.

	17.11 Operation of this document
	(a) This document contains the entire agreement between the parties about its subject matter.  Any previous understanding, agreement, representation or warranty relating to that subject matter is replaced by this document and has no further effect.
	(b) Any right that a person may have under this document is in addition to, and does not replace or limit, any other right that the person may have.
	(c) Any provision of this document which is unenforceable or partly unenforceable is, where possible, to be severed to the extent necessary to make this document enforceable, unless this would materially change the intended effect of this document.

	17.12 Operation of indemnities
	(a) Each indemnity in this document survives the expiry or termination of this document.
	(b) A party may recover a payment under an indemnity in this document before it makes the payment in respect of which the indemnity is given.

	17.13 Inconsistency with other documents
	(a) this document;
	(b) any Schedule to this document; and
	(c) the provisions of any other document of the Developer,

	17.14 No fetter
	17.15 Counterparts

	Schedule 1
	Agreement Details

	Schedule 2
	Requirements under the Act and Regulation (clause 2)

	Schedule 3
	Public Benefits (clause 5)

	1. Public benefits - overview
	2. Payment of monetary contribution
	2.1 Payment
	2.2 Indexation
	2.3 No trust
	(a) Monetary Contribution – Affordable Housing payment to achieve the public benefit objectives under the City’s affordable housing program; and
	(b) Monetary Contribution – Central Sydney Infrastructure to contribute to construction of infrastructure in the City North Public Domain Plan December 2015


	3. Not used
	4. ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE COMMITMENT
	4.1 Environmental Excellence Commitment
	(a) Within 12 months of the date of this document (or a later time approved by the City in writing) but prior to the issue of the first Construction Certificate for the Development, the Developer must submit to the City’s Representative:
	(i) the signed Commitment Agreement;
	(ii) a hydraulic engineer report demonstrating water efficiency and how the proposed building is likely to achieve a 4 star NABERS water rating for the commercial component; and
	(iii) the executive summary of the Energy Efficient Review prepared by a NABERS certified Independent Design Reviewer;
	(b) If the Developer fails to provide an Environmental Excellence Commitment that will achieve the required NABERS ratings contained in Clause 1 of Schedule 3 then the Developer will meet with the City to agree on alternative measures it will put in p...



	5. GUIDELINES
	Annexure A
	– Affordable Housing Contribution
	1. BASE Monetary contribution

	Base Monetary Contribution (to be provided) = Monetary Contribution RATE x Total floor area
	Where:
	(a) $48.71 per square metre, if a development application is lodged between 1 June 2018 and 31 May 2020; or
	(b) $97.41 per square metre, if a development application is lodged on or after 1 June 2020.
	2. INDEXATION OF RATES
	3. Payment
	4. CREDIT

	Annexure B
	Infrastructure Contribution
	1. Monetary contribution rate
	(a) Mapped FSR of 8:1;
	(b) Any type of additional floor space under Clause 6.4 to 6.9 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.

	2. INDEXATION OF RATES
	3. Payment

	Annexure C
	1. Environmental Excellence Initiatives
	2. Commercial Component
	(a) For the commercial component of the Development, the Developer commits to:
	(i) the achievement of a 5 star Base Building NABERS Energy rating; and
	(ii) a 4 star NABERS water rating.

	(b) The Developer will keep the City informed of its progress in relation to the achievement of its commitments under clause 7.3 (a) at regular intervals.
	(c) The Developer must provide the City with a copy of the signed Commitment Agreement issued for the Development prior to the commencement of the Development.

	3. Hotel Component
	(a) For the hotel component of the Development, the Developer commits to the achievement of a 4.5 star NABERS energy rating.
	(b) The Developer must provide the City with a copy of the signed Commitment Agreement issued for the Development prior to the commencement of the Development.





